
 

Wormwood Scrubs 
Charitable Trust Committee 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 6 October 2020 at 6.30 pm 
This meeting is being held remotely: youtu.be/RL3MtxUvLKo 

 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Councillors 

Councillor Alexandra Sanderson (Chair) 
Councillor Helen Rowbottom 
Councillor Belinda Donovan 
 

Co-optees 

Miriam Shea  
Stephen Waley-Cohen 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Amrita Gill 

Clerk 
 : 07776 672845 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
 
The agenda is available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 
Members of the press and public can watch the meeting on YouTube: 
youtu.be/RL3MtxUvLKo 
 

 

Date Issued: 
Date Updated: 

25 September 2020 
01 October 2020 

https://youtu.be/RL3MtxUvLKo
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees
https://youtu.be/RL3MtxUvLKo


Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Committee 
Agenda - 6 October 2020 

 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

2.   ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 At the start of the meeting the Chair will carry out a roll call of committee 
members to confirm attendance. Members will also have an opportunity 
to declare any interests. 
 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING(S)  4 - 14 

 To approve the minutes of the meetings held on 30th June and 14th July 
2020. 
 

 

4.   MANAGER'S REPORT  15 - 25 

 The Committee is asked to note and approve all matters in the report. 
 

 

5.   LINFORD CHRISTIE OUTDOOR STADIUM - OUTLINE BUSINESS 
CASE  

26 - 120 

 This report presents the outline business case and recommends 
redevelopment of the site to produce replacement community facilities 
funded through disposal of the stadium site. 
 

 



Any discussion on the contents of an exempt appendix will require 
the Committee to pass the proposed resolution at the end of the 
agenda to exclude members of the public and press from the 
proceedings for that discussion. 
 

6.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 

 

 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 – ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
 
Proposed resolution: 
 
Under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting during the consideration 
of the following items of business, on the grounds that they contain the 
likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption currently outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 
 

 

 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Wormwood Scrubs 
Charitable Trust Committee 

Minutes 
 

Tuesday 30 June 2020 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Helen Rowbottom, Alexandra Sanderson and 
Belinda Donovan 
 
Advisors to the Trust 
Stephen Hollingworth, David Burns, Richard Gill, Carmen Lomotey,  
 
Amrita Gill (Clerk) 
 

 
1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR 

 
RESOLVED 
Councillor Alexander Sanderson was unanimously agreed as Chair of the 
Committee for the remainder of the municipal year 2019-20. 
 

2. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 
 
The Chair asked for an update on the 2018-19 accounts. Carmen Lomotey, 
Advisor to the Trust explained that the main outstanding requirement was that the 
budget for 2020/21 be approved by the Trust Committee before the accounts could 
be signed off by the Auditors. The Chair noted that it was important to put some 
measures in place to ensure that 2019/20 accounts were submitted on time.   
 
The Chair said that there had been a history of concerns relating to legionella 
running through the taps at the Linford Christie Stadium. She asked if there had 
been another flare up during Covid-19. In response Stephen Hollingworth, Advisor 
to the Trust explained that since the Covid-19 lockdown, the stadium water was 
drained to avoid any issues. Furthermore, tests would be carried to ensure that the 
water was safe to use again.  
 
The Chair asked for an update on the Secret Cinema and whether this had been 
put on hold. Stephen Hollingworth explained that there had not been any progress 
on this as most of the events industry had been furloughed due to Covid-19. 
Discussions would commence as soon as the industry was back in circulation.  
 
RESOLVED 
The minutes of the previous meeting were agreed as a correct record. 
 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
There were no apologies for absence. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5. MANAGER'S REPORT 
 
Richard Gill, Advisor to the Trust, presented the report. 
 
HS2 Bill Alternative Ecological Mitigation 
Richard Gill noted that there was a legal agreement between the Council and HS2 
which sets out the Alternative Ecological Mitigation (AEM) works agreed as an 
alternative to the original plans set out by HS2. It was recommended that the Trust 
Committee approved an option for the AEM master plan as set out in paragraph 
2.13 of the Manager’s report. It was highlighted that the Friends of the Scrubs were 
not happy with some of the items included within the masterplan.  
 
The Chair asked if members had any views on which of the 3 options, they felt 
were preferable. 
 
Stephen Waley-Cohen, Co-opted Member requested that a subgroup meeting be 
arranged so that a revised masterplan could be brought to the Trust Committee for 
immediate approval. Stephen Waley-Cohen was also happy to attend the 
subgroup meeting as a representative of Friends of the Scrubs.  
 
Members agreed with this suggestion and noted that certain key aspects needed 
to be reviewed via a subgroup meeting before the final plan could be approved.  
 
The Chair agreed that option 3 - to request a revised masterplan, with the need of 
an urgent subgroup meeting would be the most appropriate way to proceed. 
 

Action: Richard Gill 
 

HS2 – Compensation Code Temporary access to Trust Land  
Richard Gill explained that the planned re-route of the Stamford Brook sewer 
through the northern section of Wormwood Scrubs had now been confirmed and 
possession of some of the land was required. Some of the land would also need to 
be cleared for construction works. It was noted that the Trust was recommended to 
request H&F officers to appoint a specialist surveyor and legal advice to submit 
claims for disturbance and compensation for the proposed HS2 works on the Trust 
land. The specialist advice would be responsible for negotiation of the final terms 
of compensation and disturbance and advice on reinstatement works.  
 
Stephen Waley-Cohen asked whether it would be possible to remove some of the 
over grown bramble, along the route as part of the works. Richard Gill said that this 
could be put forward to HS2. He explained that some of the large trees would also 
be removed as part of the works and the Trust needed to be made aware that this 
could lead to public complaints.  
 
Stephen Waley-Cohen requested that the website be updated, and good signage 
be placed along the route explaining the reasons why these works were being 
carried out.  

Page 5



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
Action: Richard Gill 

 
Councillor Belinda Donovan asked if the trees that were being removed could be 
replaced after the works were carried out. Richard Gill said that damages, caused 
by installing the sewer route would be replaced, by HS2 and this had been agreed 
in principle.  
 
The Committee agreed for H&F officers to appoint a specialist surveyor and legal 
advice for temporary HS2 access onto Trust land. 
 
Kensington Aldridge Academy 
Richard Gill noted that the Trust was asked to recommend that H&F officers were 
approved to revise the walkway between KAA and Burlington Danes School and 
ensure that the appropriate licence was in place. 
 
The Chair noted that the access road was currently in a very poor condition and 
asked whether repair works could be carried out to improve the  state of the road. 
Richard Gill explained that there was an agreement with the school to repair the 
road after the temporary school was taken down. The Chair requested, Richard Gill 
to ask the school when they were planning on vacating the site and if there was 
any potential to share the costs at an earlier stage, due to the current condition of 
the access road. 
 
Councillor Helen Rowbottom said that it would be useful to have a breakdown on 
what monies were available to the Trust and under which parameters they could 
be spent.  
 
The Chair noted that she had received some concerns around anti-social 
behaviour taking place at Woodman’s Mews Estate associated with the two 
schools. She said that it would be very helpful to arrange a meeting with the 
Headteacher’s of the two schools to discuss these issues in detail. 
  

Action – Richard Gill 
The Committee agreed the recommendation.  
 
Community Safety Update 
Richard Gill explained that patrols had been in place since April from the 
Community safety team to help manage the social distancing requirements in 
public parks. Patrols were carried out on at least a daily basis. 20 incidents were 
recorded at the Scrubs from 1st Jan to June 18th, 2020. 
 
Councillor Helen Rowbottom asked if there were any other data sources that could 
be integrated in addition to the current data for recording incidents.  Richard Gill 
explained that data received from parks patrols could also be shared at future 
meetings.  
 
Stephen Hollingworth explained that last week Thursday a gathering took place at 
the Scrubs, involving 500 people. The Police were informed, and they moved 
people on around 9pm. The Police also prevented another event from taking place 
on Sunday at 7pm. Car parks were sealed, and sound equipment was ceased. 

Page 6



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

This was a London wide issue and the Police were keen to receive any intelligence 
from Members around  unauthorised future events of a similar nature.  
 
Stephen Waley-Cohen, said that whilst he was in favour of people enjoying the 
open space at the Scrubs, what measures were being put into place to ensure 
people were complying with the rules.  
 
Stephen Hollingworth said resources were deployed from across the Council and a 
private security company to ensure social distancing measures were being 
adhered to, however this was not sustainable as a longer-term approach. It was 
noted that more signs, which set out the bylaws could be put up around the Scrubs 
to help mitigate some of these concerns. However, this was a growing concern 
which was challenging to resolve at this stage. Richard Gill noted interpretation 
panels that outlined the intention of the space and contact information for Parks 
Police could be put up at the opening of each entrance point. 
 
Miriam Shea, Co-opted Member noted that it was also important not to discourage 
people from using the Scrubs, but it would be useful to put up signage outlining the 
rules. 
 
The Chair requested advisors to explore funding options so that additional bins 
could be put up around the Scrubs to ensure the litter issues were being mitigated.  
 

Action: Richard Gill 
 
Grounds Maintenance and site management update  
Richard Gill explained that the Linford Christie Stadium, playgrounds and outdoor 
gyms had been closed. We would be looking to open these on 4th July when it was 
safe to do so. 
 
Management of Giant hogweed had been necessary this year again. This could 
cause severe burns if the plant was in contact with skin. This had been controlled 
next to pathways which looked unsightly and had caused some concern but the 
risk of injuring people using these paths, especially children, needed to be 
addressed. 
 
A structural survey had been received for Park Lodge. This showed considerable 
work would have to be carried out. There would also be a need to address some of 
the potholes on the access road from Scrubs Lane at least as an interim measure.  
 
Consideration was being given to the introduction of honey bees at Woodman’s 
Mews Community garden as part of a community project. The Chair requested that 
notices were provided to all members who used the Community gardens. 
 

Action – Richard Gill 
Events 
Richard Gill explained that no events have been held at the Scrubs during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
 
Kensington Dragons Football Club (KDFC) Proposal 

Page 7



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

The Chair explained that Kensington Dragons Football Club had sent her 
documents containing financial projections relating to their proposals around 
improved grass pitches adjacent to Linford Christie Stadium (LCS). These would 
be circulated to Committee members after the meeting.  
 

Action: Chair 
 
The Chair explained that discussions around the proposals would be held at the 
next available meeting date. 
 

Action: Amrita Gill 
 
Finance - Update on the 2018/19 Accounts 
Carmen Lomotey, Advisor to the Trust introduced the Finance items. 
 
Carmen Lomotey noted that the 2018/19 accounts were presented to the January 
Committee and remained subject to audit; audit work was substantially complete; 
however, the finalisation of accounts depended on the final agreement of the 
2020/21 budget (to satisfy technical going concern requirements). 
 
Financial Outturn 2019/20 
Carmen Lomotey explained that the budget for 2019/20 was set with an anticipated 
surplus of £15,890 to be added to the Trust’s reserves. The outturn against this 
was a surplus of £136,825, which was £120,935 better than budget. 
 
Stephen Waley-Cohen asked for further clarification to be provided around the  
governance costs to the Council. Carmen Lomotey said that these were outlined in 
the report. Governance costs were £27,340, including £20,130 audit fees (£5,115 
backdated 2018/19), £2999 legal fees, and £4,301 finance support costs. These 
costs had been apportioned to the expenditure items based on value. 
 
Pay and Display and Cashless Parking income was budgeted at £345,428. 
However, actual income, at £324,945, was £20.483 lower than budget. Half of this 
shortfall, £10,008, occurred in March 2020, which was likely to be a result of the 
Covid-19 lockdown. It was likely that the effects of the lockdown would impact on 
the income for the first quarter of 2020/21.  
 
Financial Budget 2020/21 
Carmen Lomotey explained that the proposal was for a 2020/21 net income budget 
of £103,865. This was set lower than the 2019/20 outturn (net income of £136,825) 
as impact of  Covid-19 and higher costs were anticipated. 
 
The proposed 2020/21 income budget was £975,164. This was £18,849 less than 
the 2019/20 outturn, but significantly more than 2016-17, before occupation of the 
Kensington Aldridge Academy (KAA).  

The proposed 2020/21 expenditure budget was £871,299. Expenditure was 
planned as far as possible, with priority being given to essential works. All costs 
were estimated, including Grounds Maintenance uplift and audit fees. 

The Chair requested that a report around the Parks Lodge tenancy be brought to a 
future Committee. 

Page 8



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Action: Richard Gill 
 

Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Funds 
Carmen Lomotey noted that the cash reserves had significantly increased since the 
end of 2016/17 and were expected to increase further by the end of 2021/22 as 
additional income from KAA was received.  
 
The 2020/21 budget anticipated net income of £103,865. The Trust’s forecasted 
opening unrestricted funds balance for 2020/21 was £879,012. The 2020/21 
budget, therefore, increased these funds to £982,877 and the Trust’s closing funds 
for 20201/21 to £5,982,878 when £5,000,001 restricted funds were added. There 
were significant uncertainties around possible future income from July 2022. 
Possible streams include securing a significant event and generating income from 
commercial activities. 

The Committee agreed to approve the budget for 2020/21. 
 
RESOLVED 

- The Committee approved the budget for 2020/21 
- The Committee approved an option 3 for the AEM masterplan 
- The Committee agreed to request H&F officers to appoint a specialist 

surveyor and legal advice for temporary HS2 access onto Trust land. 
- The Committee agreed that H&F officers were approved to revise the 

walkway between KAA and Burlington Danes School and ensure the 
appropriate licence is in place 

- The Committee agreed to approve an option for the KDFC proposal at the 
next available meeting date. 

- The Committee noted all matters in the report. 
 

 
6. LINFORD CHRISTIE BUSINESS CASE - UPDATE 

 
David Burns, Advisor to the Trust, presented the report and noted that the Trust 
Committee  had approved the procurement of consultants to deliver an outline 
case on the options for Linford Christie Outdoor Sports Stadium. The consultants 
had completed the initial strategic outline business case and had moved onto the 
outline business case. They would complete their work in August ready for 
submission to the Trust Committee in September.  
 
The Chair asked who had been consulted to feed into the business case. David 
Burns noted that many people and organisations had been consulted, including 
Members of the Committee and Advisors to the Trust. A full list of who had been 
consulted would be circulated to the Committee after the meeting. 
 
Councillor Helen Rowbottom asked when the Charity Commission guidelines 
would be available for the Committee to review. In response David Burns said that 
some written guidance was available and had been circulated at previous 
meetings. This would be sent to Councillor Rowbottom. An updated version of the 
guidelines would also be provided to the Committee before the next meeting. 
 

Action: Dave Burns 
 

Page 9



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

RESOLVED 
The Committee noted the report. 
 

7. PROPOSALS FOR A GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGY REVIEW 
 
David Burns, Advisor to the Trust, summarised the report and noted that the work 
on establishing a business case for decisions around Linford Christie Stadium had 
brought to the Council’s attention, in its role as Corporate Trustee, a number of 
factors around the ownership of land and property, management arrangements, 
finance, and governance of the Trust and the Trust Committee. The Trust was in 
fact the owner of the Linford Christie Stadium and the associated pitches, and that 
it is responsible for all income and expenditure associated with it. In addition, the 
governance arrangements needed to be updated so that an appropriate scheme of 
delegation was in place. Furthermore, the Trust Committee should consider how it 
could make appropriate decisions in all areas where the Council as corporate body 
has a financial interest and at the same time effectively manage any conflicts of 
interest. It was recommended that the Trust Committee noted all matters in the 
report and agreed with the development of this strategy 
 
David Burns noted that the draft scheme of delegation (Appendix 1) had been 
updated and clearly sets out the procedure of delegation and provided 
transparency around the budget available to the Trust. In addition, the legal advice 
received, recommended that conflicts of interests were managed properly as part 
of the review of the governance arrangements.  
 
Members noted that this was a good opportunity, however asked for further 
clarification to be provided on the Council’s intention as part of this process. In 
response David Burns explained that this was mainly driven by the legal advice 
received. There was also an opportunity to provide the Trust with a clear structure 
on how it delegated to H&F officers transparently. This would also ensure that the 
correct governance arrangements were in place so that the Trust could make 
strategic decisions in a more appropriate way. This scheme would be developed 
over time in consultation with the Committee and interested parties. 
 
Miriam Shea - Co-opted Member, requested that a detailed breakdown of the 
income and costs associated with the running of the Linford Christie Stadium be 
provided to the Committee. David Burns said that the Council fully intended to 
provide these details and the Trust would be free to make decisions from a 
historical management standpoint. In addition, we would need to navigate this 
process given the role of the Council as the corporate trustee and corporate body.  
 
Members asked if the Trust needed to obtain their own legal advice. David Burns 
noted that the Council as the role of the corporate trustee was taking legal advice 
for the benefit of the Trust Committee.  
 
Miriam Shea said that the scheme of delegation for the Linford Christie Stadium 
seemed to be restricted and this needed to be much broader. David Burns said 
that the wording would be update and recirculated to the Committee.  
 
The Chair requested that the legal advice be circulated to the Committee. 
 

Action – David Burns 

Page 10



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

RESOLVED 
 

- The Committee noted the proposed scheme of delegation, the change to 
the Trust Manager and requested the Council in its role as Corporate 
Trustee to make changes to the terms of reference for the Trust to 
implement the Scheme of Delegation.  

- The Committee noted that the Council in its role as Corporate Trustee would 
review the governance arrangements and membership of the Trust 
Committee to ensure decisions were made in compliance with legal advice 
and charity commission nest practice.  

- The Committee noted that officers would review and present global financial 
accounts at the next Trust meeting to account for legal advice. 

- The Committee noted that the Council would review its current contributions 
to the Trust and advise that the Trust Committee accordingly at the earliest 
opportunity.  

- The Committee agreed the recommended next steps for the Trust 
Committee and the Council as outlined in this report in paragraphs 52 to 55. 

 
8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

 
The Chair noted that she had received a large number of concerns in relation to 
the usage of drones on the Scrubs so this may need to be reviewed at a future 
meeting.  

 
Action: Stephen Hollingworth 

 
 

Meeting started: 6:30pm 
Meeting ended: 8:30pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 

Clerk: Amrita Gill 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 11

mailto:amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk


______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Wormwood Scrubs 
Charitable Trust Committee 

Minutes 
 

Tuesday 14 July 2020 
 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members 
Councillors Alexandra Sanderson, Helen Rowbottom, and Belinda Donovan 
Co-optees Mirian Shea and Stephen Waley-Cohen 
 
Officers 
Steve Hollingsworth, Assistant Director of Leisure, Sports and Culture 
David Burns, Assistant Director – Growth 
Richard Gill, Senior Parks Manager 
David Abbott, Head of Governance 
 
Guests 
Chris Shirley and Martin Murphy from Kensington Dragons 
 
NOTE: This meeting was held remotely 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

3. KENSINGTON DRAGONS FOOTBALL CLUB (KDFC) 
 
Steve Hollingsworth, Assistant Director of Leisure, Sports and Culture, presented 
the report and discussed the recommendation that the Trust supported in principle 
Option 2 and worked with Kensington Dragons to deliver a hybrid pitch, while not 
limited future redevelopment opportunities for the stadium. 
 
Miriam Shea asked if the proposed work with the consultant would delay the 
timeline for the hybrid pitch. David Burns, Assistant Director – Growth, said if 
Kensington Dragons supported the proposal, they could set up a couple of 
workshops with the team to work through the proposals and implications. It 
shouldn’t cause any delay to the timeline. 
 
Chris Shirley from Kensington Dragons addressed the committee and made the 
following points: 

Page 12



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 They supported meeting with consultants in the proposed timeframe. 

 They also supported the recommendation that the terms of the lease don’t 
limit future development opportunities. 

 He requested more detail on what the Trust had in mind for an ‘enhanced 
offer’ but generally supported the principle of youth football competitions 
and summer soccer school etc. 

 
Councillor Helen Rowbottom said the Trust would like to see more girls football 
teams, teams for differently able players, and to allow local schools to play their 
finals on the pitches. And in the spirit of improving access to sport and great 
representation – to have a woman on the leadership team. 
 
Chris Shirley said they supported having more girls football teams and there were 
a number of women leaders in the club including on the Board of Trustees and in 
the coaching staff. He added that the club were very keen to recruit more players 
from a wide range of backgrounds and abilities. The club had trained its coaches to 
work with blind, deaf, and disabled players – and were happy to work with the 
Council to continue to improve in this area. 
 
Steve Hollingsworth noted that the inclusion elements could be captured in the 
service level agreement. 
 
Stephen Waley-Cohen and Miriam Shea noted that they both supported the 
recommendations. 
 
The Chair put the recommendations to the vote and they were unanimously 
agreed. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Trust supported in principle option 2 and working with KDFC to 
deliver a hybrid pitch, but that redevelopment opportunities for the Stadium 
must not be limited at this stage and this should be reflected in any property 
agreements with KDFC. 

 
2. That the Trust delegated authority to officers to: 

 Review with KDFC and the business case consultants the inclusion 
of the KDFC proposals, the impact of this on any of the business 
case options, and reflect this in the final business case report to the 
Committee in September 

 Ensure that the terms of the lease does not limit any future 
redevelopment proposals or opportunities 

 Advise KDFC that if proposals for redevelopment of the stadium site 
are approved and move forward in the future they may be required to 
move from the proposed location, and that the property terms will 
reflect this 

 Secure commitments from KDFC for an enhanced community use 
offer and develop a service level agreement for an enhanced 
community offer. 

 
 
 

Page 13



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 7.40 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 

Clerk: David Abbott 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk  

 

Page 14

mailto:amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk


1 

 

MANAGERS REPORT 
 

6th October 2020 
 

Report to Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Committee 
 

Report Author: 
Stephen Hollingworth, Advisor to the Trust 
 

Contact Details: 
Steve.Hollingworth@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. Executive Summary and Decisions Sought 
 
1.1     The Committee is asked to: 

 approve a Budget of up to £75,000 per year for up to two years to create and 
fund a suitable post as a project manager for the Trust, to develop the long-
term strategy and objectives and co-ordinate the day to day activities of the 
Trust. 

 to delegate to the Trust manager in consultation with the chair of the Trust 
committee to develop a person specification and complete a recruitment 
process 

 request H&F officers appoint legal advice to reword the licence with KAA. 

 approve a budget of up to £75,000 for the resurfacing and repair of the access 
road from Scrubs lane. 

 to note the audit update and approve the audit procurement strategy for 
2019/20 (as set out in para 9.3) 

 to note the 2020/21 Financial Forecast 

 to note all other matters in the report. 
 
 
2. HS2 Bill Alternative Ecological Mitigation 

 
2.1    The Alternative Ecological Mitigation (AEM) works are progressing in three 

stages. 
  

 A Conservation management plan (CMP) has been circulated to the Friends 
for comment this document does not require approval but provides the 
background information for the biodiversity masterplan and detailed design 
proposals. 

 The masterplan presented at the last WSCT Committee is to be discussed 
and agreed by a subgroup. 

 Detailed designs will be developed along with a 10-year management and 
maintenance plan to maximise habitat improvement for wildlife and increase 
biodiversity after the masterplan has been agreed so that the project can be 
tendered. 

 
 Committee to Note 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Steve.Hollingworth@lbhf.gov.uk


2 

 

 
 
3. HS2 – Compensation Code Temporary access to Trust Land 

 
3.1     The planned possession of parts of the western edge of the Scrubs by HS2 to 

enable the Stamford Brook sewer and UTX works were discussed at the last 
committee. 

  
3.2     The current programme is for HS2 to access the site in November to carry out 

visual surveys with clearance work on site commencing in December/January. 
Patricia Thompson is the Community engagement manager for HS2 and has 
been meeting with the wider community to explain the impact of the 
proposals. A meeting has been proposed with the Friends and Patricia would 
be able to attend a meeting with the trust to make a presentation if required. 
The Trust agreed for a consultant could be appointed to handle compensation 
matters. LSH have been appointed and an undertaking from HS2 to fully 
recover fees is being sought. 

 
Committee to note 

  
 
4. Update on leases 
 
4.1 Draft heads of Terms and a Service level agreement have been agreed by 

Kensington Dragons Football Club (KDFC) KDFC have also appointed their 
legal advisors to work with the Councils legal advisors to formalise the 
appropriate agreements. 

 
4.2 The licence to use the Old Tennis courts to the South of the Linford Christie 

Stadium allows the Hospital use of this space for a limited period. Early 
mobilisation works have started and the Hospitals development contractor 
has discovered asbestos. Part of the cost of thie remediation of the asbestos 
will need to be borne by the Trust. The trust will get advice from the Councils 
asbestos specialists to ensure it is removed safly and to understand any 
potential cost that needs to be paid by the Trust. The cost of these works will 
be offset against the income to be received for the licence. 

 
4.3 The details of the lease and the extent of the repairs required for the 

residential property Park Lodge are being explored so that an options paper 
can be presented to the committee 

 
4.4 The licence to Kensington Aldridge Acadamy has been renewed. 
 

Committee to note 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  Implementing Strategic Governance Review recommendations  

Page 16



3 

 

 
5.1. The Trust Committee approved the Report ‘WORMWOOD SCUBS 

CHARITABLE TRUST – PROPOSALS FOR GOVERNANCE AND 
STRATEGY REVIEW’ at its last meeting in July 2020. The review identified 
that the trust should consider its approach and strategy to achieving the 
charitable objects set out in the Wormwood Scrubs Act. Officers reviewed the 
approach of other charities and noted they tend to have: 

 Vision 

 Strategy 

 Business Plan 
  

5.2. Currently there is no dedicated officer with day to day responsibility for 
supporting the Trust Committee, or who could help the Trust develop its vision 
and strategy. Officers therefore recommend approving a budget allocation of 
£75K a year for two years (£150,000 in total), to fund an appropriate project 
manager role to support this. The full remit of the role would be agreed with 
the Trust committee and annual objectives set. Recruitment and employment 
would need to be carried out by the Council, to make use of the Council’s 
existing systems. It is recommended that they are appointed on a two-year 
fixed term contract to reflect the budget allocation. 
 
Committee to request action 

 
 
6. Community Safety Update 
 
6.1     Additional patrols have been in place since April from the Community safety 

team to help manage the social distancing requirements in Public parks. 
Patrols were carried out on at least a daily basis. Visitor numbers on the 
Scrubs have increased considerably during the COVID-19 pandemic. There 
has been a considerable increase in litter and anti-social behaviour especially 
after dark. 

 
6.2 An additional concern, exacerbated by the cancelled Notting Hill Carnival due 

to CoVid is the number of unlicensed Music Events which have threatened to 
use the Scrubs. This has required a co-ordinated approach from the Borough 
with the Metropolitan Police. 

 
6.2 Residents and the Friends have raised a number of concerns including; 

proposing fencing the ‘Meadow Pipit meadow’, encroaching bramble and a 
lack of signage to reinforce the site rules. Most of these issues will be 
addressed through the proposals put forward in the Biodiversity Masterplan. 

  
6.2     20 incidents were recorded at the Scrubs from 1st Jan to June 18th, 2020 
  

Date Incident 
  

Total 

January Homelessness incident 
Found/recovered knife 

1 
1 

February Breach of Byelaw 1 

Page 17



4 

 

March Nil   

April Anti-Social Behaviour  
Health &Safety incident 

4 
1 

May Anti-Social Behaviour  
Breach of Byelaw 
incident of fire 

1 
2 
1 

June Vehicle related incidents 
Breach of Byelaw 
Anti-Social Behaviour  
Homelessness incidents 

3 
2 
1 
2 

  
Committee to Note 
 

 
7. Grounds Maintenance and site management update  

 
7.1 Linford Christie Stadium (LCS) re-opened for pre-booked track sessions on 
 2nd July. Thames Valley Harriers have been running 3 sessions per week and 
 their numbers have been steadily increasing. Kensington Dragons have also 
 started back playing matches on the centre pitch at weekends. 
  Linford Christie Stadium. Unfortunately due to a large number of unauthorised 
 users during lockdown, the All-Weather Pitches sustained some damage and 
 could not be used. Repairs have been completed 24th September, and the 
 first bookings will take place on 28thSeptember. The building has also been 
 deep-cleaned, and a disinfection fogging has taken place.  
 
7.2 The majority of the Large timber Play equipment on the Braybrook Street 
 boundary has been identified in an inspection as defective and will have to be 
 removed. Prices to repair or replace are being explored but no funds have 
 been identified at present for its replacement. The Old Oak and Park Royal 
 Development Corporation (OPDC) has been approached for S106 funding 
 but their initial response is that their funds are very limited. 
 

Committee to Note 
 
7.3 The committee requested at the last meeting that the potholes in the access 
 road from Scrubs lane are addressed. Reinstatement works for the road are 
 documented in the licence agreement with KAA to be actioned at the end of 
 their licence. Officers recommend that the Trust take legal advice to document 
 changes so that at the end of the licence KAA do all the other reinstatement 
 works required. Officers recommend that £75,000 is made available to fund 
 these works. 

 
Committee to request action 

 
 
8.  Events 

 
8.1 No events have been held at the Scrubs during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 However, we have been talking to a reputable event`s organiser, within the 

Page 18



5 

 

 London area, “Slammin Events” about the possibility of using Wormwood 
 Scrubs for festivals and events in the future. Enclosed in Annexe C is some 
 further detail of what they would like to propose, in terms of a test event 
 between June and September next year. If Members of the Trust would like 
 to take this forward, a representative of Slammin Events would be happy to 
 attend the next meeting to provide more detail and discuss consultation and 
 mitigation strategies, to move things forward. 

 
Committee to Note 

 
 
 

9. Audit - Update on the 2018/19 and 2019/20 Accounts 

Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 
9.1. The 2018/19 accounts were presented to the January committee and it was 

noted remained subject to audit. The accounts are proceeding through final 
internal review procedures with the external auditor.  The impact of Covid-19 
has meant additional processes have had to be followed, including completion 
of a ‘going-concern’ assessment which has, unfortunately, delayed progress.  
Subject to any final audit queries arising the accounts should proceed to 
signing stage presently.  Further updates will be provided to Committee.  The 
net revenue (surplus) position for 2018/19, as reported to committee, remains 
unchanged at £226,944. 
 

Committee to Note 
 
 

Statement of Accounts 2019/20 and Appointment of Auditors 
 

 
9.2. The 2019/20 accounts are awaiting audit. The net revenue (surplus) position 

for 2019/20 is calculated at £141,940.    
 
9.3. The Trust is required to appoint auditors for the financial year 

2019/20.  Subject to confirmation of final legal advice, The Trust is asked to 
approve an audit procurement and appointment strategy as follows: 

 

 An advisor-led audit appointment panel to be created and the membership 
of this panel to be agreed by the Chair; 

 A minimum of three quotes to be obtained via the Council’s e-Sourcing 
system; 

 Subject to the auditor meeting the minimum statutory and regulatory 
requirements concerning their appropriateness to undertake audit, an 
assessment to be undertaken with regard to appropriate advice and 
guidance and based on a price/quality ratio of 50:50; 

 The appointment panel will review the quotes and make a 
recommendation to Chair; 

 The Chair will confirm final appointment and report that decision to the 
Committee. 

Page 19



6 

 

 
Committee to Approve 
 
 
 

10. Financial Forecast 2020/21 

10.1. The financial forecast for Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust (“the Trust”) for 
2020/21 is summarised below and is detailed in Annexe A. Financial 
transactions for the financial year are set out in Annexe B. 

 

 
 

10.2. The budget for 2020/21 was set with an anticipated surplus of £103,864 to be 
added to the Trust’s reserves. The current forecast (as at 25th September 
2020) is a much-reduced surplus of £7,186, which is £96,678 worse than 
budget. The main reason for this is reduced parking income; forecasted 
underspends have, however, reduced the impact. 

 
10.3. The Trust’s opening unrestricted funds balance for 2020/21 was £884,129, 

subject to audit. The current 2020/21 outturn forecast will increase these 
funds to £891,314, to be carried forward to 2021/22. The Trust’s closing funds 
for 2020/21 are, therefore, estimated at £5,891,315 when £5,000,001 
restricted funds are added.    
 
Income  

 
10.4. The 2020/21 income budget was set at £975,164. However, the current 

forecast is £113,733 less than this, at £861,430.   

10.5. Income from pay and display and parking meters has increased since the 
introduction of cashless parking, but the Covid-19 lockdown has significantly 
impacted on income since March 2020. Although the 2020 budget was set at a 
cautious £300,000 (£51,834 less than the 2018/19 outturn), the current 
forecast for parking income is £120,391 than budgeted. Forecasted at only 
£179,609, parking income is 49% and 45% less than the 2018/19 and 2019/20 

Activity
Outturn 

2017/18

Outturn 

2018/19

Outturn 

2019/20

Budget 

2020/21 

Forecast 

2020/21
Variance Comments

Budget Forecast

Pay and Display Meters & 

Cashless Parking
(259,674) (351,834) (324,945) (300,000) (179,609) 120,391 8% 45%

The 2019/20 outturn was 92%of the 2018/19 outturn due to Covid-19 

lockdown (March 2020). The 2020/21 budget was set at 85% of 2018/19 

outturn. The forecast is based on actual income April to August 2020, which 

is £77,355 (55%) less than the 2019/20 equivalent.

Hammersmith Hospital Car Park 

Licence
(324,619) (337,229) (346,995) (354,126) (354,126) 0 -2% -2%

Q2 Forecast: 2020/21: £Q1 - Q3 @ £88,091 (signed agreement) and Q4 @ 

£89,853 (estimated). 

Other income from activities for 

generating funds
(488,002) (371,078) (322,073) (321,038) (327,696) (6,658) 0% -2%

Q2 forecast: KAA income to 31st March 2021 £315,658 (Licence extension: 

£26,523 pcm wef 13th July 2020 ); UKPN rental £3,446; Filming £3,000; 

Events £0; £1,092 Parks Lodge Inocme and Interest £4,500. 

Total Income and endowments (1,072,295) (1,060,141) (994,013) (975,164) (861,430) 113,733 6% 41%

Grounds Maintenance 706,909 719,895 742,993 771,949 762,854 (9,095) 4% 3%
Estimated Grounds Maintenance cost: £738,629 plus apportioned 

governance cost: £24,125.

Contribution to Linford Christie 

Stadium
32,330 32,356 84,719 63,317 63,508 192 -25% -25%

Fixed annual cost of £31,500; £30,000 two year additional contribution for 

repair and mainteance of changing rooms; plus £2,008 governance costs

Other Expenditure 35,093 80,945 24,362 36,034 27,882 (8,152) 48% 14%
Estimated ad hoc works and governance costs, including £816 Governance 

costs 

Total Expenditure 774,332 833,196 852,075 871,299 854,244 (17,055) 27% -8%

Net (income)/expenditure (297,964) (226,944) (141,939) (103,864) (7,186) 96,678 -27% -95%

Movement Between 

Years

Page 20



7 

 

outturns, respectively. Monthly income loss peaked in April (74%), steadily 
decreased May to July, but increased slightly again in August (43%) as 
illustrated below.  

 

 

10.6. The Hammersmith Car Park Licence income budget (£354,1260) was set at 
the current agreed plus a 2% uplift is forecasted for Quarter 4 (January to 
March 2021). This is also the current forecast. 

10.7. The 2020/21 budget for other income (£321,038) was primarily the £309,000 
forecasted annual rental income payable by the Kensington Aldridge Academy 
(KAA). The current projection for KAA income is £315,658 as the signed lease 
agreement confirms income at £6,658 better than budget. This budget was 
based on a monthly rate of £25,750; the agreed rate is £26,523. The current 
2021/22 forecast is for KAA to remain on site for the full year (including 
removal of the temporary site), generating £318,300. 

10.8. Reinstatement of filming and events income to levels prior to KAA occupation 
is still not expected until post 2021/22; with 2022/23 income phased as 
customers return from alternative sites. Therefore, the current forecast 
matches the extremely cautious assumptions about the likely 2020/21 income. 
The budget is only £3,000. Securing a large event was not assumed, and 
Covid-19 reduces the possibilities for this. 

10.9. Other income items are also forecasted in line with budget: £3446 annual 
rental income payable by UKPN for occupation of the Scrubs land for the 
electric vehicle charging points, which has been agreed for the next five years; 
and investment income from the bank balance and lodges, estimated at 
£5,592.  

Governance costs 

10.10. Governance costs are the indirect costs of managing the Wormwood Scrubs; 
these include legal charges, audit fees and finance support costs. The 
2020/21 budget for governance costs was set at £25,000. The current 
forecast, at £27,015, is more than budget due to additional legal charges 
associated with the Kensington Dragons lease. 

10.11. These costs are apportioned to expenditure budgets/actuals based on value. 
The current forecast £27,015 is apportioned as follows: £24,125 to planned 
contractual grounds maintenance; £2,008 to the Linford Christie Stadium 
contribution; and £882 to non-routine maintenance and other costs 

Month 2019/20 (£) 2020/21 (£) Variance (£) Decrease

Apr-20 27,470.00-          7,135.37-            20,334.63          74%

May-20 29,325.92-          8,984.83-            20,341.09          69%

Jun-20 28,208.96-          13,883.71-          14,325.25          51%

Jul-20 30,077.63-          18,973.08-          11,104.55          37%

Aug-20 26,128.62-          14,879.42-          11,249.20          43%

Totals 141,211.13-        63,856.41-          77,354.72          55%

Parking income loss - 2020/21 compared to 2019/20 (P&D and Meters)

Page 21



8 

 

Expenditure  
 

10.12. Expenditure is planned as far as possible, with priority being given to essential 
works. The 2020/21 expenditure budget was set at £871,299 (£846,299 plus 
£25,000 governance costs). The current expenditure forecast is £854,244 
(£827,229 plus £27,015 governance costs). This £17,055 favourable variance 
partially offsets the parking income budget pressure.  

10.13. The £771,949 planned contractual Ground Maintenance (GM) budget was set 
at £749,799 charge (2019/20 contractual cost (£723,535) uplifted by an 
estimated 3.63% (price indices – DERV Fuel, Plant & Road Vehicles, and 
GLPC pay scales)) and £22,149 apportioned governance costs. Subject to 
confirmation of the price indices the current planned GM forecast is £762,854 
(£738,729 plus £24,125 governance costs), which is a favourable variance of 
£9,095.   

10.14. The budget for Contribution to Linford Christie Stadium was set at £63,317 
(£31,500 fixed contribution; £30,000 additional contribution; and £1,817 
apportioned governance costs). The current forecast, at £63,508 (61,500 plus 
£2008 governance costs) is only £192 more than the budget. 

10.15. The budget for other expenditure was set at ££36,034 (£35,000 non-routine 
maintenance and £1,034 apportioned governance costs). The current forecast 
is £8,152 below this, at £27,882 (£25,000 non-routine maintenance; £2,00 
other costs; plus £882 governance costs).  

 

Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Funds 

10.16. The Trust’s funds are currently forecasted to be at £5,891,315 by the end of 
£2020/21.  

10.17. There are significant uncertainties around possible future income from July 
2022. Possible streams include securing a significant event and generating 
income from commercial activities.  

 
Committee to Note 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



9 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Annexe A 

 
Current Financial Forecast 

 

Page 23



10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Annexe B 
 

Income and Expenditure
2020/21 

Forecast

2019/20 

Actual
Notes

£ £

Income and endowments from:

Donations and legacies

Income from Charitable activities:

     Pay and Display Parking Meters (179,609) (324,945)
Covid-19 has had a significant effect on Parking Income. The current 

forecast it for only 55% of the 2019/20 outturn.

     Hammersmith Hospital Car Park Licence (354,126) (346,995) Contracted lease payments increased by 2% compared to 2019/20

0 0

Other trading activities (322,104) (315,441)
Includes income from the KAA and UKPN charging points and HS2 Ltd 

reimbursement. 

Income from Investments (5,592) (179,176)

Interest on cash balances and rental income from the park lodge. HS2 

recharge income included in 2019/20 figures (offset by other 

expendire) is not forecasted.  

Other Income 0

Total Income and endowments (861,430) (1,166,559)

WSCT - Fixed Ground Maintenance 2017/18

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 0 0

Charitable activities:

     Contribution to Linford Christie Stadium 63,508 84,719
Contribution to Linford Christie Stadium plus proportion of governance 

costs.

     Non Routine Maintenance of Wormwood Scrubs 25,816 22,497
Expenditure on non-routine grounds maintenance plus proportion of 

governance costs.

     Routine Grounds Maintenance of Wormwood Scrubs 762,854 742,993
Grounds Maintenance contracted spend plus proportion of governance 

costs.

0 0

Other expenditure 2,065 174,410 Ad hoc expenditure plus costs to be recovered from HS2 Ltd

Total Expenditure 854,244 1,024,620

Net gains/(losses) on investments

Net (income)/expenditure (7,186) (141,939)

Reconciliation of Funds

Total funds brought forward (5,884,129) (5,742,189)

Total funds carried forward (5,891,315) (5,884,129)

All income is unrestricted.

Statement of Financial Activities for Year ended 31 March 2020

Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust

WORMWOOD SCRUBS CHARITABLE TRUST

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2020/21 - Unaudited

Page 24



11 

 

 

(314,481.63)

Activity Comments Amount £

Non Routine Maintenance of Wormwood Scrubs Bell Decorating & Building Ltd SCRUBS REPLACEMENT INSPECTION COVERS 300.00

Non Routine Maintenance of Wormwood Scrubs Indigo Lodge Limited GATE REPAIR 480.00

Non Routine Maintenance of Wormwood Scrubs Indigo Lodge Limited OUTDOOR GYM CROSSBARS REMOVAL 410.00

Non Routine Maintenance of Wormwood Scrubs Indigo Lodge Limited KAS/19925- WORMWOOD SCRUBS REPAIRS TO 960.00

Non Routine Maintenance of Wormwood Scrubs Indigo Lodge Limited KAS/19926- WORMWOOD SCRUBS ACCESS ROAD 245.00

Non Routine Maintenance of Wormwood Scrubs Indigo Lodge Limited KAS/19895- OUTDOOR GYMNASIUM REPAIR 810.00

Governance Costs Legal fees - Lease - Kensington Dragons 5,178.00

Governance Costs Legal fees 7.00

Governance Costs Legal fees 193.80

Governance Costs Legal fees 345.60

Governance Costs Legal fees 21.60

Governance Costs Legal fees 583.20

Governance Costs Legal fees 28.80

Governance Costs Legal fees 324.00

Governance Costs Legal fees 7.20

Governance Costs Legal fees 698.40

Governance Costs Legal fees 7.20

Governance Costs Legal fees 453.60

Governance Costs - Accrual Audit fee (15,015.00)

Governance Costs - Accrual Audit fee (5,115.00)

Governance Costs - Accrual Audit fee (9,900.00)

Other trading activities Charing Cross Hospital PERIOD Q1: 25/03/20 TO 23/06/20 (W'WD SCBS CR PK) (88,091.00)

Other trading activities Charing Cross Hospital PERIOD: 24/06/20 TO 28/09/20 (W'WD SCBS CR PK) (88,091.00)

Other trading activities Kensington Aldridge Academy APRIL 2020 (25,750.00)

Other trading activities Kensington Aldridge Academy MAY 2020 (25,750.00)

Other trading activities Kensington Aldridge Academy JUNE 2020 (25,750.00)

Other trading activities Kensington Aldridge Academy JULY 2020 (25,750.00)

Other trading activities Kensington Aldridge Academy RENT SHORTFALL FOR PERIOD 13/07/20 TO 31/07/20 (473.77)

Other trading activities Kensington Aldridge Academy AUGUST 2020 (26,523.00)

Other trading activities Kensington Aldridge Academy SEPTEMBER 2020 (26,523.00)

Income from Investments Mr Jenkyns Keigwin  APRIL TO JUNE 2020 - PK LDG (273.00)

Income from Investments Mr Jenkyns Keigwin  JULY TO SEPT 2020 - PK LDG (273.00)

(352,224.37)

Other trading activities Land Use Consultants Limited 6,865.00

Non Routine Maintenance of Wormwood Scrubs TEMPORARY TENNIS COURT SIGNS 178.75

Other trading activities Reimbursement from HS2 Limited 2,354.24

Other trading activities Reimbursement from HS2 Limited 11,567.84

Other trading activities Reimbursement from HS2 Limited 5,569.23

Other trading activities Reimbursement from HS2 Limited 350.68

Other trading activities Reimbursement from HS2 Limited 2,217.00

Other trading activities Pick Everard 7,152.00

Other trading activities Reimbursement from HS2 Limited 1,488.00

HS2 Limited Transactions 37,742.74

(314,481.63)

Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Transactions at Q1-2 2020/21 (April to September) 

Page 25



 WORMWOOD SCRUBS CHARITABLE TRUST – LINFORD CHRISTIE OUTDOOR 
STADIUM OUTLINE BUSINESS CASE 
 

Report to Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Committee 
 

Report Author: 
The Trust Manager 

Contact Details: 
david.burns@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
 

 
Executive Summary 

 
1. The Linford Christie Outdoor Sports Stadium (Stadium) is an aging facility and 

does not meet the requirements of its tenants or of other users. Significant 
investment is required to maintain and improve the Stadium facilities. The Trust 
and the Council currently subsisdise the operation of Stadium by providing 
revenue support and a limited amount of capital investment. Without the 
Council’s subsidy the Trust would be reliant on its own income and reserves. The 
Trust has limited capital available to invest into the Stadium site and improve the 
facilities, so it has reviewed a number of options for the future of the site. 
 

2. Following an initial options appraisal, a number of reports to the Trust Committee 
and a public consultation process, IPW were appointed following approval by the 
Chair of the Trust Committee in October 2019 to produce an outline business 
case (OBC) and make a recommendation to the Trust as to how it could proceed. 

 
3. The OBC has been completed and recommends redevelopment of the site to 

produce replacement community facilities funded through disposal of the Stadium 
site on a long lease for enabling development. This should be secured through a 
developer partner and a procurement process should be undertaken to select the 
partner. 
 

Recommendations 
 
That the Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Committee:- 
 

1. Approves the Outline Business Case in Appendix 1. 
 

2. Reject options one and two, as set out in this report and the OBC. 
 

3. Approves options three, four and five as set out in this report and the OBC. 
 

4. Approves moving to a procurement process to select a developer partner for 
the redevelopment of the Stadium site on the basis outlined in this report and 
including the options set out in recommendation three above. 
 

5. Approves funding the costs of the procurement process from the remaining 
£243,000 CIL funding provided by the Council at the start of the business 
case process, subject to Council approval for continued use of this CIL 
funding. 

Page 26

Agenda Item 5

mailto:david.burns@lbhf.gov.uk


 
6. Delegates authority to the Trust Manager acting on behalf of the Trust to 

develop a procurement strategy, procurement documents and to complete a 
procurement process, and to return to the Trust Committee on completion to 
consider the outcome of the procurement exercise and to appoint a partner for 
for the Stadium site. 
 

7. Notes the requirements in relation to conflict of interests and decision-making 
procedures set out in this report. 
 

8. Delegates authority to the Trust Manager to liaise with the Charity 
Commission in relation to the Trust’s decision-making process in connection 
with the future of the Stadium site and related matters and following those 
discussions prepare a report to the Trust setting out the nature of the 
discussions and the advice of the Charity Commission. 
 

Background 
 

9. What is now known as the Linford Christie Outdoor Sports Stadium was 
erected on the Scrubs in the 1960s by the GLC, occupying about 8% of the 
Charity’s land. Since then the Council has operated the Stadium on behalf of 
the Trust. The Trust is the owner of the site and the Stadium, and the Trust 
Committee has delegated authority to make decisions on behalf of the Council 
in its role as Trustee. 
 

10. The cost of running the Stadium (c. £290,000 per year) is absorbed by the 
Council, save for a capped re-charge of £31,500 to the Trust, and some 
adhoc spending. The income generated, however, is not accounted for by the 
Trust but is used to offset the Council’s expenditure.  
 

 
 

Page 27



 
11. The income generated from the Stadium does not cover its costs. The Council 

subsidises the running costs. The Stadium is in poor condition and requires 
capital investment. The background on this and the options that the Trust 
could consider were set out in reports on 22nd June 2017 and 19th December 
2018. 
 

12. In 2019, the Trust Committee therefore delegated authority to officers to 
commission a public consultation and outline business case on their behalf to 
consider options for the Stadium's future.  
 

13. A public consultation has taken place outlining three broad options: 
I. Do nothing (which will require a substantial increase in income if the 

Charity is to survive beyond its current reserves); or 
II. Enhance the current facilities (which involves improvements to the 

existing Stadium); or 
III. A “large scale intervention” (which could involve the construction of a 

new stadium or venue accommodating 35,000 or more people) 

 
14. Over 8,782 completed questionnaires were received and 13 responses not 

using the online or paper forms, with over 80% of respondents supporting the 
Trust or the Council completing a “large scale intervention” (option 3 above) 
as their preferred option.  The consultation responses also showed support for 
the Trust or the Council to consider making provision for professional and 
community sports, and as a venue for major entertainments. 
 

15. The Trust Committee considered reports on these matters on 13th March and 
26th June 2019. 
 

16. In order for the Trust to understand the options in more detail before making 
any decision to proceed further, it delegated authority to officers to 
commission consultants to deliver an outline business case on the options for 
the Stadium.  
 

17. The Trust wishes to see the re-provision of high-quality athletics and sports 
equipment, but currently lacks the revenue and capital resources to achieve 
this. The OBC has followed a Treasury five case business case process, 
looking at strategic, economic, financial, commercial and management cases 
for intervention and how the Trust might achieve its objectives. 

 
Summary of the OBC 
 

18. The OBC is included as an appendix to this report, but a brief summary is 
provided below. 
 

19. The strategic case remains very strong, as there is a clear need for quality 
sports and leisure facilities in the borough, and the current facilities serve a 
key strategic need especially the athletics facilities. However, they do not 
meet user requirements from either tenants or the wider user base, meaning 
there is a real need for investment. 
 

Page 28



20. The Stadium is an important strategic asset for Hammersmith & Fulham 
borough, and a key part of the Trust’s charitable remit. The current facilities 
are tired and are not sustainable financially in their current form (even before 
the financial and facility closure challenges created by COVID 19) – requiring 
a significant annual subsidy from the Trust and Council, plus additional capital 
investment.  
 

21. Without the short-term revenues created by the lease of part of the Scrubs to 
Kensington Aldridge Academy, the Trust will return to being in an annual 
shortfall with expenditure exceeding income. With the ongoing impact of 
austerity cuts, before the financial challenges created by COVID-19, the 
Council (outside of its role as corporate trustee of the Trust) has confirmed 
that it must - understandably - focus on the sustainable management of its 
finances. On this basis, and despite the sporting benefit that the current uses 
bring even with ageing facilities, the Council has confirmed that it does not 
have an appetite to invest major capital or continued revenue to support 
facilities at the Stadium site that do not generate a direct economic return.  
 

22. There is a clear strategic case and significant public support, for making a 
major intervention at the Stadium site that can deliver strategic, economic and 
financial benefit for the Trust with the potential to fund other interventions 
consistent with each party’s objectives. The OBC has considered a number of 
potential options, though there is scope for alternative amalgamations and 
configurations of facilities to be created.  
 

23. Since the Trust and Council are not anticipating an application for government 
funding, the specific requirements of a Treasury-compliant OBC are not 
directly applicable. However, IPW. have used this structure as the basis for 
preparing the analysis in the OBC to highlight the key strategic, economic, 
commercial, financial and management implications as the Trust considers 
the optimum long-term solution for the Stadium site to deliver on their 
aspirations.  
 

24. The analysis completed in the course of the OBC has highlighted the 
challenges inherent in balancing the need to generate the (capital and 
revenue) investment necessary to deliver quality, long-term sports uses at on 
the Stadium site with a wish to minimise development at the site. In essence, 
the Trust must consider a spectrum/ continuum from zero to maximum 
investment that can be leveraged (financial benefit) against an associated 
compromise of preserving the Scrubs as it is currently.  
 

25. The Trust could continue to operate as it is currently and, should Council 
funding fall away as it cannot continue to be sustained, use fundraising efforts 
in addition to its commercial activities in order to maintain the status quo or 
invest in enhancements. However, this is not considered to be sustainable in 
the long-term, nor to have the potential to significantly improve the quality of 
provision available.  
 

26. In essence, the provision and maintenance of an environment that is 
conducive to sports and leisure activity, including the ongoing maintenance of 

Page 29



the Scrubs itself, is not anticipated to be achievable without encouraging 
outside investment in uses that may ultimately reduce the total amount of 
publicly-available sports and leisure space at the Stadium site.  
 

27. It is anticipated that the private sector will bring the necessary funding to 
deliver a project (at minimal/ no risk to the partners unless in exceptional 
circumstances with appropriate potential returns) and achieve financial 
improvement at the Stadium site in the form of removing the need for an 
external subsidy. 
 

28. In order to ensure any sporting facilites can be sustainable there is a 
requirement for interventions that generate new capital and revenue. 
 

29. The shortlist of options was refined to the following: 
 

1. Business as Usual (BAU)/Do Nothing 

2. Do Minimum 

3. Athletics & sports centre including pitch hub 

4. Athletics and major indoor arena  

5. Athletics and professional sport stadium 

 

30. The Do Minimum/BAU option (option 1 and option 2) would deliver 
improvements at the site, specifically around enhancing the football facilities 
and facilitating the potential for KDFC to achieve promotion further up the 
leagues (subject to on field performance) and driving higher projected 
revenues from the improved STP provision. However, it is projected to still 
require an operational subsidy on completion and, although KDFC is 
proposing to invest a sizeable sum (relative to their revenues/ operations) 
there is still a significant capital requirement for the Trust/ Council to meet.   
 

31. The Do Minimum/BAU option is therefore considered unsustainable and the 
projections prepared have identified potential that the overall operating 
position will only worsen over time, further increasing the subsidy requirement 
on the Trust. 
 

32. Consultation has identified multiple credible potential investors/ developer 
partners/ end users to suggest that a major development can be delivered 
without requiring the Trust or Council to provide a grant. The specific appeal 
of the Stadium site and its location is such that the economics work for these 
prospective partners in a way that would not be elsewhere in a less significant 
and appealing market, for example:  
 

 Imperial College has a strategic requirement for new sports facilities to 

serve its central campus and appeal to current and prospective 

students that goes beyond the pure investment return associated with 

sports facilities  

 QPR have a specific strategic need for a new stadium in their current 

catchment area and as a major professional club require a new long-

Page 30



term home to enable them to be sustainable as a business in the long-

term, beyond the headline returns achievable purely from the operation 

of a stadium  

 Multiple arena developers/ operators have significant appetite for a 

new venue in London, and in West London in particular. While arenas 

would typically require capital grant funding from the public sector, the 

particular economics of the London market (and the levels of corporate 

demand, sponsorship opportunities and latent promoter/ event need) 

are such that a new venue could potentially be deliverable without any 

public funding 

 

33. Options 3, 4 and 5 are all projected to have a more significant impact and be 
more financially sustainable/ generate potential revenue for the Trust. 
However all of these options necessitate the development of new buildings on 
the Stadium site, which runs contrary to the current MOL designation and as 
such will require a clear planning case based on Very Special Circumstances 
(VSC) that might be supported on this site.  
 

34. Option 3 could deliver enhanced sports facilities through a deal with Imperial 
College. While the facilities would primarily be for the use of its students, 
Imperial College intends to also make the facilities available for other club use 
(for Thames Valley Harriers and KDFC, for example) and for public use/ hire. 
While the facilities are expected to only achieve a relatively small operating 
surplus (before lifecycle), Imperial has other strategic reasons to pursue and 
develop this option, in consolidating its sports provision closer to its campus 
hub. 
 

35. Option 4 (major indoor arena) and option 5 (professional sports stadium) 
have the potential to generate higher levels of revenue and greater returns for 
the Trust, which in turn can be invested in securing significant community 
benefit in line with the Trust’s charitable objectives. Both options secure a 
long-term, improved athletics solution but we anticipate that the Trust may 
also seek to invest any receipts on also supporting its objectives beyond the 
red line boundary of the Stadium site. Option 4 is projected to have the 
highest economic impact of any of the options. 
 

36.  The analysis undertaken has particularly highlighted that there are multiple 
potential development uses that have scope to meet planning requirements 
(though noting that any development on MOL is likely to be highly 
challenging) and generate significant returns that can safeguard the retention 
of sporting facilities on the Stadium site and also be used beyond the site to 
drive additional benefit for the Borough.  
 

37. While the commercial/ financial implications of any deal for the Trust would 
need to be weighed against the social, community and sporting factors that 
can be influenced with additional revenue, the analysis suggests that there is 
significant scope to achieve significant returns which could be re-invested 
elsewhere, were the Trust so minded.  

Page 31



 
38. The OBC highlights however that there are significant planning and transport 

challenges associated with developing Option 4 and Option 5. 
 
Recommended Next Steps 

 
39. The OBC recommends moving to the next stage – procuring a partner to 

secure the community and project benefits, on the basis of allowing proposals 
that reflect options 3, 4 and 5 to come forward for evaluation. 
 

40. The analysis that IPW have completed has illustrated the significant 
complexity associated with the development decision and the likely 
compromises that the Trust will have to consider in seeking to secure a 
sustainable outcome for the Stadium site and the Trust that facilitates sporting 
and recreational use of Wormwood Scrubs.  
 

41. Given the range of considerations, benefits and compromises available under 
the alternative options, IPW believe that the Trust should seek to deliver a 
competitive procurement process to secure a partner for the development of 
the Stadium site, rather than specifying a single particular outcome. The latter 
approach would limit flexibility and creativity and, in all likelihood, the quality 
and competitiveness of the outcomes generated.  
 

42. Within this process, prospective partners would be encouraged to come 
forward with their own proposals (be they in line with the options considered in 
greatest detail in this report) for the Stadium site, that deliver on the 
community, sporting, social and financial requirements of the Trust.  
 

43. The OBC process has identified significant demand from venue developers/ 
operators, sports clubs and other current and prospective future users of the 
Stadium site. On this basis, IPW are confident that were a development 
opportunity to be marketed there would be very strong interest from a range of 
potential partners with the financial wherewithal to bring forward a scheme.  
 

44. In order to alleviate the financial burden on the Trust, and given the likely 
lead-in period associated with developing the ultimate scheme, securing 
planning consent and building the facilities themselves, IPW recommend 
moving swiftly to the procurement phase. Despite the current economic 
challenges, strong levels of demand have been expressed in the course of 
this OBC from multiple credible developers/ operators – and a clear appetite 
to move forward swiftly.  
 

45.  Any procurement competition would follow a Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (PCR) procurement process, to achieve the necessary levels of rigour 
required by the Trust. In order to deliver this process, the Trust will require 
external support to manage the competition in line with procurement best 
practice, following a competitive dialogue process. 

 
46. Trust officers will engage consultants for the next stage of the process to 

support creation of documentation, planning and project management. 

Page 32



 
47. A clear procurement process will require the development of robust evaluation 

criteria and weightings to ensure that the Trust achieves its objectives. These 
criteria will require further development in consultation with the Trust 
Committee, but they would be expected to align closely with the Trust’s 
overall objective of providing for the physical exercise and recreation of 
London. Examples of the type of criteria and objectives that could be 
considered are set out below, although these require further refinement before 
a process can begin. 
 

48. Social and community benefits  
 

1. Provision of an athletics track and field, accessible to the public and for 

the use of Thames Valley Harriers  

2. Provision of football faciliites accesibile to the public and for the use of 

KDFC 

3. Safeguarding ongoing access to facilities for existing user groups  

4. Respect and preserve the Scrubs and its public users  

5. Provide new changing facilities for teams using the Scrubs sports 

pitches  

6. Provide additional opportunities for community use and engagement  

7. Not disturb the operation of Hammersmith Hospital and the Pony Club 

 

Financial/ commercial benefits  
 

8. Ensure the Trust’s long-term financial sustainability so that it can 

continue to preserve and maintain the Scrubs  

9. Potential to generate income for the Trust in the long-term, so that any 

changes are financially sustainable 

10. Secure additional contributions to achieve wider benefits beyond the 

Scrubs and across/ beyond the Borough 

 
Legal Comments 
 
Trust Committee 
 

49. The Council is appointed as trustee for the WSCT pursuant to the Wormwood 
Scrubs Act 1879.  In accordance with section 101 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 (LGA 72) the Council has arranged for its responsibilities as trustee 
to be discharged by the Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Committee.  
Under the LGA 72 the Trust Committee is further able to delegate authority to 
take decisions as a trustee to Officers of the Council. 
 

50. The Trust Committee is a formal committee of the Council and must comply 
with the legislation applicable to Council committees as well as the Council’s 
constitution. 
 

Page 33



51. The objects of the Trust are set out in the Wormwood Scrubs Act 1879.  They 
state that:  
 

“The Metropolitan Board of Works shall hold the Scrubs upon 
trust to enable the same (except the portion or portions 
excepted as herein-after mentioned) to be used for such military 
purposes, whether camps, reviews, drills, training, exercising, 
firing, rifle ranges, or other whatsoever, as the Secretary of 
State for War from time to time directs, and subject as aforesaid, 
shall hold the Scrubs upon trust for the perpetual use thereof by 
the inhabitants of the metropolis for exercise and recreation.” 

 
52. It is important that the Trust Committee understands who the “inhaibitants of 

the metropolis” are.  Those inhabitants are the beneficiaries and the Council 
(as corporate trustee, acting through the Trust Committee for this purpose) 
holds the land on their behalf.  The Trust Committee should therefore be 
considering the interests of the beneficiaries of when they take decisions.  

 
53. The objects have not changed since 1879. In 1879, the Metropolitan 

Board of Works was the main body responsible for the government of 
“metropolis” of what is now known as “Inner London” and which includes 
Hammersmith and Fulham.  It is therefore reasonable to assume that the 
inhabitants of the "metropolis" are the inhabitants of “Inner London” at the very 
least rather than just those in the Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.  On 
this basis, it means that when taking decisions in the interests of the 
beneficiaries, the Trust Committee is not restricted to the interests of the 
residents of Hammersmith & Fulham Borough, but the interests of inhabitants 
from across Inner London who may have access to the Scrubs should be 
taken into account.   
 
Decision making process  

 
54. The Trust Committee will need to consider the OBC and make a decision on 

how to proceed.  When considering and making a decision on the OBC (and 
when making any decisions in relation to the Trust), the Trust Committee 
should take into account the Charity Commission’s guidance on decision 
making (see It’s your decision: charity trustees and decision making (May 
2013)).  This guidance provides that when making decisions trustees must:  

 
 act within their powers; 

 act in good faith and only in the interests of the charity; 

 make sure that they are sufficiently informed; 

 ignore any irrelevant factors; 

 manage conflicts of interest; 

 make decisions that are within the range of decisions that a 
reasonable trustee body would make.  

Page 34



55. Although the individuals who make up the Trust Committee are not trustees, 
but are making decisions for the Council in its capacity as corporate trustee of 
the Trust, they should still follow and comply with Charity Commission 
guidance and charity law when carrying out actions or making decisions as 
the Trust Committee.   

 
Acting within the powers of the Trust and in good faith 

 
56. The Trust Committee can only make a decision which is consistent with the 

Trust’s objects (see paragraph 48 above) and powers granted pursuant to its 
governing document and Charity law.   

 
57. As trustee, the Council has all the powers of an absolute owner of land in its 

capacity as a trustee by virtue of section 6(1) of the Trusts of Land and 
Appointment of Trustees Act 1996 save to the extent that the 1879 Act 
provides to the contrary (see section 6(6) of the 1996 Act). 

 
58. While the 1879 Act does not explicitly prohibit the sale of the Scrubs in whole 

or in part, such a prohibition is inherent in the scheme of the statute and 
therefore no sale could occur without a scheme of the Commission approved 
by a Minister and laid before both Houses of Parliament (see section 73 of the 
Charities Act 2011). However, it doesn’t appear that the 1879 Act as prevents 
the Council from leasing part of the Scrubs and therefore the Council (as 
trustee) has power to grant leases by reason of section 6(1) of the 1996 Act. 

 
59. Although there are no governance provisions in the Governing Document of 

the Trust, the Trust Committee should ensure that they are complying with the 
powers delegated to them in their Terms of Reference and Scheme of 
Delegation. In particular, the Trust Committee needs to decide whether the 
arrangements that have been put in place (i.e. setting up the the Trust 
Committee in line with Charity Commision recommendations and the Scheme 
of Delegation and Terms of Reference and the membership of the Trust 
Committee) are sufficient to deal with any conflicts of interest. 

 
60.  When making the decision regarding the OBC, the Trust Committee must 

ensure that it is within the powers of the Council as trustee (as set out above) 
and that it is in the best interests of the Trust. 
 

61. Options 3, 4 and 5 contemplate substiantial redevelopment of the Scrubs. 
While (as set out above) this is within the Council’s powers as trustee (as they 
have all the powers of the absolute owner of the land) including the ablity to 
lease the Stadium, it must be clear that this is in pursuit of the Trust’s objects 
(as set out in paragraph 51). 
 

62. As the Trust is required to hold the Scrubs for “perpetual use thereof by the 
inhabitants of the metropolis for exercise and recreation” the Trust Committee 
needs to consider how each of the options outlined above achieve this. The 
Stadium in its current guise is not open land and therefore the Trust’s objects 
are achieved through holding professional sports events which allow for the 
attendance of spectators (recreation of the inhabitants of the metropolis) and 

Page 35



through the hiring out of the various connected sports pitches and facilities 
(exercise of the inhabitants of the metropolis). While Options 3, 4 and 5 meet 
the objects in a similar way through the allowing the attendance of spectators 
to concerts or sporting events and hiring out of facilities, the Trust Committee 
should ensure it understands the detail of the options and how those options 
specifically discharge the Trust’s objects. 
 

63. When a decision has been made about which option to pursue, (on 
completion of the procurement selection) it will be prudent to go back to the 
Charity Commission and inform it of the decision that has been made and the 
proposed next steps.  It is at this stage that the Charity Commission may look 
into how and why the Trust Committee came to this decision and whether a 
Scheme or Order will be required.     

 
Trustees to be sufficiently informed  

 
64. It will be for the Trust Committee to decide what the relevant factors are, in 

light of the circumstances existing at the time when taking the decision on the 
OBC.  The Charity Commission's 2013 guidance referred to above provides 
that the relevant factors (many of which are considered above) could include: 

 

 is the decision in the best interests of the charity? 

 is the decision consistent with the objects? 

 have the trustees had regard to the Charity Commission’s public benefit 
guidance? 

 do the trustees have the relevant powers? 

 have alternatives been considered? 

 have they taken professional advice? 

 the risks/benefits of the proposed decision? 

 the reputational risks? 

 will the decision affect the future ability of the charity to carry out its 
objects? 

 does the charity have sufficient funds to carry through the decision? 

 has there been consultation? 

 will there be an opportunity to withdraw from the decision at any stage? 
 

65. The Trust Committee will need to consider - in the circumstances existing at 
the time – which factors are irrelevant.  This is closely linked with conflicts of 
interest/loyalty and essentially requires the Trust Committee to identify and 
disregard any factors which may affect their ability to make an objective 
decision.  This could include their role as an employee of the Council, their 
personal preference (as a local resident) or the opinions of families and 
friends regarding the future of the Stadium or any knowledge of the 
preference of Senior Council Officers.   

 
Within the range of decisions a reasonable trustee body could make  

 
66. If the Trust Committee has followed the relevant guidance and can evidence 

that it has complied with trustee duties appropriately, it is likely that decision 

Page 36



will be within the range of decisions that a reasonable trustee would or could 
have made.   

 
Charity Commission requirments for the disposal of the land 

 
67. The Scrubs (and therefore the site that the Stadium sits on) is designated land 

(land which the governing document stipulates must be used for the purposes 
of the Trust). As a result the Trust will need to comply with the provisions of 
the Charities Act 2011 regarding the diposal of designated land. There are 
also certain provisions in the Charities Act 2011 regarding the disposal of land 
by “longer lease” (leases for more than 7 years) which will also need to be 
complied with. The details of these are set out below. 

  
68. Section 117 of the Charities Act generally prevents charities from disposing of 

charity land without an order of the court of the Charity Commission unlesy 
the disposal is exempted by this section and the rleveant requirements have 
been complied with.  
 

69. Where a charity is disposing of property by way of a “long lease” it may be 
exempted from the general prohibition if it complies with the requirements of 
section of section 119(1) of the Charities Act 2011  
 

70. Section 119(1) provides that trustees must (before entering into any 
agreement for disposal): 
 

 obtain and consider a written report from a qualified surveyor; 

 advertise the disposal following advice from the surveyor; and  

 decide that they are satisfied that the proposed terms are the best that 
reasonably be obtained in the circumstances of the disposal. 

 
71. In addition, as the Trust would be disposing of designated land, it would need 

to comply with section 121 of the Charities Act 2011 which provides that 
public notice inviting representations must be given for at least a month and 
any represenations about the proposed disposition must be take into account.  
 

72. Usually, the disposal of designated land by the means of a lease of longer 
than 2 years will require a scheme granted by the Charity Commission. 
However, as the Stadium site only comprises of a small part of the overall 
Scrubs, its disposal will not affect the ability of the Trust to carry out its 
purposes, it has the power to make such a disposal and theTrust has taken 
legal advice, the Charity Commission are unlikely require a scheme. However, 
it would still be advisable to contact the Charity Commission and set out the 
steps taken to confirm that no orders are required before the final disposal is 
made.  
 

73. The documents for the disposals of the land must contain certain statements 
(known as certificates) made by the trustee(s) including:  
 

 whether the land is held by the charity or on trust for the charity; and 

Page 37



 where the transaction is subject to the statutory requirements or whether 
the charity is exempt or the transaction comes within section 117(3) of the 
Charities Act 2011. 
 

Budgets 
 

74. The Council approved the use of £397,000k of CIL funding to be awarded to 

the Trust to develop the business case. To date, £154,500 has been 

expended. This leaves £243,000 of budget which is sufficient to complete a 

procurement process should the Trust Committee approve this 

recommendation. 

 
 

Page 38



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Linford 
Christie 
Stadium 

 

 

OBC Executive 
Summary 

Prepared by 
 
 
 
 
 

September 2020 

Page 39



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

i 

 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 

1.1 IPW… was appointed by the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham (the Council) on 

behalf of The Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust (the Trust) in January 2020 to deliver a 

Business Case that identifies (a) preferred option(s) for the future of Linford Christie Outdoor 

Sports Stadium (LCOSS).  

1.2 The Business Case will enable the Trust Committee to decide on what action should be taken 

and how the Trust’s resources might be best used to deliver the best outcomes for LCOSS and 

the site.  

1.3 The Strategic Outline Case (SOC) was completed in March 2020, identifying a shortlist of five 

development options based on their high-level appeal and strategic fit, scored based on their 

ability to achieve each of the five Critical Success Factors identified for the project. 

1.4 The Outline Business Case (OBC) confirms the options being considered and provides a 

detailed analysis of the key financial and non-financial implications of each, to identify (a) 

preferred option(s) for the long-term future use of the site. In line with the Treasury five case 

model, the OBC addresses: 

1. Strategic case - a robust strategic case to demonstrate strategic fit and rationale for 

action/change, based on the information collated at the SOC stage and, where 

appropriate and applicable, further expanded based on information gathered at the OBC 

stage; 

2. Economic case - a clear, ratified set of shortlisted project options evaluated based on 

their appropriateness against a rounded, project-specific, evaluation framework; 

3. Commercial case - considers potential procurement strategy/ options and contractual 

terms; 

4. Financial case - sets out financial information and commentary on potential affordability 

considerations (including costs, revenues, other funding and financial risks) derived by 

IPW…’s analysis combined with additional, specialist input from other advisors; and 

5. Management case - has a clear view on how the project will be managed and governed 

including key risks, particularly given the unique characteristics and challenges of the site. 

1.5 We would highlight that, as we understand at this stage, there will be no public money 

invested or put at risk in developing the project. As such this is not a traditional Business Case 

insofar as it is not expected to form the basis of a funding application or decision.  

1.6 We have however followed the Treasury model to bring rigour, analysis and structure to the 

process of determining the most viable long-term uses of the site, to enable the Council (as 

corporate Trustee) to ultimately, we anticipate, tender a development opportunity in such a 

way as to maximise its financial and non-financial returns. 

1.7 The process set out in this OBC therefore is intended to assist in identifying some of the more 

viable uses that are considered likely to come forward should the Trust wish to engage a 

private sector partner, and exploring how they might ultimately stack up financially and be 

procured.  

Page 40



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

ii 

 

Project background and Critical Success Factors 

1.8 LCOSS is an ageing facility and does not meet the requirements of its tenants and of other 

users. Significant investment is required to maintain and improve the facilities. 

1.9 The Trust currently subsidises the operations of LCOSS at c. £30,000 per annum, and the 

Council is currently spending c. £300,000 a year (average of last four years) in subsidy as 

shown at Table ES2 below, while continuing to provide some capital investment in the 

facilities. The Council is currently facing a number of financial pressures and has indicated 

that it may not be able to continue providing this level of subsidy in the future. 

Table ES1  Summary financial performance of LCOSS (2016/17 to 2019/20) 

Activity 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20* 

Fees and Charges £168,000 £123,000 £99,000 £113,000 

Total Income £168,000 £123,000 £99,000 £113,000 

Salaries £159,000 £164,000 £170,000 £181,000 

Stadium Running Costs £38,000 £80,000 £46,000 £67,000 

Maintenance and Equipment £61,000 £11,000 £46,000 £35,000 

Support Services £57,000 £41,000 £83,000 £3,000 

Misc. £3,000 £2,000 £5,000 £8,000 

Capital Charges £140,000 £145,000 £136,000 £136,000 

Total Expenditure £458,000 £443,000 £486,000 £430,000 

Cost to Trust £32,000 £32,000 £32,000 £32,000 

Cost to Council £258,000 £288,000 £355,000 £285,000 
* Forecast figures 

NB Figures are rounded 

Source: Accounts data provided by the Council, January 2020 

1.10 Without the Council's subsidy, the Trust would be reliant on its own income and reserves to 

maintain and operate the facilities which would be problematic. Notwithstanding that the 

facility requires significant investment and it will be extremely challenging for the Trust to 

invest the necessary capital to continue to provide an athletics stadium and other sporting 

facilities of the required standard and quality, and indeed maintain the ongoing revenue 

requirement.  

1.11 The Trust currently has limited available capital to invest into the site and improve its facilities 

so therefore has reviewed a number of options for the future of the site.  

Conclusions – Strategic Case, Part 1 

2.1 There remains a very strong need for quality sports and leisure facilities both in the 

immediate LCOSS catchment and across Hammersmith & Fulham. As the largest current STP 

site, and the only athletics track, in the Borough, the facilities serve a key strategic purpose 

and demand. However, the current facilities do not meet user requirements from either the 

key tenants of the site or general public use, driving a real need for investment to modernise 

the site and make it fit for purpose.  

Page 41



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

iii 

 

2.2 There is a clear strategic case for interventions at the site, based on the weight of public 

consultation feedback, and the wider value of the Stadium and the wider Scrubs as hugely 

important strategic assets for Hammersmith & Fulham, Borough residents, and West London.  

2.3 In order to ensure any sporting facilities can be sustainable long-term there is a requirement 

for interventions to secure the future of the Trust in a way that would not be possible 

without financial input from the Council. This means seeking to generate new capital and 

revenue to reduce/ remove the current obligations. 

2.4 As a development of MOL and given the sensitivities of the site, any scheme will likely face 

challenges related to mitigating negative ecological impacts (associated with any increased 

use of the site) and the implications that this has for planning. As such it will be important to 

explore and implement a series of investments and interventions to minimise any negative 

impact and the ability of any scheme to generate ongoing income for the Trust to enable it to 

continue to deliver on its charitable objectives should therefore be considered highly 

important. 

2.5 The site clearly faces multiple development challenges, but the presence of existing users, 

proximity of potential synergistic partners across education and health, and the initial 

interest in the site from multiple prospective new stakeholders, creates a series of interesting 

and exciting opportunities that can potentially be leveraged to deliver a quality, sustainable, 

long-term solution for the site. Any ultimate determination will however need to balance the 

community, social and sporting enhancements that can be delivered with potential 

compromises in terms of the overall use of the site and the Scrubs. 

Conclusions – Strategic Case, Part 2 

3.1 Based on analysis of the wider strategic backdrop for LCOSS and the potential for 

interventions that can provide solutions for the social, sporting and community requirements 

while balancing financial considerations, we have developed a series of options potentially 

available for the site. 

3.2 The initial shortlist of facilities identified at the SOC stage has been reviewed, to establish and 

test need/ demand, confirm physical fit on site (within the red line boundary), review the 

likely associated capital costs, and explore the likely market appetite from prospective 

partners. 

3.3 This has led to a series of refinements to the shortlist at the OBC stage, to best reflect the 

potential of alternative options to meet the Trust’s objectives and, crucially, be deliverable 

and financially sustainable. In light of these refinements, the shortlisted options considered in 

further detail in this OBC are therefore: 

• Option 1A: Do Nothing/ Business As Usual (BAU) 

• Option 1B: Do Minimum 

• Option 3A: Athletics & sports centre including pitch hub 

• Option 5: Athletics & indoor arena 

• Option 6: Athletics & professional sport stadium.  

Page 42



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

iv 

 

3.4 These options respond to the strategic analysis presented above and to the consultation 

previously commissioned. They provide a range of challenges and opportunities, reflecting 

the issues inherent in this project and in the site’s designation as MOL, in particular. 

3.5 Given the nature of this appointment, this list of options is not intended to be exclusive or 

definitive, and subject to the Trust’s wishes as the project advances there is potential scope 

for alternative iterations, mixes of facilities and alternative site configurations. However, they 

provide a robust basis for testing the likely implications of development at the site. 

3.6 We would highlight, for example, that were Option 3A to come forward it may be possible to 

deliver the Sports Centre component in the location of the current changing block to avoid 

moving the athletics track, but this would ultimately be subject to a determination with key 

project stakeholders – in this instance most notably Imperial College. At this stage in the 

process we have however illustrated a single site configuration for each option for indicative 

layout and initial commercial analysis purposes. 

3.7 The athletics track provision is retained under all options, given the strategic importance of 

this provision as the only track in the Borough and as the home of Thames Valley Harriers.  

3.8 Option 1B is KDFC’s preferred solution insofar as it delivers their pitch scheme as previously 

shared with the Trust and which has planning position. A hybrid grass pitch is however not 

included in any of the other options as it is assumed that in order to maximise usage that STP 

provision is preferable, since a hybrid pitch cannot be heavily used and indeed will, largely, 

only be available to KDFC. KDFC will have the option to remain on the site under all the other 

options, albeit this would need to be: 

• On the pitch in the centre of the track under Option 1A, 3A, 5 or 6 (though this is not 

appropriate for higher divisions than currently) 

• On the pitch in the centre of the track or a 4G pitch (subject to formal league approval) 

under Option 3A or 5. 

3.9 Consultation has identified multiple credible potential investors/ developer partners/ end 

users to suggest that a major development can be delivered without requiring the Trust or 

Council to provide a grant. The specific appeal of the site and its location is such that the 

economics work for these prospective partners in a way that would not be elsewhere in a less 

significant and appealing market, for example: 

• Imperial College has a strategic requirement for new sports facilities to serve its central 

campus and appeal to current and prospective students that goes beyond the pure 

investment return associated with sports facilities 

• QPR have a specific strategic need for a new stadium in their current catchment area and 

as a major professional club require a new long-term home to enable them to be 

sustainable as a business in the long-term, beyond the headline returns achievable purely 

from the operation of a stadium 

• Multiple arena developers/ operators have significant appetite for a new venue in 

London, and in West London in particular. While arenas would typically require capital 

grant funding from the public sector, the particular economics of the London market (and 

the levels of corporate demand, sponsorship opportunities and latent promoter/ event 

Page 43



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

v 

 

need) are such that a new venue could potentially be deliverable without any public 

funding. 

3.10 In developing the OBC we have identified a number of key constraints and dependencies 

associated with the potential development of the LCOSS site. These are primarily driven by 

planning and transport factors. In order to address these issues, Savills (planning) and Arup 

(Transport) were engaged to advise on key implications and headline potential mitigation 

strategies.  

3.11 The Report considers the full range of planning matters relevant to the Development Options 

and particularly highlights two matters that will heavily influence the success of a planning 

application, these being the loss of sporting facilities and the impact on MOL.  

3.12 The second issue is concerned with impact on the MOL which directly relates to the nature of 

some of the uses (namely non-sporting) and the amount of built form(s) over and above what 

currently exists at the site. The proposed indoor sporting and non-sporting facilities (leisure 

and entertainment) are uses that are not considered to be acceptable in MOL (without Very 

Special Circumstances - VSC) and will thus be more challenging to justify. Options 3A, 5 and 6 

introduce new built forms into the site which would have an impact on the ‘openness ‘of the 

Site.  

3.13 A planning consent will require demonstration of VSC. The VSC case to be made will be 

bespoke to the proposal and must be able to clearly demonstrate that the harm created is 

outweighed. This baseline understanding and contextual analysis helps to understand the 

potential opportunities to maximise the socio-economic benefits associated with 

redevelopment of the LCOSS, including benefits beyond the red-line boundary. These are 

likely to include, inter alia: 

• Overall improvement of existing facilities 

• Safeguarding the long-term viability of sport facilities at the site (and in the Borough) 

• Increased direct on-site employment 

• Potential for Community Use Agreements and better engagement of facilities with local 

community including local education facilities 

• Increased visitor and off-site expenditure (see the Financial Case). 

3.14 The review concludes that Option 3A is expected to be accommodated with minimal 

mitigation required (car parking reviews, installation of Legible London signage), and as such 

is not anticipated to be constrained from a transport perspective.  

3.15 Options 5 and 6 are expected to significantly increase trip attraction to the site by all modes 

of transport. There is limited scope for physical mitigation in the local area to address the 

impact of Options 5 and 6 however improvements to pedestrian underpasses at the junction 

of Wood Lane/ A40 may be necessary. There will also need to be a number of agreements 

with local stakeholders such as the Council and TfL as well as potentially with local 

landowners (Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College). 

3.16 Mitigation for Options 5 and 6 is therefore expected to focus on operational aspects to 

ensure safe and acceptable activity on the local transport networks. The operational 

measures are not limited to but may include management of pedestrian flows, parking and 

Page 44



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

vi 

 

Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) reviews, street cleaning following events, a bus and coach 

strategy and coordination with TfL to manage activity at stations. 

Conclusions – The Economic Case 

4.1 The economic dimension of the OBC has identified the proposals that are considered likely to 

deliver best overall value for the Trust, including wider social and environmental effects as 

well as commercial/ economic considerations, using cost benefit analysis (CBA).  

4.2 The projected costs of developing each of the shortlisted options is summarised in Table 1 of 

the confidential appendix to this Executive Summary. 

4.3 Detailed P&L projections have been prepared for each of the shortlisted options, based on 

the IPW… team’s experience, local and national benchmarks and other data and information 

collated during this appointment. Table 2 of the confidential appendix to this Executive 

Summary summarises the base case operating projections for each of the five core options 

modelled. This compares the projected EBITDA under each option to illustrate the high-level 

operating positions over each of the first five years (the development options are projected 

to reach maturity in Year 3). The analysis projects that: 

• Option 1A is the worst overall operating position 

• Option 1B delivers improvements relative to the BAU option 

• Options 3A, 5 and 6 are projected to achieve an operating surplus, before making 

provision for Lifecycle (NB this moves Option 3A to an operating loss) 

• The sports facility-related losses are marginal in the context of a major arena/ stadium 

development EBITDA. 

4.4 The approach to the economic assessment within this OBC focuses on the relative economic 

contribution or impact of the options. As funding across the options is expected to be private 

sector led with no direct public sector cost the analysis does not present standard HMT Green 

Book metrics. This analysis may become relevant if associated public sector infrastructure 

expenditure is required to progress the development options. 

4.5 However, the Trust and the Council need to secure best value given their respective 

objectives. Hence the economic assessment includes metrics such as changes in financial net 

operating revenues, changes in associated footfall and sports use and local economic 

contribution of the options. The data on the throughput and use of facilities, financial 

position and regeneration metrics will need to be weighed up in considering the relative 

merits of the options, and the extent to which they deliver best value. As the project 

progresses these choices should be examined in more detail. 

4.6 The economic analysis prepared in the course of the OBC is based on the P&L projections for 

each option with supporting assumptions. The impact target is defined as Hammersmith and 

Fulham local authority area with broad assumptions about the extent to which the local area 

could capture on and off-site economic activity.  

4.7 The options impact analysis shows that Option 5 generates the largest incremental footfall 

and GVA economic contribution followed by Option 6 and then Option 3A. Options 3A, 5 and 

6 all provide a positive net operating position for the Trust and Council. However, for Option 

Page 45



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

vii 

 

3A this is relatively small in comparison to the income generated by more intensive uses of 

the site under Options 5 and 6. 

4.8 Whilst the significant development options (3A, 5 and 6) have the potential to reduce the 

current operating deficit for the Trust the most significant regeneration benefits arise from 

Options 5 and 6. 

4.9 Given the nature of the Trust’s varying objectives and requirements, and the high likelihood 

that compromises will be required to balance these issues, we do not believe that a single 

preferred option can be identified at this stage in the process. Instead, the Trust will, we 

recommend, need to market the opportunity and encourage partners to come forward with 

proposals that have potential to maximise benefit while, where possible, limiting the negative 

implications of development.  

4.10 The options have been compared to one another based on an analysis of the Trust’s key 

drivers and objectives for the project, determined through the application of Relative 

Importance Grids across project stakeholders to determine priority criteria. Table ES2 below 

summarises, at a high level, the indicative outcomes of the options appraisal matrix. 

Table ES2  Summary outcomes – options appraisal matrix 

Anticipated planning complexity/risk rating      

          

Indicative complexity of transport issues      

 

Criteria Option 1A Option 1B Option 3A Option 5 Option 6 

Financial and economic 4.0 8.0 16.0 40.0 32.0 

Non-Financial 32.4 40.2 43.6 25.0 25.4 

Overall 36.4 48.2 59.6 65.0 57.4 

Overall percentage of maximum score 36% 48% 60% 65% 57% 

Rank 5 4 2 1 3 

 
4.11 This illustrates that the BAU option is the least positive of the options. It also particularly 

highlights that the Imperial College sports, professional sports stadium and arena 

development options (3A, 5 & 6) have varying strengths and shortcomings/ challenges. 

4.12 The three development schemes are considered most likely to give the overall best 

outcomes, against the evaluation criteria developed during this process, and are closely 

grouped. This is however indicative and subject to further testing from the Trust – we would 

expect that the Trust will not be so prescriptive as to determine a single option but instead 

will consider alternative proposals brought forward by prospective partners through a 

competitive process. 

4.13 We would however highlight that Option 6 and, in particular, Option 5 are considered very 

challenging in deliverability terms due to the planning restrictions and potential transport 

implications associated with these developments. 

Conclusions – The Commercial Case 

5.1 The initial project management structures for the development of any scheme must 

recognise that the Trust itself has no direct staff and that in effect the Council provides the 

resources to engage and deliver any of the tasks of the Trust. It is assumed that the Council 

Page 46



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

viii 

 

will provide the resources to engage and deliver any of the tasks of the Trust under a scheme 

of delegation from the Trust Committee. 

5.2 It is advised that Trust should employ experienced advisors on the procurement and the 

development options being sought. This advice would be supported by specialist technical 

input on planning, design, costs and legal issues (either through Bevan Brittan as the Trust’s 

appointed legal advisors or another practice, if required). In effect, the Trust has already 

appointed a team to undertake these tasks and these can be continued through the 

procurement and contracting stage.   

5.3 We believe the best route will be for a competitive procurement process (competitive 

dialogue under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR), a similar process under the 

Concession Contracts Regulation 2016, or light regime PCR) where the Trust and its advisors 

engage in a dialogue/ negotiation with the potential partners so as to maximise the 

community benefits and financial payments that would flow from the proposed scheme.   

5.4 Whilst it is potentially possible to seek a relatively simple development competition seeking 

to dispose of a long leasehold sale of the land, we believe greater engagement with the 

development partners will both maximise the outcomes for the Trust and increase the 

likelihood of a successful development coming forward.   

5.5 Once the procurement process has selected a preferred development and operating partner 

it will be for that partner to drive forward the design and planning permissions to deliver the 

facilities. The Trust will need a level of support to ensure that its interests are being protected 

but most of the risk and costs associated with the design and planning process would, we 

anticipate, be undertaken by the development partner.   

5.6 The ultimate management solution for the facilities will be specific to the development 

solution procured. However, under Options 3A, 5 and 6 it is assumed that operations and risk 

are taken by a partner organisation and therefore cease to be the responsibility of the Trust. 

5.7 Based on feedback from prospective partners, there is a clear appetite to commence a 

competitive process as early as possible. In order to maximise interest from the market, it is 

important that any competitive process is designed and implemented in such a way that 

partners are confident in the speed and fairness of a competition. 

Conclusions – The Financial Case 

6.1 Given the financial situation of the Trust and the fact that it will not be able to continue with 

the current operating position at LCOSS if the Council withdraws its financial contributions, it 

has become necessary to consider whether operating LCOSS in this manner is the best way of 

discharging the Trust’s objects or if other interventions will better achieve this. 

6.2 As such, we have prepared a series of operating projections for the uses that have been 

tested in the course of this OBC, noting that this list of options does not preclude alternative 

proposals coming forward.  

6.3 Option 1B is the only option that is anticipated to require a Trust/ Council capital grant 

contribution, as currently modelled. Options 3A, 5 and 6 are assumed to not require any 

capital grant contribution or ongoing revenue subsidy from the Trust or the Council. 

Page 47



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

ix 

 

6.4 We have engaged closely with a number of prospective partners/ developers in the course of 

undertaking this work, to gauge their interest in the opportunity and their appetite to 

participate in a commercial procurement process (should the project advance) to deliver new 

facilities at the site. This has highlighted significant market appetite to develop projects of 

differing scales and nature at the site, subject to the specific drivers of each organisation. 

6.5 The aim/ anticipation is that any major development interventions will be funded without a 

(capital or revenue) grant from the Trust or from public sector parties, and the Financial Case 

therefore responds specifically to the unique characteristics of the LCOSS project and of the 

Trust’s needs rather than forming the basis of a public sector ‘ask’ or funding requirement. 

Conclusions – Management Case 

7.1 Once the procurement process has selected a preferred development and operating partner 

it will be for that partner to drive forward the design and planning permissions to deliver the 

facilities. The Trust will need a level of support to ensure that its interests are being protected 

but most of the risk and costs associated with the design and planning process would, we 

anticipate, be undertaken by the development partner.   

7.2 The ultimate management solution for the facilities will be specific to the development 

solution procured. However, under Options 3A, 5 and 6 it is assumed that operations and risk 

are taken by a partner organisation and therefore cease to be the responsibility of the Trust. 

Conclusions and Next Steps 

8.1 Based on feedback from prospective partners, there is a clear appetite to commence a 

competitive process as early as possible. In order to maximise interest from the market, it is 

important that any competitive process is designed and implemented in such a way that 

partners are confident in the speed and fairness of a competition. 

8.2 Any solution procured should seek to maximise the benefits for the Trust – with potential 

financial benefits converted into interventions that benefit the public, in line with its 

charitable status. 

8.3 Per the terms of the WSA, the Trust’s objectives relate to delivering “exercise and 

recreation… [for] the inhabitants of the metropolis” through the Scrubs. While we would 

expect the Trust to first consider the interests of the beneficiaries based in the communities 

adjacent to the Scrubs (as these are the individuals who are more likely to use the Scrubs) the 

remit extends beyond this locale and as such any solution should consider the needs of both 

the immediate surroundings and of the wider catchment. This should also extend to 

capturing any benefits associated with the development, including the potential to realise 

wider improvements to the leisure and recreation offer. 

8.4 A clear procurement process will require the development of robust evaluation criteria and 

weightings to ensure that the Trust achieves its objectives. These criteria will require further 

development, but we would expect them to align closely with the Trust’s overall objective of 

providing for the physical exercise and recreation of London. 

  

Page 48



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

x 

 

Social and community benefits 

1. Provision of an athletics track and field, accessible to the public and for the use of 

Thames Valley Harriers 

2. Safeguarding ongoing access to facilities for existing user groups 

3. Respect and preserve the Scrubs and its public users 

4. Provide new changing facilities for teams using the Scrubs sports pitches 

5. Provide additional opportunities for community use and engagement 

6. Not disturb the operation of Hammersmith Hospital and the Pony Club 

Financial/ commercial benefits 

7. Ensure the Trust’s long-term financial sustainability so that it can continue to preserve 

and maintain the Scrubs 

8. Potential to generate income for in the long-term, so that any changes are financially 

sustainable 

9. Secure additional contributions to achieve wider benefits beyond the Scrubs and across/ 

beyond the Borough. 

Next steps 

8.5 The analysis that we have completed has illustrated the significant complexity associated with 

the development decision and the likely compromises that the Trust will have to consider in 

seeking to secure a sustainable outcome for LCOSS and the Trust (and by extension the 

Council) that facilitates sporting and recreational use of Wormwood Scrubs. Assuming that 

the OBC is approved, the project will move into Phase 3 – Procurement. 

8.6 Given the range of considerations, benefits and compromises available under the alternative 

options, we believe that the Trust should seek to deliver a competitive procurement process 

to secure a partner for the development of the site, rather than specifying a single particular 

outcome. The latter approach would, we anticipate, limit flexibility and creativity and, in all 

likelihood, the quality and competitiveness of the outcomes generated.  

8.7 Within this process, prospective partners would be encouraged to come forward with their 

own proposals (be they in line with the options considered in greatest detail in this report) for 

the site, that deliver on the community, sporting, social and financial requirements of the 

Trust. 

8.8 The OBC process has identified significant demand from venue developers/ operators, sports 

clubs and other current and prospective future users of the site. On this basis, we are 

confident that were a development opportunity to be marketed there would be very strong 

interest from a range of potential partners with the financial wherewithal to bring forward a 

scheme.  

8.9 In order to alleviate the financial burden on the Trust, and given the likely lead-in period 

associated with developing the ultimate scheme, securing planning consent and building the 

facilities themselves, we recommend moving swiftly to the procurement phase.  

8.10 Despite the current economic challenges, strong levels of demand have been expressed in the 

course of this OBC from multiple credible developers/ operators – and a clear appetite to 

move forward swiftly. 

Page 49



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

xi 

 

8.11 We anticipate that any procurement competition would follow a PCR (or if applicable the 

Concession Contracts Regulations 2016) competitive procurement process to achieve the 

necessary levels of rigour required by the Trust. In order to deliver this process, we expect 

that the Trust will require external support to manage the competition in line with 

procurement best practice.  

Page 50



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Linford 
Christie 
Stadium 

 

 

Outline 
Business Case 

Prepared by 
 
 
 
 
 

September 2020 

Page 51



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

 

 

Contents 
 
 

1. Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 1 

2. The Strategic Case, Part 1: Overview .................................................................................................. 5 

3. The Strategic Case, Part 2: Exploring the options ............................................................................. 24 

4. The Economic Case ........................................................................................................................... 47 

5. The Commercial Case ........................................................................................................................ 54 

6. The Financial Case ............................................................................................................................. 59 

7. The Management Case ..................................................................................................................... 60 

8. Summary ........................................................................................................................................... 63 

 

 

Appendix 
Under separate cover 

A. Site location and local area 

B. Indicative site layouts 

C. Planning considerations report (Savills) 

D. Transport considerations report (Arup) 

E. Summary of Relative Importance Grid outcomes 

F. Capital cost projections (Core Five) 

 

Page 52



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Strategic Outline Case  

 

1 

 

1. Introduction 

Overview 

1.1 IPW… was appointed by the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham (the Council) on 

behalf of The Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust (the Trust) in January 2020 to deliver a 

Treasury five case model Business Case, to identify (a) preferred option(s) for the future of 

Linford Christie Outdoor Sports Stadium (LCOSS).  

1.2 The Council is corporate trustee of the Trust. As a result, it acts as the decision-maker for the 

Trust but in its capacity as “trustee” as opposed to its capacity as a Local Authority, more 

generally. 

1.3 The Business Case will enable the Trust Committee to decide on what action should be taken 

and how the Trust’s resources might be best used to deliver the best outcomes for LCOSS and 

the site.  

1.4 The Strategic Outline Case (SOC) was completed in March 2020, identifying a shortlist of five 

development options based on their high-level appeal and strategic fit, scored based on their 

ability to achieve each of the five Critical Success Factors identified for the project. 

1.5 This Outline Business Case (OBC) confirms the options being considered and provides a 

detailed analysis of the key financial and non-financial implications of each, to identify (a) 

preferred option(s) for the long-term future use of the site. In line with the Treasury five case 

model, the OBC addresses: 

1. Strategic case - a robust strategic case to demonstrate strategic fit and rationale for 

action/change, based on the information collated at the SOC stage and, where 

appropriate and applicable, further expanded based on information gathered at the OBC 

stage; 

2. Economic case - a clear, ratified set of shortlisted project options evaluated based on 

their appropriateness against a rounded, project-specific, evaluation framework; 

3. Commercial case - considers potential procurement strategy/ options and contractual 

terms; 

4. Financial case - sets out financial information and commentary on potential affordability 

considerations (including costs, revenues, other funding and financial risks) derived by 

IPW…’s analysis combined with additional, specialist input from other advisors; and 

5. Management case - has a clear view on how the project will be managed and governed 

including key risks, particularly given the unique characteristics and challenges of the site. 

1.6 We would highlight that, as we understand at this stage, there will be no public money 

invested or put at risk in developing the project. As such this is not a traditional Business Case 

insofar as it is not expected to form the basis of a funding application or decision.  

1.7 We have however followed the Treasury model to bring rigour, analysis and structure to the 

process of determining the most viable long-term uses of the site, to enable the Council (as 

corporate Trustee) to ultimately, we anticipate, tender a development opportunity in such a 

way as to maximise its financial and non-financial returns. 

Page 53



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Strategic Outline Case  

 

2 

 

1.8 The process set out in this OBC therefore is intended to assist in identifying some of the more 

viable uses that are considered likely to come forward should the Trust wish to engage a 

private sector partner, and exploring how they might ultimately stack up financially and be 

procured.  

The site 

1.9 LCOSS forms part of Wormwood Scrubs. The plan in Appendix A shows the site’s location in 

the context of the Scrubs as a whole. The stadium and associated land covers c. 6.5 hectares, 

representing just under 10% of the overall 90 hectares of the Scrubs.  

1.10 LCOSS officially opened in September 1970 as the West London Stadium, but was in use from 

November 1968. It was given its present name in 1993 following the success of Linford 

Christie at the 1992 Barcelona Olympics, as a former member of the Thames Valley Harriers 

(tenants at the Stadium). It is currently used by other local sports clubs, schools and the 

public.  

1.11 The stadium site is closed and locked when not in use. Public access to the stadium is in 

practice controlled, and to some extent restricted. This accords with what has been the 

position for almost all the period since the Wormwood Scrubs Act (WSA) was passed: the 

stadium site has been used successively as a rifle range, an airship garage, civil defence 

headquarters, and currently as the stadium. 

1.12 The site currently includes sports playing and changing facilities, including; a 400m athletics 

track (and field facilities), all weather five a side and hockey pitches (Synthetic Turf Pitches – 

STPs), a clubhouse for Thames Valley Harriers (athletics club), a club house and changing 

facilities for Kensington Dragons FC (KDFC), changing facilities for those using the stadium and 

the sports pitches on the Scrubs.  

1.13 The stadium and pitches on the Scrubs are managed by the Council’s Parks & Leisure 

department on behalf of the Trust, however the income and expenditure are not recognised 

within the Trust’s accounts and instead is managed and monitored within the Council.  

1.14 There is also car parking available which is used by people visiting the Scrubs, using the LCOSS 

and visiting Hammersmith Hospital, and does not form part of the stadium itself. The Hospital 

also leases a part of the car park from the Trust. 

Project background and Critical Success Factors 

1.15 LCOSS is an ageing facility and does not meet the requirements of its tenants and of other 

users. Significant investment is required to maintain and improve the facilities. 

1.16 The Trust currently subsidises the operations of LCOSS at c. £30,000 per annum, and the 

Council is currently spending c. £300,000 a year (average of last four years) in subsidy, while 

continuing to provide some capital investment in the facilities. The Council is currently facing 

a number of financial pressures and has indicated that it may not be able to continue 

providing this level of subsidy in the future. 

1.17 Without the Council's subsidy, the Trust would be reliant on its own income and reserves to 

maintain and operate the facilities which would be problematic. Notwithstanding that the 

facility requires significant investment and it will be extremely challenging for the Trust to 

invest the necessary capital to continue to provide an athletics stadium and other sporting 

Page 54



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Strategic Outline Case  

 

3 

 

facilities of the required standard and quality, and indeed maintain the ongoing revenue 

requirement.  

1.18 The Trust currently has limited available capital, to invest into the site and improve its 

facilities so therefore has reviewed a number of options for the future of the site. This OBC 

builds on the initial work completed at the SOC stage to establish robust recommendations as 

to the potential future of the site. 

Project Team 

1.19 The Project Team consists of: 

• IPW… as the Lead Business Case consultant 

• Core Five as cost consultants 

• Holmes Miller as architect 

• Arup as transport consultant 

• Savills as external planning advisors 

• Bevan Brittan as the Trust’s Legal Advisors 

• Trust representation, in the form of the Council Officer delegated by the Trust to manage 

the process. 

1.20 Arup, Core Five, Holmes Miller and Savills were procured and added to the Business Case 

advisor team (managed by IPW…) to deliver the necessary specific expertise at the OBC stage. 

They were selected based on their experience and insight advising on the key types of option 

emerging from the SOC, to facilitate robust analysis of the options and help to determine 

appropriate recommendations. 

Structure of this OBC 

1.21 This OBC is structured as follows: 

• Sections 2 and 3 present the Strategic Case 

• Section 4 sets out the Economic Case 

• Section 5 considers the Commercial Case 

• Section 6 introduces the Financial Case 

• Section 7 presents the Management Case 

• Section 8 provides a summary of the OBC and establishes the key next steps in the 

analysis and delivery process. 

  

Page 55



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Strategic Outline Case  

 

4 

 

Contact 

1.22 For further information about the content of this OBC document please contact: 

Nick Russell 

Director 

Tristan Pople 

Senior Consultant 

nickrussell@ipw3.com 

07802 831 374 

tristanpople@ipw3.com 

07944 046 392 

IPW… 
46 Aldgate High Street 

London 
EC3N 1AL 

Page 56

mailto:nickrussell@ipw3.com
mailto:tristanpople@ipw3.com


Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

5 

 

2. The Strategic Case, Part 1: Overview 

Organisational overview 

2.1 The Trust is a Victorian Charity established and governed by the Wormwood Scrubs Act 

(WSA), 1879. The Council is the sole trustee of the Trust. The Trust’s key objective as defined 

by the WSA is to provide for the physical exercise and recreation of London. Within this, and 

under the WSA, the Scrubs is held by the Council “for such military purposes as the [MOD] 

from time to time directs, and… for the perpetual use thereof by the inhabitants of the 

metropolis for exercise and recreation.” 

2.2 Responsibility for the management of the Trust rests with the Wormwood Scrubs Charitable 

Trust Committee of the Council. This consists of three Councillors and two co-opted 

members, advised by senior Council officers. 

2.3 As filed with the Charity Commission: 

“The Trust seeks to encourage sporting and recreational use of Wormwood Scrubs through 

the provision and maintenance of an environment that is conducive to its objective. In 

addition to supporting the recreational activities provided by the Council through the Linford 

Christie stadium, the Trust’s main activity relates to the maintenance of the Scrubs itself.“ 

2.4 The Trust therefore wants to continue to provide the open space and exercise facilities on the 

Scrubs, and in particular see the sports facilities at LCOSS improved as they are currently at 

the end of their life and are not financially-sustainable. 

2.5 At the beginning of the process, the Trust set out the following objectives for any changes to 

the site: 

i. Continue to provide an athletics track and field, accessible to the public 

ii. Continue to provide facilities for Thames Valley Harriers 

iii. Continue to provide access to facilities for existing user groups, and be mindful of key 

users of the Scrubs 

iv. Provide new changing facilities for teams using the Scrubs sports pitches 

v. Provide additional opportunities for community use and engagement 

vi. Not disturb the operation of Hammersmith Hospital and the Pony Club 

vii. Leave the Trust in a sustainable financial position for the long term 

viii. Have the potential to generate income in the Long Term, so that any changes are 

financially sustainable 

ix. Enable the furthering of the Trust’s objectives. 

2.6 The Trust Committee also expects any proposals to respect the ecological value of the Scrubs 

as a whole, including its role as an urban nature reserve. The business case should assess 

each option against its impact on the ecological and environmental importance of the Scrubs. 

2.7 The Business Case process includes an assessment of whether it is possible for any proposal 

to meet these objectives.  

Page 57



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

6 

 

Revisiting the Strategic Outline Case and confirming the short-list 

2.8 The Business Case process is iterative, and as further work is completed it is important to 

revisit earlier work to verify its continued applicability. At the outset of the OBC phase, the 

IPW… team therefore revisited the SOC and in particular the rationale behind the paring back 

of the longlist to identify the shortlist, in light of the Trust’s key strategic objectives and the 

project CSFs. 

2.9 In order to revisit and re-test the options considered at the longlisting (SOC) stage, IPW… 

completed a Red Amber Green (RAG) analysis of the longlist – per Project Business Case 

Guidance. This analysis is summarised at Table 2.1 overleaf.

Page 58



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

7 

 

Table 2.1  Revisiting the shortlisting process 

Longlist option 

1. Preserve 

the 

environment/ 

minimise 

ecological 

impact 

2. Support 

public 

physical 

activity and 

leisure uses 

3. Deliver 

quality 

facilities for 

tenant users 

4. Must not 

impact critical 

day-to-day 

operations of 

Hospital and 

Prison 

5. Achieve a 

financial/ 

economic 

return for the 

Council & 

Trust 

TOTAL 

RED 

TOTAL 

AMBER 

TOTAL 

GREEN 

Mothball site AMBER RED RED AMBER AMBER 2 3 0 

Do Minimum/ Business As Usual AMBER AMBER AMBER GREEN  1 3 1 

Disposal RED RED RED RED GREEN 4 0 1 

Major renovation – athletics & sports centre AMBER GREEN GREEN AMBER GREEN 0 2 3 

Athletics & sports centre incl. ice rink/ football AMBER GREEN GREEN AMBER GREEN 0 2 3 

Athletics & sports centre plus Performance Box AMBER GREEN GREEN   0 3 2 

Professional sport stadium (plus athletics) RED AMBER GREEN RED GREEN 2 1 2 

Indoor arena (plus athletics) RED AMBER GREEN RED GREEN 2 1 2 

Hybrid arena/ stadium venue (plus athletics) RED AMBER GREEN RED RED 3 1 1 

 

P
age 59



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

8 

 

2.10 On completion of this review we were able to confirm that: 

• The case for change and necessity for intervention(s) at the site stands 

• The Project Team’s approval of the SOC was not conditional on changes or adjustments 

to the project 

• Although this work was undertaken in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic (and resulting 

facility closures and social distancing measures) there are no major long-term material 

changes to the strategic case – though the easing of restrictions and implications for 

(particularly) indoor sport and entertainment will require monitoring 

• No other key elements of the project have changed. 

2.11 On this basis, the shortlisted options to be analysed further and explored further at the OBC 

stage are therefore confirmed as: 

• Do Minimum/ Business As Usual (BAU) 

• Major renovation – athletics & sports centre 

• Athletics & sports centre incl. ice rink/ football 

• Athletics & sports centre plus Performance Box 

• Athletics & professional sport stadium 

• Athletics & indoor arena.  

Strategic context/ pertinent strategies 

2.12 In order to understand the strategic context within which the site operates, and the issues 

impacting the Trust’s (and the Council’s) aspirations for LCOSS, IPW… completed a review of 

key strategic documents and other research/ data/ benchmarking tools. 

2.13 Key strategic documents and resources reviewed in preparing this SOC include: 

• Hammersmith & Fulham Industrial Strategy – “Economic Growth for Everyone” 

• Blueprint for a Physically Active City (London Sport) 

• Everybody Active, Every Day 

• Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2016-21 

• LB Hammersmith & Fulham Parks & Open Spaces Strategy 2008-18 

• LB Hammersmith & Fulham Physical Activity Strategy 2017-21 

• Towards An Active Nation Strategy (Sport England) 

• London Sport Insight Portal data. 

  

Page 60



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

9 

 

2.14 The Council’s Industrial Strategy – “Economic Growth for Everyone” sets out the Council’s 

ambition to make Hammersmith & Fulham the best place to do business in Europe, centres 

around four priorities, including: ‘ 

• Turning Hammersmith & Fulham into ‘West Tech’, a beacon for innovation and growth 

and a leading place for tech and creative businesses, education and research focused on 

the new innovation district emerging at White City. This includes a Growth Partnership 

between the Council and Imperial College London 

• Encouraging enterprise to make Hammersmith & Fulham the best borough in Europe for 

business to start up, survive and grow and the Council will consider new funding 

approaches, including business rate reductions in key locations and sectors, and the 

establishment of a tech/ creative venture capital fund 

• Improving the Borough’s town centres and commercial hubs to create A Great Place in 

London, transforming what they offer and enhance Hammersmith & Fulham’s reputation 

in Europe and beyond. This includes plans to support, enhance and promote a vibrant 

arts, cultural and leisure scene to make the Borough an even better place to work and 

play and reviewing local licensing to support the night time economy 

• Delivering economic growth for all residents. This includes leveraging relationships with 

key anchor institutions in the Borough, including Imperial, to deliver improvements. 

2.15 The document sets out the basis for achieving growth in the Borough – most pertinently 

partnering with existing major organisations based in Hammersmith & Fulham (critically 

including Imperial College) to increase the Borough’s appeal as a place to live, work and play. 

2.16 The Blueprint for a Physically Active City (London Sport – launched 2015; refreshed 2017) 

sets out an ambition for London to become the most physically active city in the world. It 

explores the foundations that make London special and unique, but also the serious 

challenges the city faces including a changing/ increasing population, new and different 

personal expectations, and new social trends - issues that impact health, transport and the 

economy as well as physical activity and sport. 

2.17 The Blueprint establishes the framework around which London Sport’s strategy, focus and 

commitments are developed, to support Londoners to become happier, healthier (physically 

and mentally) and more prosperous through physical activity and sport. 

2.18 The Blueprint identifies a series of key challenges that London faces, most notably including: 

• High rates of inactivity - 38% of adults in London do not meet Chief Medical Officer 

physical activity guidelines, putting them at a higher risk of chronic disease, premature 

death, and lower quality of life 

• Leisure facilities and open space - London has around half the number of leisure facilities 

(on a per cap basis), as well as a relative shortage of open space, compared with the rest 

of the UK 

• Public sector cuts – All 33 Local Authorities in London have needed to make substantial 

reductions in their expenditure, with inevitable implications on the amount spent on 

physical activity and sport in London. 

Page 61



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

10 

 

2.19 The following key strategic areas are highlighted: 

• Making it easier for Londoners to find the right activity, stay in it, and achieve their 

potential. 

• Supporting grassroots organisations by making the sector simpler and better. 

• Championing the development of a bigger and better workforce to support activity. 

• Harnessing the power of elite sport to create sustained grassroots activity and inspire the 

next generation of talent. 

2.20 Everybody Active, Every Day (Public health England – 2014) identifies a series of physical and 

mental health problems requiring interventions to resolve. Around half of women and a third 

of men in England are damaging their health through a lack of physical activity (costing the 

economy an estimated £7.4bn a year) and over 25% of women and 25% of men do less than 

30 minutes of physical activity a week, therefore being classified as 'inactive'. 

2.21 In addition to the physical health considerations, depression is increasing in all age groups 

and people who are inactive have three times the rate of ‘moderate to severe’ depression of 

active people. 

2.22 The document identified four particular areas where interventions are needed to increase 

levels of activity. Most pertinently for LCOSS (and The Scrubs), it highlights the importance pf 

active environments/ creating the right spaces – noting that land use has a big impact on 

health - green spaces, playgrounds and cycle lanes all encourage people to be active every 

day. 

2.23 Public Health England highlighted the fact that it has worked with partners including the LGA 

and UK active through a programme of regional fora to support and energise action at a local 

level and continue to build capacity across the public health system to deliver change. 

2.24 The Council’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 sets out its vision for a people-

centred health and social care system that supports communities to stay well, consistently 

providing the high quality care and support people need, when they need and enabling 

communities to stay healthy and independent. It notes that the Borough’s population 

exhibits high rates of smoking, alcohol use, poor diet and STIs, and low levels of physical 

activity. 

2.25 Hammersmith & Fulham is fortunate to have many beautiful parks and green spaces that 

provide opportunities for exercise and relaxation. The Council is however keen to use its 

planning powers to design out crime and increase levels of physical activity. 

2.26 The Strategic Assessment of Need for Artificial Grass Pitch (STP) Provision in London 2017 – 

2041 (Sport England Facilities Planning Model – 2017) sets out the supply of, and demand for, 

full size STPs for both hockey and football in a combined assessment. This is based on the 

type of surface suitable for each sport; and the hours available for club and wider community 

use at each of the individual pitch sites for each sport. 

2.27 The Assessment includes an analysis of the scale of demand which is met (satisfied demand); 

the scale and location of any unmet demand; an estimate of how heavily used/ full the STPs 

are; and the local share of STPs by residents. 

Page 62



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

11 

 

2.28 The model highlights that, based on the participation rates and frequency of participation for 

both football and hockey, London’s population generates a total demand for 303 full size 

STPs in the weekly peak period in 2017, which is projected to increase to a total demand for 

339 STPs by 2041.  

2.29 This compares with a total supply of full size STPs in London of 184 in 2017 and 185 

(projected) in 2041, indicating a significant shortfall in provision/ satisfied demand across 

London.  

2.30 The Facilities Planning Model (FPM) assessment identifies need for an extensive increase in 

provision of STPs to meet demand in 2017 and projected demand in 2041, illustrating that 

the existing supply has to be retained and protected as well as increasing access to the 

equivalent of the 43 STPs on education sites currently which are currently not available for 

community use. 

2.31 Hammersmith & Fulham (35% satisfied demand in 2017) is in the bottom five London 

Boroughs when ranked by lowest level of satisfied demand (Westminster 25%, Hackney 31%, 

Kensington & Chelsea 31%, Camden 34%). Other KPIs that we would highlight include: 

• Hammersmith & Fulham contains the equivalent of 1.6 full size STPs (NB this figure is 

scaled to take account of hours available for community use) 

• The LCOSS site features a full-size STP and multiple small-sided pitches; the Borough’s 

only other full-size STP is at Burlington Danes Academy, which is on a site adjacent to 

LCOSS 

• The Borough is below the London-wide provision on a per capita basis (0.1 pitches per 

10,000 people, compared to 0.2 pitches overall across London) 

• There is unmet demand (i.e. a need for a further) 6.5 pitches in the Borough currently, 

rising to over 7 pitches in 2041 

• The Borough’s STPs exhibit high levels (i.e. a large percentage of usage) of imported 

demand, reflecting that the pitch locations are near to a lot of demand in neighbouring 

authorities. 

2.32 The London Sport Insight Portal (accessed 2019) provides a comparison in levels of sports 

facility provision (and ownership) across London Boroughs. The graphics overleaf highlight 

the levels of provision in Hammersmith & Fulham relative to other boroughs, illustrating that 

it has lower total provision than most other boroughs (NB this does not illustrate a per capita 

basis). 

  

Page 63



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

12 

 

Figure 2.1  Sports hall provision in London boroughs 

 

There are 25 sports halls 

in Hammersmith & 

Fulham. This is the sixth 

fewest of any London 

Borough 

 
Figure 2.2  Grass pitch provision in London boroughs  

 

There are 61 grass 

pitches in Hammersmith 

& Fulham (a large 

percentage of which are 

located on the Scrubs) 

 

Figure 2.3  Local Authority-owned sports facilities in London boroughs 

 

There are six Local 

Authority-owned 

public sports facilities 

in Hammersmith & 

Fulham. This is the 

fourth fewest of any 

London Borough 

  

Page 64



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

13 

 

 
Figure 2.4  Education establishment-owned sports facilities in London boroughs 

 

There are 59 sports 

facilities owned by 

education 

establishments in 

Hammersmith & 

Fulham 

 
2.33 Hammersmith & Fulham’s Parks & Open Spaces Strategy 2008-18 (NB the Strategy has not 

been replaced on its expiration and is understood to still represent the Council’s strategic 

position) encompasses all public and private open spaces across the Borough including parks, 

open spaces, housing open land and civic spaces. It was based on the results of audits, 

surveys and ongoing consultation and aligned with key national and regional guidance on 

open space. 

2.34 The Strategy was intended to coordinate improvements in provision, quality, management, 

and accessibility and to promote the use and enjoyment of parks and open spaces to more 

individuals and groups in the community.  

2.35 The Strategy set out a vision and six key priorities for open space in the Borough, as follows: 

• Vision: To improve the quality of life for all people in Hammersmith and Fulham through 

the provision of award-winning parks and open spaces that are clean, green, safe and 

sustainable, by: 

− Protecting existing open space 

− Providing open spaces, play spaces and access to local biodiversity. 

− Creating safe, attractive and accessible spaces for all 

− Improving the standard of management and maintenance. 

− Actively involving the community in their local open spaces. 

− Increasing participation in (sic) open spaces. 

2.36 The Council’s Community Sport & Physical Activity Strategy 2017-21 sets out the route to 

achieve the Council’s aspiration to make Hammersmith & Fulham the most physically active 

borough in London. 

  

Page 65



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

14 

 

2.37 The Borough has a high number of private sports and leisure facilities per head of population 

compared to London overall. This might contribute to the recorded ‘club membership’ 

measure being almost 50% higher than the London average (22.5%). Hammersmith & Fulham 

has amongst the highest amount of swimming provision per head in London when compared 

to other boroughs, though the majority are not publicly accessible. 

2.38 The Strategy identifies priority themes, as follows: 

• A greater focus on tackling inactivity 

• Ensuring every child grows up with positive attitudes to sport and physical activity 

• Help active people to remain so at a lower cost to the public purse 

• Support residents and the community to create more grassroots physical activity 

• Creating improved physical environments that encourage increased activity 

• Develop an evidence-based approach to inform policy decisions to make best use of 

resources. 

2.39 Many of these themes directly link to what can be achieved at LCOSS (as one of the major 

publicly available leisure facilities in the Borough) and on the wider Scrubs. 

Strategic document implications 

2.40 The LCOSS site and the wider Scrubs have key potential strategic significance for West 

London. This includes its potential role in delivering accessible sports and leisure provision to 

meet community need, through to its scope to deliver major regeneration and realise 

financial returns for the Trust and Council. 

2.41 The future development of the site should heed the wider opportunities and the potential 

role that new provision could play in supporting public health, activity and mental health 

initiatives, and the implications for the Borough’s economy and strategic development 

aspirations clearly set out in the Industrial Strategy.  

2.42 Any development solution should consider: 

• how publicly-accessible sports facilities can be delivered on the site, given the financial 

constraints facing the Trust and the Council 

• the potential for off-setting any loss of sporting facilities through investing in other 

facilities off-site/ elsewhere in the Borough 

• the social and economic benefits, in quantitative and qualitative terms, to the community 

including recreational / sporting benefits 

• the need for and benefits of any development at a strategic level (i.e. Borough-wide, 

Greater London) 

• the impact on the MOL, specifically its openness and attractiveness. 

  

Page 66



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

15 

 

Public survey data 

2.43 In March 2019 the Council and Trust launched a joint public consultation, which ran to June 

2019. The Council promoted the consultation widely, through social media and its website, 

and through letters sent to residents who live in the four wards north of Goldhawk Road. 

2.44 Over 8,700 completed questionnaires were received, with over 80% of respondents 

supporting the Trust or the Council completing a major redevelopment as their preferred 

option.  

2.45 The consultation responses also showed majority support for the Trust/ the Council to 

consider making provision for professional (77%) and community sports (73%), and as a 

venue for major entertainment events (52%).  

2.46 The key summary findings are set out below. 

Figure 2.5  Survey respondents’ connection to the Linford Christie Stadium 

 
 

2.47 26% of those explicitly stated that they had an ‘other connection’ to the stadium identified 

themselves as QPR fans. 

Figure 2.6  Survey respondents’ preferred interventions at the Linford Christie Stadium 

 
 

  

Page 67



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

16 

 

Figure 2.7  Survey responses: What kind of uses should the Council and the Trust consider?  

 
NB Respondents were encouraged to identify all types of use that they felt should be considered for the site’s future 

2.48 Across the full dataset, professional sports (76%) and community sports (72%) were the two 

uses most frequently identified as meriting consideration. While all groups of respondents 

were keen for the Council and Trust to consider these two prospective uses, the data shows 

that community sport was most important for local users (76% - the highest priority) and 

professional sport was least favoured locally (68%) with Borough, London and UK-based 

respondents exhibiting an increasingly high preference for these uses. This is summarised at 

Table 2.2 overleaf. 

Table 2.2  Survey respondents’ primary development concerns 

Origin 

% of 

respondents 

Community 

sport 

Pro. 

Sports 

Athletics 

track 

Entertainment 

venue Conference 

Local 18.8% 76.0% 67.9% 48.7% 43.5% 24.8% 

H&F 3.9% 74.9% 69.9% 49.7% 42.1% 26.9% 

London 47.4% 72.4% 73.2% 43.3% 48.5% 27.5% 

UK 27.2% 68.9% 88.3% 37.8% 63.6% 40.2% 

Abroad 1.3% 66.7% 84.7% 43.2% 57.7% 36.0% 

Unknown 1.5% 31.5% 40.0% 20.0% 26.9% 11.5% 

Grand Total 100% 72% 76% 43% 51% 30% 
NB Totals are rounded and may not tally. Minor variation from Figure 2.7 data above as relates to all respondents, whether 

answered question or not 

2.49 Figure 2.8 overleaf summarises the primary concerns of respondents related to the potential 

development of the site. This includes a number of the key social implications of a 

development. 

  

Page 68



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

17 

 

Figure 2.8  Survey respondents’ primary development concerns 

 
 

2.50 While it was the second most important factor overall (as shown at Figure 2.8), the 

importance of preserving biodiversity fell the further away from the site that respondents 

lived. The most local respondents were also more concerned about the impact on hospital 

operations, parking and the effect of large audiences than any other group. This is 

summarised in Table 2.3 below. 

Table 2.3  Survey respondents’ primary development concerns, by origin/ location 

Origin 
% of 

respondents 

Preserving 

biodiversity 

Employment/ 

training 

opportunities 

Traffic 

mgmt 

Impact of 

large 

audiences 

Parking 

impact 

Hospital 

impact 

Vicinity 18.8% 55.0% 64.1% 41.5% 37.6% 30.2% 36.5% 

H&F 3.9% 52.3% 69.0% 36.3% 33.3% 22.8% 33.6% 

London 47.4% 45.9% 68.6% 43.2% 34.3% 27.9% 32.5% 

UK 27.2% 35.1% 80.1% 51.1% 32.1% 36.7% 28.2% 

Abroad 1.3% 39.6% 71.2% 45.0% 40.5% 31.5% 22.5% 

Unknown 1.5% 20.8% 34.6% 23.1% 12.3% 15.4% 13.1% 

Total 100.0% 44.5% 70.4% 44.5% 34.1% 30.4% 31.7% 

 

  

Page 69



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

18 

 

2.51 Further analysis of the qualitative data shows over 35% of responses (c. 3,200) received were 

made by Queens Park Rangers Football Club (QPR) supporters, having been encouraged by 

the Club to engage in the public consultation process (NB this has been gauged by identifying 

those responses mentioning QPR in the qualitative response to Q10 – the total could be 

significantly higher). Table 2.4 below illustrates that this has influenced the overall results 

given that c. 95% of those explicitly identified as QPR advocates were in favour of major 

redevelopment of the site (compared to 72% of non-QPR fans, which is still a very significant 

number) which shaped the overall 80% majority of respondents in favour of the major 

development option. 

Table 2.4  Development option preferences – all responses and QPR advocates 

 All responses  QPR fans/ advocates 

Development option Count %  Count % 

1. Do nothing  110 1%  28 1% 

2. Improve the current facilities 1,561 18%  153 5% 

3. Major redevelopment 7,020 80%  3,018 94% 

Not Answered 91 1%  26 1% 

Grand Total 8,782 -  3,225 - 

 
2.52 The survey data shows clear and compelling public support for significant interventions in the 

site, with a large majority of survey respondents being in favour of major redevelopment of 

the site. It also highlights the vocal support for delivering a long-term home for QPR in the 

Borough, moving away from Loftus Road. 

Existing arrangements 

2.53 LCOSS and the Scrubs are currently used by a series of clubs (Thames Valley Harriers Athletics 

Club, KDFC, Chiswick Hockey Club and London Baseball League) and by public users.  

2.54 The current financial position is summarised overleaf in Table 2.5. This illustrates that the 

facilities are operating at an average shortfall of c. £330,000 per annum, of which c. £30,000 

is met by a Trust contribution. The Council is responsible for the balance of the shortfall each 

year, as well as other facility investment (capital contributions) as and when required.  

  

Page 70



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

19 

 

Table 2.5  Summary financial performance of LCOSS (2016/17 to 2019/20) 

Activity 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20* 

Fees and Charges £168,000 £123,000 £99,000 £113,000 

Total Income £168,000 £123,000 £99,000 £113,000 

Salaries £159,000 £164,000 £170,000 £181,000 

Stadium Running Costs £38,000 £80,000 £46,000 £67,000 

Maintenance and Equipment £61,000 £11,000 £46,000 £35,000 

Support Services £57,000 £41,000 £83,000 £3,000 

Misc. £3,000 £2,000 £5,000 £8,000 

Capital Charges £140,000 £145,000 £136,000 £136,000 

Total Expenditure £458,000 £443,000 £486,000 £430,000 

Cost to Trust £32,000 £32,000 £32,000 £32,000 

Cost to Council £258,000 £288,000 £355,000 £285,000 
* Forecast figures 

NB Figures are rounded 

Source: Accounts data provided by the Council, January 2020 

2.55 In addition to this annual operating shortfall (met by the Trust and the Council), all the 

current facilities are in a poor condition and in need of significant repair and investment. As 

such, the current operation is unsustainable in financial terms for the Trust (with no means of 

increasing its income) without the support of the Council. The car parking revenues 

associated with the site are excluded from these figures (see below). 

2.56 The Council does not keep records on the total throughput at the site, though it does operate 

a booking system which provides an indication of how well used the facilities are – both 

overall and on a space-by-space basis. These bookings are summarised below in Table 2.6 for 

the most recent full year for which records are available. 

Table 2.6  Summary of LCOSS bookings – 2018/19 

Facility component/ space 
No. of 

bookings 
Average users per booking 

(IPW… estimate) 
2018/19 

Centre Pitch 83 50 4,200 

5-a-side STPs (total) 1,133 12 13,600 

Full-size STP 444 26 11,500 

Netball  17 12 200 

School Training 62 50 3,100 

Sports Day 23 500 11,500 

Top Training Area 14 20 300 

Track 264 50 13,200 

Total  2,040 - 57,600 
Bookings information provided by Council (June 2020). Estimates of average users per booking based on IPW… assumptions 

given type of facility 

NB Figures are rounded 

 

Page 71



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

20 

 

2.57 Based on the bookings information provided by the Council, IPW… estimates that the LCOSS 

facilities have a throughput of c. 55-60,000 users per annum (across c. 2,000 bookings) 

excluding those people using the changing rooms to play on the grass football pitches on the 

Scrubs. 

Spending objectives 

2.58 The Trust is currently providing c. £30,000 per annum as a contribution towards the 

Stadium’s operation. The Council is subsidising the operation of the Stadium, and therefore 

the Trust, by c. £300,000 a year in revenue terms, while continuing to provide capital 

investment in the facilities. The Council’s financial resources are under severe strain due to 

ongoing austerity, even before the COVID-19 challenges of Spring/ Summer 2020. In the light 

of the Council’s own funding position it has confirmed that it may not be able to continue 

providing its subsidy in the future. 

2.59 Without the Council’s subsidy, the Trust would have to rely on its own income and reserves 

to maintain and operate the facilities. This is against a backdrop of the (generally) loss-making 

nature of the Trust overall, highlighted in Table 2.6 below. 

Table 2.6  Summary financial history of the Trust (2015-2018) 

Year Income Spending Annual Position 

2015 £718,000 £725,000 -£7,000 

2016 £679,000 £738,000 -£59,000 

2017 £699,000 £736,000 -£37,000 

2018 £1,072,000 £774,000 £298,000 

Source: Charity Commission filings 

NB No figures filed for 2019 accounts as of 30/07/2020. All totals are rounded. 

2.60 In addition to the contribution towards LCOSS’s operations, the primary expenditure of the 

Trust is made up of: 

a) Maintenance of the Scrubs (through the idverde contract) 

b) Governance and other costs. 

2.61 Council officers are focusing on reducing the net expenditure of the Trust in the short, 

medium and long term. Increased income is being targeted through initiatives to optimise use 

of the scrubland. Expenditure is restricted to a few significant budget lines. 

2.62 The Trust draws its income primarily from car parking revenues and also, in the wake of the 

Grenfell Tower fire, from a short-term hire of part of the Scrubs for use by Kensington 

Aldridge Academy (KAA). There are two car parks delineated within the Stadium’s ‘red line’ 

site boundary. This includes a public Pay & Display car park and a separately controlled car 

park for Hospital use (the NHS has a licence which the Trust can terminate). 

2.63 The Trust’s financial position for 2019/20 is summarised in Table 2.7 overleaf. 

  

Page 72

https://beta.charitycommission.gov.uk/charity-details/?regid=1033705&subid=0#:~:text=Aims%20%26%20activities,Linford%20Christie%20stadium%2C%20the%20Trust%3F


Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

21 

 

Table 2.7  Summary of Trust’s current annual financial position (unaudited) 

Activity 2019/20 actual 2019/20 budget 

Pay & Display parking meters £325,000 £300,000 

Hospital icar park (NHS lease) £347,000 £354,000 

Maintenance and Equipment £322,000 £321,000 

Total Income £994,000 £975,000 

   

Grounds maintenance £747,000 £772,000 

NB Figures are rounded 

2.64 With the KAA payment in place, the Trust is projected to achieve a surplus of c. £250,000 in 

2019/20. However, Table 2.6 illustrates that the Trust typically operates at an average annual 

shortfall of c. £35,000 (average of 2015-2017) and when the KAA payment ceases it will again 

lose money each year and is not able to generate the necessary revenue to cover LCOSS’s 

operating subsidy. 

2.65 At the same time as facing an ongoing (and likely worsening) revenue funding challenge, the 

site needs major investment to bring it up to modern standards and it will be challenging for 

the Trust to continue to provide athletics and other sporting facilities of sufficient quality 

without an injection of capital and ongoing revenue resources. 

2.66 A key objective of any interventions and investment at the site is therefore that it removes/ 

reduces the current ongoing revenue burden from the Trust and the Council and, ideally, 

delivers an incremental surplus that can be invested elsewhere by both parties. As part of 

this, analysis will need to consider the potential impact of any loss of car parking spaces (and 

resulting revenue) within the bigger picture, as well as the other development implications. 

Strategic Risks 

2.67 As previously noted, this OBC was prepared during the COVID-19 outbreak and ensuing 

market challenges and lockdown. At the time of writing (August 2020) the economic 

consequences of the pandemic, short and long-term, are still subject to speculation. Our 

working assumption for this document therefore has been that by the time of the proposed 

opening of any significant redevelopment of the site, the sports, leisure and entertainment, 

markets will have re-established themselves to 2019 levels. 

2.68 Beyond this headline market challenge/ project risk, we have identified the following 

potential strategic risks which will impact any solution at the site (other than continuing with 

the current arrangements and facilities precisely as they are): 

• Balancing strategic want/ need with financial imperatives: The Trust has specific 

objectives, and there are clear strategic sporting needs in the Borough. However, without 

some compromises over development it may not be possible to balance the two (largely 

competing) factors 

• Partner/ bidder appetite does not materialise: In any development solution the strength 

of prospective development partners (i.e. commercial operators) will be critical, 

particularly in the short term with their commercial appetite and financial wherewithal to 

engage in a procurement process for the site opportunity 

Page 73



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

22 

 

• Partner/ tenant user requirements change fundamentally: The long-term strength of user 

groups such as Thames Valley Harriers and KDFC will be key, in light of changing market 

conditions and potential impact on members and usage requirements 

• Operational requirements fundamentally impact design: The project is at a stage where it 

is possible to design in physical and operational requirements/ best practice to ensure 

visitor safety from COVID-19 (or other similar situations) whilst providing an enjoyable 

experience 

• Potential Ministry of Defence (MoD) issues: We understand that it will be necessary to 

secure an updated MoA with the MoD, prior to commencing any development (or 

procurement) though this is not considered to be a significant risk 

• Charity Commission issues: The implementation of the ultimate solution will need to be 

compliant with the terms of the WSA. We have had some initial discussions with Bevan 

Brittan in the course of completing this OBC and ensuring that any development provides 

for the provision of continued exercise and recreation of London residents 

• Planning-related issues: Subject to the option(s) pursued, there are likely to be planning-

related issues associated with any development on the site, given its MOL status and its 

sporting use. This is likely to require demonstration of Very Special Circumstances (VSC). 

See Appendix C for further information 

• Mitigating potential negative transport impacts: The transport assessment completed as 

part of this OBC process has highlighted the potential challenges associated with the site, 

and the importance of engaging with the Council’s planning team and TfL to mitigate any 

potential issues and concerns. See Appendix D for further information 

• Mitigating potential negative ecological impacts: The Trust is understandably focused on 

ensuring that any impact on the ecology of the Scrubs is minimised under any 

development. Any solution should seek to deliver both design and operational 

interventions to preserve the ecology of the Scrubs. 

2.69 These risks should be monitored and managed should any procurement and development be 

pursued. 

Conclusions – Strategic Case, Part 1 

2.70 There remains a very strong need for quality sports and leisure facilities both in the 

immediate LCOSS catchment and across Hammersmith & Fulham. As the largest current STP 

site, and the only athletics track, in the Borough, the facilities serve a key strategic purpose 

and demand. However, the current facilities do not meet user requirements from either the 

key tenants of the site or general public use, driving a real need for investment to modernise 

the site and make it fit for purpose.  

2.71 There is a clear strategic case for interventions at the site, based on the weight of public 

consultation feedback, and the wider value of the Stadium and the wider Scrubs as hugely 

important strategic assets for Hammersmith & Fulham, Borough residents, and West London.  

2.72 There is also a financial necessity to redevelop the site based on the fact that the Trust and 

Council cannot continue to underwrite the ongoing annual operating losses (at a total of c. 

£350,000 per annum across the parties). In order to ensure any sporting facilities can be 

sustainable long-term there is a requirement for interventions to secure the future of the 

Page 74



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

23 

 

Trust in a way that would not be possible without financial input from the Council. This 

means seeking to generate new capital and revenue to reduce/ remove the current 

obligations. 

2.73 As a development of MOL and given the sensitivities of the site, any scheme will likely face 

challenges related to mitigating negative ecological impacts (associated with any increased 

use of the site) and the implications that this has for planning. As such it will be important to 

explore and implement a series of investments and interventions to minimise any negative 

impact and the ability of any scheme to generate ongoing income for the Trust to enable it to 

continue to deliver on its charitable objectives should therefore be considered highly 

important. 

2.74 The site clearly faces multiple development challenges, but the presence of existing users, 

proximity of potential synergistic partners across education and health, and the initial 

interest in the site from multiple prospective new stakeholders, creates a series of interesting 

and exciting opportunities that can potentially be leveraged to deliver a quality, sustainable, 

long-term solution for the site. Any ultimate determination will however need to balance the 

community, social and sporting enhancements that can be delivered with potential 

compromises in terms of the overall use of the site and the Scrubs. 

Page 75



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

24 

 

3. The Strategic Case, Part 2: Exploring the options 

Introduction 

3.1 Section 2 established the strategic backdrop for this OBC, highlighting in particular the 

commercial drivers for the Trust (in terms of challenges around its long-term financial 

sustainability) and for the Council (as providers of an annual subsidy at LCOSS) and 

summarised the key strategic documents and demand considerations that will impact any 

Trust decision regarding future provision on the site. 

3.2 This section builds on this initial strategic analysis and explores the case for each of the 

options to be considered further in the course of this OBC. 

Options considered 

3.3 The SOC included an initial assessment of a series of longlisted development options to 

achieve the Trust’s strategic aspirations for the LCOSS and the wider site. Based on the SOC 

analysis completed by the Project Team, the following development options were 

recommended for progression to the OBC stage (in no particular order): 

• Option 1: Do Nothing/ Do Minimum 

• Option 2: Major renovation - athletics & sports centre 

• Option 3A: Athletics & sports centre including football hub 

• Option 3B: Athletics & sports centre including ice rink  

• Option 4: Athletics & sports centre plus Performance Box 

• Option 5: Athletics & indoor arena 

• Option 6: Athletics & professional sport stadium.  

3.4 As outlined in section 2, this shortlist was subsequently revisited and ratified at the outset of 

this OBC stage.  

3.5 Under all development scenarios there is the aspiration that the site continues to provide a 

home for Thames Valley Harriers (as a leading national athletics club) and for KDFC. 

3.6 The athletics track at LCOSS is one of 47 synthetic tracks in London (per Active Places Power), 

and the only track in Hammersmith & Fulham. Even as an ageing track in need of significant 

enhancement, it serves a key strategic role given the shortage of these facilities. As such, it is 

considered critical that an athletics track is retained at the site. 

3.7 KDFC currently play on the pitch in the centre of the athletics track (as well as using the 

pitches on the Scrubs heavily), and use clubhouse facilities that are incorporated into the 

overall changing block. 

Refining the shortlist 

3.8 As the options were explored further through the design process, cost assessment and 

further strategic and expert analysis from IPW… and the wider advisor team at the OBC stage, 

we have determined that the following shortlisted options should be removed from 

consideration: 

• Option 2 - Major renovation athletics and sports centre: In light of spatial analysis and the 

ability to incorporate/ retain additional football pitch provision under this option, there is 

Page 76



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

25 

 

effectively very little difference between this option and Option 3A. As such the more 

significant option (i.e. Option 3A - the one with greater football pitch provision) is 

retained and Option 2 is removed from the analysis; 

• Option 3B - Athletics & sports centre including ice rink: In light of capital cost projections 

developed by Core Five (based on a similar scheme in a directly comparable London 

location) and an initial review of the likely returns achievable from a standalone single 

pad ice rink, it is considered highly unlikely that the ice rink would be a positive financial 

contributor to the project and instead would detract from the financial returns. This cost 

projection has been based on the cost of a comparable single pad ice rink concept 

developed for Lee Valley on a very similar site, where it would also be necessary to satisfy 

Very Special Circumstances. Lower cost modular build options are available which would 

have the potential to improve the overall economics of this component (subject to the 

specifics of planning requirements) and ultimately make it a feasible option. However, 

based on the currently-projected cost, and despite the potential strategic need for ice in 

West London, it is deemed less likely to generate a sufficient surplus to fund the scheme 

and achieve a return for the Trust and is therefore removed from further analysis at this 

stage; 

• Option 4 - Athletics & sports centre plus Performance Box: In light of further market 

analysis and a review of the local market (including presence of existing comparable 

facilities in the Borough) and the likely levels of commercial return available for the Trust 

(relative to the cost of the building) the Performance Box is considered less likely to 

deliver on the required objectives for the project. On this basis it is removed from further 

analysis at this stage though there may ultimately be scope for the Trust to consider this 

option further as it comes time to procure a development opportunity. 

3.9 In July 2020, the Trust agreed in principle to a development proposal brought forward by 

KDFC for the site. The Club wishes to build a new high quality (grass or hybrid) pitch within 

the LCOSS grounds, which would be for its own use at a peppercorn rent and would allow 

them to play at a higher level within the football pyramid. This solution will require the 

reorientation of the STPs and the loss of a small part of the play area to accommodate this. 

The STPs will be refurbished as part of the proposal. No other changes to the facilities at the 

site are proposed under the scheme. 

3.10 Draft Heads of Terms have been agreed and a certificate of Lawfulness has been agreed by 

the Council. Given that this in principle agreement is now formally in place, we have 

determined that this facility solution should be included in the OBC as a standalone Do 

Minimum option. 

3.11 In light of these refinements, the shortlisted options detailed in this section and evaluated in 

Section 4 of this OBC are therefore: 

• Option 1A: Do Nothing/ Business As Usual (BAU) 

• Option 1B: Do Minimum 

• Option 3A: Athletics & sports centre including pitch hub 

• Option 5: Athletics & indoor arena 

• Option 6: Athletics & professional sport stadium.  

Page 77



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

26 

 

3.12 The development options are considered in turn below to establish the strategic context and 

identified need/ demand for the facilities in each case. We would highlight that we consider 

these options as the most appropriate given the range of objectives that the Trust has, 

though subject to its specific financial and economic requirements these need not be 

ultimately the exclusive list of developments that might be considered. 

Option 1A: Do Nothing/ BAU 

3.13 For the purposes of the OBC process, the ‘Do Nothing’/ BAU option provides the baseline for 

measuring improvement and Value for Money.  

3.14 As noted in Section 2, the current facilities at LCOSS operate at an ongoing annual loss, 

requiring a subsidy from both the Trust and the Council that is unsustainable. Without 

investment in the facilities, this position is anticipated only to worsen over time as the venue 

becomes less appealing and attracts further reduced usage. 

3.15 Under the BAU option, no investment will be made in extending or enhancing the facilities, 

and they are assumed to broadly continue ‘as are’ in line with the details set out in Section 2 

of this OBC until such time as they are no longer able to operate. 

Option 1B: Do Minimum 

3.16 As noted above, the Trust has recently (July 2020) reached an agreement in principle with 

KDFC to support and facilitate the Club’s ambitions to develop the site’s football facilities to 

enable it to progress through the football pyramid (subject of course to on-field performance 

and achieving promotions) to Step 5. KDFC have invested time in developing a proposal 

whereby they would create a quality new (hybrid grass) pitch on the Southern edge of the 

site and move out of their current pitch in the centre of the athletics track.  

3.17 The proposed Option 1B scheme is shown overleaf at Figure 3.1. No car parking spaces (and 

associated revenue) will be lost under this option. 

3.18 Under the proposal, KDFC would build a new pitch for their own exclusive use at a 

peppercorn rent. The all-weather pitches will be refurbished as part of the proposal and it is 

believed that the proposal should foster a higher level of football at the Scrubs with 

associated increase in bookings of the all-weather pitches. The income from the STPs would 

(continue to) flow to the LCOSS site. 

3.19 The scheme has been costed by KDFC at c. £1.3m. The in principle agreement in place 

between the parties is that the Trust will make a capital contribution of £250,000 towards the 

overall costs on the project, and the Club will pick up the balance of the cost (and assume 

responsibility for any cost overrun). In the course of developing this OBC we have completed 

a separate exercise to project the costs associated with this option (see Section 4 and 

Appendix F). KDFC is proposing to raise their share and have advised during the course of this 

OBC that it is largely in place. 

3.20 Since draft Heads of Terms have been agreed between KDFC and the Trust and a Certificate 

of Lawfulness has been agreed by the Council, this now constitutes a likely potential route 

forward were a larger development not to be created. As such, this is considered a 

reasonable ‘Do Minimum’ scenario for the site.

Page 78



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

27 

 

Figure 3.1  Option 1B indicative layout 

 
 

P
age 79



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

28 

 

3.21 Option 1B would deliver an improved (specifically for football, but also for other pitch uses) 

facility solution. On development of this option, the headline facility mix would include: 

• 400m athletics track (current retained)  

• Enhanced full size STP 

• High quality ‘show pitch’ for KDFC. 

• Changing block (current retained) 

• 3x enhanced 5-a-side STPs 

3.22 In addition to KDFC’s proposed and intervention, the Council’s Facilities Management team 

has also identified (2019) £675,000 of capital works that are required in the short term at the 

site, plus a further capital requirement for the demolition of the artillery wall between the car 

parks which is currently estimated at £500,000. This brings the total capital investment 

required to £1.175m. There is not currently funding in place/ agreed by the Trust to meet this 

cost. 

3.23 These other required works (i.e. excluding the KDFC proposals) neither meaningfully improve 

the quality of the facilities to bring them up to a better standard nor improve the site’s 

potential to generate revenue. Rather they have been deemed simply essential capital works 

and as such these interventions are consistent with, and should be incorporated within, a ‘Do 

Minimum’ option. As with the Do Minimum option, the athletics track and other facilities 

would continue to operate broadly as currently, albeit with minor upfront improvements. 

3.24 No car parking provision would be lost under this development scenario so the full revenue-

generating potential of the Pay & Display and leased car parks would be retained. 

Option 3A: Athletics & sports centre including pitch hub 

3.25 Option 3A focuses on enhancing the breadth and quality of the sporting offer at the LCOSS 

site – delivering a new sports centre (in partnership with Imperial College) alongside outdoor 

sports facilities to meet the specific needs of Imperial and deliver additional quality facilities 

for community use. The headline facility mix includes: 

• 400m athletics track and associated 

facilities (current retained) 

• Full size 4G STP 

• Full size sand-based STP 

• 2x 5-a-side STPs 

• Indoor sports centre including 12-court 

sports hall, health & fitness gym etc 

• Changing block. 

 
3.26 The Option 3A facilities are shown overlaid on the site area/ site boundary in Figure 3.2 

overleaf. Under this option KDFC would have the option to play on the pitch in the centre of 

the athletics track (as currently) or on the 4G pitch. 

3.27 While a major public sports centre would typically not be financially feasible (i.e. it would not 

generate sufficient revenue to cover the cost of capital), the inclusion of Imperial creates a 

fundamentally different model and rationale. 

3.28 The sports centre facility mix is largely driven by the specific requirements stipulated by 

Imperial, based on their analysis of need (primarily their students). It is anticipated that 

Imperial would manage the site and the sports facilities would be dual-use – i.e. available to 

the community and clubs outside of Imperial’s use. 

Page 80



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

29 

 

Figure 3.2  Option 3A indicative layout 

 
 

P
age 81



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

30 

 

3.29 With programming and management it will be achievable to retain the core usage of Thames 

Valley Harriers and KDFC, while creating significant additional use and extending the hours of 

activity at, and community accessibility of, the site relative to the current position. 

3.30 Imperial College has a long-standing presence in Hammersmith & Fulham, which is set to 

increase with the development of a major 23-acre campus in White City, a key part of this 

innovation district. As the new campus evolves, it will become a centre of discovery and 

innovation, supporting the college’s mission to achieve enduring excellence in research and 

education in science, engineering, medicine and business for the benefit of society. The 

campus will further enable co-location and collaboration between academics, businesses, 

entrepreneurs and the local community. 

3.31 In close proximity to Hammersmith Hospital, the northern section of the White City Campus 

will focus on multidisciplinary research in health and well-being. Academic hubs will foster 

research in molecular sciences, biomedical engineering and public health. 

3.32 The Move Imperial Hammersmith Gym is located in the sub-basement of the Commonwealth 

Building at Hammersmith Campus, adjacent to the LCOSS site and is open to students, 

Imperial and NHS staff. However Imperial College does not use LCOSS in any formal capacity 

at the moment.  

3.33 In their ambitious Be Active Sport Strategy 2018-21, Imperial College set out the aim to 

‘promote, support and enable students and staff to enjoy a more active lifestyle’. As part of a 

review of their assets, and within the framework provided by the Strategy, they are looking at 

a possible exit from one of their current sites to consolidate the sporting offer in a more 

central location that better meets their future campus requirements at White City. 

3.34 To this end they have historically engaged with the Council and Earth Regeneration to carry 

out a feasibility study for a sports facility mix (sports village) to include sports science labs, 

sports hall, dance studio, cricket nets, football pitches, athletics track etc. This has been 

reflected in the Option 3A facility mix. The required facilities reflect Imperial College’s needs 

for student use but also create major facilities that serve a wider strategic purpose for the 

Borough and indeed for West London. This particularly includes a 12-court sports hall, 

creating maximum levels of flexibility.  

3.35 Delivering enhanced sports facilities, including the addition of a quality indoor sports centre, 

has significant potential to support Imperial College’s long-term (sport, teaching and student 

experience) aspirations whilst also providing additional facilities for community use. 

3.36 Under this option, the track and ancillary facilities required by Thames Valley Harriers can be 

delivered (in conjunction with the Imperial College buildings). This option currently includes 

for a 4G STP and a sand-based STP to meet Imperial College’s sporting needs (including 

football and hockey) and also to enhance the overall usage and commerciality of the site over 

and above a grass/ hybrid show pitch which would have less potential usage. KDFC could then 

determine whether they preferred to play on the 4G pitch (compliant with Step 5 

requirements) or whether a pitch is re-instated in the middle of the athletics track (as per 

their current arrangements), though acknowledging that this is not their preferred/ optimum 

scheme – see Option 1B. 

  

Page 82



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

31 

 

3.37 Delivering the facilities proposed under Option 3A would have the potential to: 

• Meet a need identified by Imperial College to match the requirements of their students 

and facilitate a consolidation of facilities into the Borough 

• Strengthen the Borough’s bond, and capitalise on the significant synergies, with Imperial 

College as a major institution in Hammersmith & Fulham, who are working with the 

Council on a number of regeneration initiatives 

• Maximise the sporting potential of the site relative to other options 

• Deliver improved athletics track and facilities for Thames Valley Harriers, Imperial College 

and community use 

• Protect and enhance the football facilities – replacing sand-based pitches with better 

(and potentially more) 4G synthetic surfaces to meet a Borough need and KDFC training 

requirements 

• Create a quality new indoor sports facility, addressing local need, with scope for a dual-

use agreement to facilitate public use based on programming/ timetable solutions 

• Retain a focus on sport, leisure and recreation at the site 

• Offer potential synergies with the Hospital, as well as with education, to benefit multiple 

existing stakeholders and site neighbours. 

• Provide two options for KDFC – either playing in the centre of the athletics track (as 

currently, though with a potentially improved pitch) or on the 4G STP.  

3.38 While Imperial College would prefer to secure the site on a freehold basis there is an 

appreciation that this is not possible at the LCOSS site. They have indicated a willingness to 

explore long-term lease options for the site. 

Option 5: Athletics & indoor arena 

3.39 Option 5 would deliver a major indoor arena at the LCOSS site, together with an investment 

in a replacement athletics track. The headline facility mix includes: 

• Flexible 20,000 capacity indoor sports 

and entertainment arena 

• Changing block (new build) 

• 400m athletics track and associated 

facilities (new build) 

• 4G STP 

 
3.40 As with Option 3A, KDFC would have the option to play on the pitch in the centre of the 

athletics track (as currently) or on the 4G pitch. 

3.41 The Option 5 facilities are shown overlaid on the site area/ site boundary in Figure 3.3 

overleaf. Due to the scale of facilities proposed and required under this option, there would 

be a resulting loss of car parking spaces relative to the current provision, which would be 

expected to have both practical and financial implications (with the latter issue ideally 

needing to be offset by the financial return offered by the development). 

Page 83



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

32 

 

Figure 3.3  Option 5 indicative layout 

 
 

P
age 84



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

33 

 

3.42 For any potential new major entertainment space, it is important to consider the market 

demand for, or likely response to its development. The key interrelated factors that impact 

upon the demand for a venue are catchment, product and competition. Given the existence 

of The O2 in East London, and the fact that in most markets arenas require some form of 

public funding to be deliverable, it is particularly important to establish whether there would 

be sufficient demand for a new arena at the LCOSS site and whether it could therefore 

generate a return. 

3.43 Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the live event/ arena sector was exhibiting continued 

growth and strength. National Arenas Association (NAA) data that shows that there were 

fewer than 1,600 events per year before 2005 and fewer than 2,000 events per year before 

2008. Each of the 10 subsequent years has had over 2,000 events, rising to almost 2,400 

events in 2018. While the number of events has grown over the last 10-15 years as the music 

industry has shifted to a greater focus on live events, there has been no reduction in the 

average event attendances, meaning very high overall levels of ticket sales.  

3.44 Over the last 10 years, both total attendances and average attendances per event have been 

high and consistent (total 10.8-13.7m; average 5,300-6,000), as per NAA data, reflecting the 

strength of the events market and the enduring audience appetite. While there are year on 

year fluctuations depending on what events are touring in a given cycle (and also venues 

opening/ closing, providing data to NAA/ not providing data) the market has overall been 

very robust over the last decade, and this trend is only expected to strengthen. 

Table 3.1  NAA attendance data   Figure 3.4  Arena attendance totals 2009-19 

 

 

 

Source: NAA annual report data, 2010-20 

3.45 This has equated to an average of c. 105-110 events per venue per annum over the last 10 

years, though The O2 has averaged significantly more shows than the average.  

3.46 Ticket prices have grown steadily in recent years and outstripped inflation, with just one 

annual fall in the average in the last eight years and a total average price increase of almost 

30% between 2012 and 2019 (as illustrated in Table 2.9 and Figure 2.5 below). Over the same 

period, total ticket revenue for events at NAA venues has increased by c. 50%, from c. £420-

£630m, illustrating the robustness of demand. As ticket prices increase, the rents that venues 

charge to Promoters also increase.  

  

Page 85



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

34 

 

Table 3.2  NAA ticket prices 2009-19  Figure 3.5  Average ticket prices over time 

 

 

 
Source: NAA annual report data, 2012-20 
NB Due to changes in the way the NAA calculates average ticket price we have excluded years prior to 2012 

3.47 This is before accounting for increased booking fees and the increased implementation of 

Facility Fees (which in effect means that the price to the consumer has increased by c. 25%+), 

providing strong evidence that event demand has been inelastic. 

3.48 Arenas and large-scale entertainment venues typically draw primarily from a drivetime 

catchment of 60 minutes and this is largely expected to be the case were an arena delivered 

in Hammersmith & Fulham, although some events may draw from beyond this. Drivetimes 

are a standard tool for assessing catchment populations. While the availability of a public 

transport network in London reduces the emphasis on private transport to attend events 

(and has the potential to increase the number of event attendees) it is nevertheless a useful 

proxy for comparing catchment size. This analysis has shown that the LCOSS has a 60 minute 

drivetime catchment of c. 11.1m in total and offers a large potential audience to the West, 

North and South of London.  

3.49 The size of the LCOSS catchment compares favourably to other locations with large scale 

entertainment facilities (10,000+ capacity) in England (excluding London) as illustrated in 

Table 3.4 below. The table highlights the LCOSS catchment size is almost twice that of 

Birmingham and Leeds, and almost a third higher than Manchester; all of which are major 

markets that currently sustain a large scale arena in England.  

3.50 Beyond the total size of the population, we have also considered the demographic 

composition of the LCOSS catchment population. Audience Agency area profile reports 

contain data on resident populations to aid the understanding of the UK arts and cultural 

events market, providing insight into the demographics and the level of appetite/ demand 

and cultural engagement of specific populations. 

3.51 An Audience Agency analysis of the 30 and 60-minute drivetime catchments has been 

undertaken to illustrate the potential scale of the target audience and propensity to purchase 

tickets in the LCOSS catchment compared to the rest of the England. Full demographic 

reports can be found in Appendix G.  

3.52 Table 3.3 below summarises the key attendance characteristics, and therefore propensity to 

purchase tickets, of the 60 minute catchment population. 

  

Page 86



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

35 

 

Table 3.3  Propensity to attend cultural events – 60-minute drivetime catchment (15+) 

Attended in past 12 months 

60 Minute Drive Time 

from W12 0DF 
England 

Index* 

Count % Count % 

Ballet 1,565,930 17% 5,377,525 12% 151 +51 

Classical concerts 1,954,771 22% 6,946,586 15% 146 +46 

Comedy shows 2,263,206 25% 10,742,086 23% 109 +9 

Contemporary dance 1,265,111 14% 4,067,493 9% 161 +61 

Jazz concerts 1,408,760 16% 4,710,723 10% 155 +55 

Opera 1,429,060 16% 4,480,927 10% 165 +65 

Plays 3,356,007 37% 14,596,716 31% 119 +19 

Popular/rock concert 3,589,634 40% 17,403,181 38% 107 +7 

Theatre 4,432,113 50% 20,008,988 43% 115 +15 

Theatre once a month or more 491,719 5% 1,186,440 3% 215 +115 

Adults 15+ estimate 2018 8,953,522 46,352,417   

Source: The Audience Agency  
* The national index, details how a catchment compares to the national average (where 100 is the average) 

3.53 The data above highlights that the catchment population has higher levels of cultural 

engagement than the national average in every category. This suggests a strong propensity to 

engage with culture, entertainment and the arts which is considered positive for the potential 

to attract events and audiences to a new venue.  

3.54 For most leisure and cultural facilities, competition can be defined within a specific 

geographical area. However, this is not strictly the case for performance venues. Whilst 

attendance will be impacted by geography (accessibility, catchment size) and the competing 

facilities within a defined radius, securing product and events is subject to regional, national 

and in the case of the London market, international competition. 

3.55 London is an established stopping point for acts on a world or European tour. It currently has 

only two dedicated large capacity arenas, namely: 

• The O2 Arena (Greenwich) – a multi-purpose indoor arena with the second-highest 

capacity (20,000) of any indoor venue in the UK. Per Pollstar data, The O2 has 

consistently been the busiest venue in the world over the last 10+ years in terms of 

ticket sales 

• the SSE Arena (Brent) – 12,500 capacity multi-purpose arena in Wembley Park, adjacent 

to Wembley Stadium. The venue re-opened in 2006 after a £35m refurbishment and is 

operated by AEG Facilities (the same as the O2).  

3.56 In addition, the MSG Sphere London is a proposed new venue to be built adjacent to 

Stratford station in East London and is anticipated to be c. 21,500 capacity as part of a wider 

regeneration development led by The Madison Square Garden Company. At present there 

are significant planning challenges with the proposed development and it is currently 

undergoing review and further public consultation by the London Legacy Development 

Corporation.  

Page 87



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

36 

 

3.57 Table 3.4 below shows that the current level of seats available in London relative to the 

potential audience is lower than the average across all the venues identified and is ranked 

fifth, below Sheffield, Newcastle, Birmingham and Liverpool. This data would suggest there is 

further scope for additional seat provision within the capital.  

Table 3.4  Comparison of large scale venue provision on a seats per capita basis  

City 
60-min DT 
population 
(approx.) 

Arena Capacity 
Seats 

per '000 
Rank (seats 

per ‘000) 

Manchester  6,920,000 Manchester Arena 21,000 3.03 7 

Birmingham  5,740,000 
Barclaycard Arena 15,800 

5.49 3 
Resorts World Arena 15,700 

Leeds  5,560,000 first direct arena 13,500 2.43 8 

Nottingham  3,000,000 Motorpoint Arena 10,000 3.33 6 

Liverpool  2,620,000 M&S Bank Arena 11,000 4.20 4 

Sheffield  2,100,000 Fly DSA Arena 13,500 6.43 1 

Newcastle/ Gateshead 1,760,000 Metro Radio Arena 11,000 6.25 2 

London* 9,304,000 

LCOSS - - - 

O2 Arena 20,000 
3.49 5 

SSE Arena, Wembley 12,500 

   Average 4.33  

* Uses metropolitan population projection rather than drivetime as this is impacted by the location taken as the 
centre point (eg LCOSS site drivetime catchment population is c. 11.1m) 

 
3.58 A similar 2019 study undertaken by Sound Diplomacy benchmarked London’s venue 

ecosystem against four other major cities: Berlin, Paris, Madrid and New York City. Like 

London, these four cities are standard stops on venue tours, offering state-of-the-art venues 

to acts and music fans. By comparing the populations of these cities to how many venues 

they have, the study identified the average population size per venue.  

• London had the highest ratio – 4.39m people per venue, almost 1m people-per-venue 

more than the next-most densely serviced city (Berlin) 

• New York, the only city listed with a comparable population size, has almost four times 

as many venues as London. With seven venues, their population size per venue is only 

1.2m, significantly less than London 

• New York’s seven large venues hosted 299 concerts in 2017, whereas London’s two large 

venues hosted 183 concerts 

3.59 The findings of this study suggest that London currently has an undersupply of dedicated 

large entertainment venues in comparison to other major world cities. This should be 

monitored subject to MSG’s prospective plans for a new arena venue in Stratford (MSG 

Sphere) which is currently in planning. 

3.60 Given the site’s location in West London (which the drivetime catchment analysis shows has a 

significant reach beyond the London metropolitan area to locations such as Oxford and 

Page 88



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

37 

 

Milton Keynes) this would indicate there is a significantly larger potential audience for a new 

venue than represented in the analysis above which would further suggest there is an 

opportunity for new venue provision in the market.  

3.61 In the course of preparing this OBC we have engaged with multiple major arena developers/ 

operators who have expressed significant appetite for a commercial project in West London 

and at the LCOSS site specifically. This includes the world’s two largest arena developers/ 

operators. 

3.62 Delivering the facilities proposed under Option 5 would have the potential to: 

• Create a major sport and entertainment facility for West London and the wider capital 

region, meeting an identified market gap (and responding to commercial appetite) 

• Deliver a high-profile regeneration project with scope to enhance the Borough’s appeal 

as a place to live, work and play 

• Enhance Hammersmith & Fulham’s reputation in Europe and beyond as the centrepiece 

of plans to support, enhance and promote a vibrant arts, cultural and leisure scene and 

support the night time economy 

• (Subject to the funding mechanism used) have potential to create a return for the Trust 

(and the Council) through generating an annual payment and significant fiscal benefits for 

the Borough and beyond 

• Deliver improved athletics track and facilities for Thames Valley Harriers and public use 

• Drive a new focus on leisure and entertainment at the site, providing a new source of 

recreation for the whole of London 

• Fund additional off-site investment in significant community benefit, including sports, 

leisure and recreation beyond the red line sit boundary  

• Fund and support enhanced maintenance of the Scrubs. 

3.63 Initial discussions with the GLA’s planning team and with London & Partners has confirmed 

that there is no formal policy related specifically to the development of indoor arenas in 

London and there is no strategic guidance governing prospective sites for such a 

development, though there was an acknowledgement that there were benefits to developing 

a facility in West London to complement The O2 in East London and that London needed 

additional venue provision as, in particular, The O2 is very heavily booked. 

3.64 We would note that the built facilities under this option have the second largest land take 

requirement (behind Option 6 – see below) and as such the residual space available for 

community sports provision is reduced, though the athletics track can still be retained and a 

new full size STP can still be accommodated without losing all of the current car parking 

provision. This option does importantly safeguard some sports provision and there is scope 

for additional investment in other facilities beyond the red line to further improve the 

position, which is likely to be important from a planning perspective. Based on the layouts 

prepared to date it is estimated that c. 20% of the existing parking spaces will be lost. 

  

Page 89



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

38 

 

Option 5: Athletics & professional sport stadium 

3.65 Option 6 would deliver a major professional sport stadium at the LCOSS site, together with an 

investment in a replacement athletics track. The headline facility mix includes: 

• 30,000 capacity sports stadium  

• Changing block (new build) 

• 400m athletics track and associated 

facilities (new build) 

 
3.66 This option has primarily been developed in response to the specific stated requirements of 

Queens park Rangers FC (QPR) as a long-term Hammersmith & Fulham Club. This has resulted 

in the specification of a 30,000 capacity stadium and assumes that the athletics track will be 

retained external to the stadium itself. This has the maximum spatial requirements at the site 

but this approach also overcomes potential sightline/ atmospheric compromises associated 

with incorporating athletics alongside pitch sports. Should a smaller stadium ultimately be 

developed, there may remain scope to incorporate the athletics track in the stadium (similar 

to the solution at Allianz Park in Barnet) but at this stage the OBC assumes that the facilities 

will be separate. 

3.67 The Option 6 facilities are shown overlaid on the site area/ site boundary in Figure 3.6 

overleaf. Due to the scale of facilities proposed and required under this option, there would 

be a resulting loss of car parking spaces relative to the current provision, which would be 

expected to have both practical and financial implications. 

3.68 We would highlight that this scale and configuration of facilities is subject to the specific 

requirements of the ultimate end user and has been prepared for indicative purposes and to 

confirm the potential fit on site. In the course of developing this OBC we have however 

engaged with other professional sports clubs who have an interest in moving into the 

Borough and establishing a stadium (and training) base at the LCOSS site.  

3.69 This is explored further below however, in essence, a smaller stadium capacity and 

alternative configuration could be delivered at the site subject to the ultimate needs of any 

user/ partner. The use of a 30,000 capacity stadium is adopted for the purposes of analysis at 

this stage in the process. 

3.70 Hammersmith & Fulham is unique in London in having three professional football clubs: 

Chelsea, Fulham and Queens Park Rangers. Chelsea are currently exploring the potential to 

deliver a major new stadium (c. 60,000 capacity) at their current Stamford Bridge site, though 

these plans are presently paused. Fulham are currently developing a new Riverside Stand and 

Craven Cottage which will increase stadium capacity and significantly enhance the matchday 

offer and non-matchday activities.  

3.71 By contrast, QPR’s current home ground at Loftus Road is a cramped site with limited 

opportunity for expansion from its c. 18,200 capacity, which has ranked as one of the three 

smallest Championship stadia (by capacity) in each of the last three seasons (2017/18 to 

2019/20), and indeed even if operating at 100% utilisation would still fall below the typical 

average matchday attendance across the Championship, based on recent seasons.  

Page 90



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

39 

 

Figure 3.6  Option 6 indicative layout 

 

P
age 91



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

40 

 

3.72 The size and design of the stadium limits the revenues that the Club can drive on matchdays 

and non-matchdays, which by extension exacerbates the financial challenges that 

professional football clubs beneath the Premier League invariably face. The Council’s Local 

Plan has highlighted that the Club’s ambitions should be considered in planning of the 

Borough over the next 20 years. 

3.73 While a number of factors impact ticket sales, the Club’s attendances in recent seasons has 

been below capacity and below division averages, illustrating the challenges that the Club 

faces in attracting fans to Loftus Road given the ageing facilities and busy London 

marketplace. This is summarised in Table 3.5 below. 

3.74 QPR has advised that the facilities do not meet modern ground regulations (seat depth, 

circulation space) which makes the matchday experience unpleasant and offputting for 

potential attendees. 

Table 3.5  Recent QPR attendances relative to division averages 

Season Division 
QPR average 
attendance 

Division average 
attendance 

Variance from 
division average 

2019/20 Championship 13,700 18,600 -26% 

2018/19 Championship 13,900 20,200 -31% 

2017/18 Championship 13,900 20,500 -32% 

2016/17 Championship 14,600 20,100 -27% 

2015/16 Championship 16,000 17,600 -9% 

2014/15 Premier League 17,800 36,200 -51% 

2013/14 Championship 16,700 16,600 1% 

2012/13 Premier League 17,800 35,900 -50% 

2011/12 Premier League 17,300 34,600 -50% 

2010/11 Championship 15,600 17,400 -10% 

NB Totals are rounded. 2019/20 figures based on shortened season 

Source: European Football Statistics 

3.75 Table 3.5 illustrates the challenges that QPR’s current stadium causes in terms of attracting 

fans on matchdays, with attendances averaging c. 19% lower than the Championship average 

(QPR’s division for seven out of the last 10 years).  

3.76 QPR is anticipating that The New Stadium Effect will drive increased ticket demand and 

significantly increase attendances. Based on significant IPW… research into the scale of the 

New Stadium Effect in England over the last c. 25 years, attendances have been shown to 

increase significantly where clubs have moved to new grounds – whether latent demand was 

apparent pre-move or not. The impact has averaged a c. 45% increase across around 30 

cases.  

3.77 This increase is broadly consistent with international data showing the New Stadium Effect to 

typically deliver c. 30-40% increases in attendance in Year 1. In a new, fit for purpose in the 

same catchment area we would expect QPR’s attendances to have significant scope for 

growth even if only retaining the Club’s current Championship status. 

Page 92

http://www.european-football-statistics.co.uk/attn.htm


Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

41 

 

3.78 QPR has historically looked to develop a new stadium at Old Oak Common (across the Scrubs 

from the LCOSS site) but has been unable to secure the land. The Club however had, and still 

has, a keen interest in developing a new stadium at LCOSS. They view it as the last site in the 

Borough with scope to accommodate the major stadium that they seek, and have argued that 

without it they will need to leave the Borough as Loftus Road is not a sustainable long-term 

home. This concern is also reflected in the weight of feedback from QPR fans as part of the 

Council’s consultation exercise looking at potential future uses of the site (see Section 2). 

3.79 We have engaged with QPR in the course of developing this OBC to confirm their continued 

appetite to develop a new stadium at the LCOSS site, and understand their headline facility 

requirements. They are seeking a football-specific stadium of up to 30,000 capacity (alongside 

the redevelopment of the athletics track and other facilities). 

3.80 The Club contend that this new stadium is critical for their long-term survival, given an 

increased potential to drive attendances, increase matchday and non-matchday revenues to 

make the Club more sustainable and competitive, and further embed the club in the local 

community.  

3.81 QPR does significant community/ charitable work through its charitable arm (QPR in the 

Community Trust) which the Council has acknowledged has significant benefit for the 

Borough – and QPR has commissioned analysis seeking to quantify the benefits of these 

activities alongside its wider economic impact. The Club contends that the lack of space at 

Loftus Road limits the number of community sessions and events that the Trust can operate. 

3.82 In developing this OBC, we have also engaged with London Scottish RFC, who approached 

IPW… regarding their appetite to develop a new stadium at the site. Currently playing in the 

Championship (rugby’s second tier) and based in Richmond, the Club’s ownership is exploring 

the potential to fund and develop a new home stadium. As part of their search, they believe 

that the LCOSS site, and co-locating with an athletics track and other community sports 

facilities, would be ideal as they seek to put down roots and establish themselves in the 

community.  

3.83 They have engaged a team of external advisors to assist them in developing their proposals 

and have prepared indicative site layouts and capital costs outwith this process – 

demonstrating the significant time, effort and interest that they have already displayed in the 

site. 

3.84 London Scottish have indicated that they would potentially seek to develop a new stadium of 

up to c. 15,000 capacity at the site, potentially in a phased approach, alongside new 

community sports facility provision. They have put forward an initial proposal under which 

they would finance and build a new stadium and new community sports facilities, which they 

would operate at their own cost and risk. 

3.85 The Club’s ultimate appetite to do a deal is likely to be resolved in the next c. 6 months, 

subject to discussions with the Scottish Rugby Union (SRU) and with other league bodies. 

However, at this stage we believe their interest to be credible and encouraging – subject to 

the ultimate certainty over the league in which they will ultimately be competing. 

3.86 In both cases, the professional sports clubs have reasons beyond direct, quantifiable financial 

benefits and ROI. In professional football in particular, stadium-related revenues typically 

Page 93



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

42 

 

constitute a relatively small part of overall income, with commercial and broadcast revenues 

contributing more. However, a stadium (complying with league standards/ requirements) is a 

pre-requisite to operate at any level and enables the club in question to participate in 

competition in the first place. Based on examples elsewhere, we would not expect a new 

stadium to be affordable from purely the incremental revenues that it would drive. Instead, 

owner equity investment is likely to be a key part of any funding mix with borrowing against 

operating surpluses being insufficient to cover the necessary debt repayments in full. This is 

explored further in Section 4 of this OBC. 

3.87 Were QPR to ultimately develop a new stadium at the LCOSS site, the redevelopment of their 

current home at Loftus Road for residential would have a significant additional economic, 

social and strategic benefit for the Borough. The Local Plan identifies White City (including the 

area around Loftus Road) as one of four key regeneration areas in the Borough with potential 

for “substantial mixed-use development” including new housing (mix of affordable and 

market-priced) of c. 450-550 units and up to 18,500m2 of retail space. It would also ensure 

that the Club can continue to call Hammersmith & Fulham home, retaining three professional 

football clubs in the Borough. Data produced by Hatch Regeneris on behalf of QPR, the Club is 

estimated to contribute c. £39.3m to the local economy (plus c. £20.6m in Exchequer 

benefits) per annum. 

3.88 Were London Scottish (for example) to ultimately develop a new home at the LCOSS site 

instead, the Borough would instead benefit from the introduction of a new professional 

sports club with the associated incremental economic, sporting and social benefits 

(potentially on top of the three football clubs remaining in the Borough, were QPR to 

continue at Loftus Road. 

3.89 Both options come with a degree of risk given the uncertainties and challenges of 

professional sport (promotion/ relegation, diminishing on-field success etc) and as such the 

Trust and Council would need to be assured that they are not exposed to financial risk in any 

development (though this would be the case in varying forms under any development 

pursued with any partner at the site). This could take the form of a bond or insurance, and/ or 

securing significant upfront equity investment from the club in question. 

3.90 Initial discussions with the GLA’s planning team has suggested that they would potentially 

consider a sports stadium to be a permissible use of the site’s MOL designation, since it is a 

primary sporting use. There is no formal policy related specifically to stadium development in 

London or nationally. Planning issues are introduced below, and covered in more detail in 

Appendix C. 

3.91 Delivering the facilities proposed under Option 6 would have the potential to: 

• Deliver a long-term home for QPR to support their continued existence in the Borough, 

and/or (subject to tenants/ partners) introduce a new professional sports club to 

Hammersmith & Fulham 

• Secure and deliver new sports-related/ themed social benefits for the community 

(through ‘QPR in the Community’ or equivalent) 

• Deliver a high-profile regeneration project with scope to enhance the Borough’s appeal 

as a place to live, work and play 

Page 94



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

43 

 

• Deliver improved athletics track and facilities for Thames Valley Harriers and public use 

• (Subject to the funding mechanism used) have potential to create a return for the Trust 

(and the Council) through generating an annual payment and significant fiscal benefits for 

the Borough and beyond 

• Fund additional off-site investment in significant community benefit, including sports, 

leisure and recreation beyond the red line sit boundary 

• Fund and support enhanced maintenance of the Scrubs. 

3.92 We would note that the built facilities under this option have the largest land take 

requirement and as such the residual space available for community sports provision is the 

lowest of the options under consideration. This option does however safeguard some sports 

provision and there is scope for additional investment in other facilities beyond the red line 

to further improve the position, which is likely to be important from a planning perspective. 

Constraints and Dependencies 

3.93 This exercise has identified a number of key constraints and dependencies associated with 

the potential development of the LCOSS site. These are primarily driven by planning and 

transport factors. In order to address these issues, Savills (planning) and Arup (Transport) 

were engaged to advise on key implications and headline potential mitigation strategies. 

These are summarised below and also explored in later sections of this OBC as appropriate. 

3.94 The planning report prepared by Savills forms the baseline for the understanding of the 

LCOSS context in terms of the planning policy designations and constraints, the current role in 

the Borough’s sports facility offer and the relationship with emerging development in the 

immediate and surrounding area. It has also been informed by initial discussions with the 

Council’s planning team and with the GLA. 

3.95 The baseline understanding is that the LCOSS plays an important role for existing sports 

teams and athletics clubs in the Borough (albeit the facilities are very tired and not truly fit 

for purpose) and that this role will need to be protected through the re-provision of the 

current facilities as far as is practicably possible (on site and potentially off site), noting the 

implications of any loss of sporting facilities compared to the existing situation and the 

likelihood of a planning challenge from Sport England as a key planning consultee, for 

example. Protection of the athletics facility is considered paramount because this is the only 

such facility in the Borough. 

3.96 The Report considers the full range of planning matters relevant to the Development Options 

and particularly highlights two matters that will heavily influence the success of a planning 

application, these being the loss of sporting facilities and the impact on MOL. These will need 

to be considered in the context of the struggling nature of the facilities which make a sizable 

loss each year and, therefore, currently rely on a significant subsidy from the Council. If the 

financial situation does not change and were the Council to withdraw its subsidy the facilities 

cannot conceivably continue to operate and this would have far-reaching consequences for 

the Borough and the communities that currently benefit from them. 

3.97 The issue of losing sporting facilities becomes more acute the greater the loss. It will be 

necessary to offset the loss. Where re-provision or suitable compensation is not possible on 

site, off-site provision will be required to overcome this matter satisfactorily. 

Page 95



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

44 

 

3.98 The second issue is concerned with impact on the MOL which directly relates to the nature of 

some of the uses (namely non-sporting) and the amount of built form(s) over and above what 

currently exists at the site. The proposed indoor sporting and non-sporting facilities (leisure 

and entertainment) are uses that are not considered to be acceptable in MOL (without Very 

Special Circumstances - VSC) and will thus be more challenging to justify. Options 3A, 5 and 6 

introduce new built forms into the site which would have an impact on the ‘openness ‘of the 

Site.  

3.99 A planning consent will require demonstration of VSC. The VSC case to be made will be 

bespoke to the proposal and must be able to clearly demonstrate that the harm created is 

outweighed. This baseline understanding and contextual analysis helps to understand the 

potential opportunities to maximise the socio-economic benefits associated with 

redevelopment of the LCOSS, including benefits beyond the red-line boundary. These are 

likely to include, inter alia: 

• Overall improvement of existing facilities 

• Safeguarding the long-term viability of sport facilities at the site (and in the Borough) 

• Increased direct on-site employment 

• Potential for Community Use Agreements and better engagement of facilities with local 

community including local education facilities 

• Increased visitor and off-site expenditure (see Section 4). 

3.100 Savills’ full report is provided at Appendix C. 

3.101 The transport review for the OBC considers the shortlisted options for future use of the site – 

from retaining the existing facilities up to the introduction of a new stadium or arena venue 

for use by sports and other events. This analysis is built around high level projections of peak 

demand for the facilities, to identify potential transport-related challenges and constraints 

and, if necessary, how they might be overcome. 

3.102 The review considers the existing network as well as committed future improvements (e.g. 

the opening of Old Oak Station). Further improvements that have previously been indicated 

in local planning policy but are not confirmed or funded at this stage have not been included 

to ensure a robust review. The transport review provides a strategic assessment of each 

option in turn.  

3.103 The review concludes that Option 3A is expected to be accommodated with minimal 

mitigation required (car parking reviews, installation of Legible London signage), and as such 

is not anticipated to be constrained from a transport perspective.  

3.104 Options 5 and 6 are expected to significantly increase trip attraction to the site by all modes 

of transport. There is limited scope for physical mitigation in the local area to address the 

impact of Options 5 and 6 however improvements to pedestrian underpasses at the junction 

of Wood Lane/ A40 may be necessary. There will also need to be a number of agreements 

with local stakeholders such as the Council and TfL as well as potentially with local 

landowners (Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College). 

  

Page 96



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

45 

 

3.105 Mitigation for Options 5 and 6 is therefore expected to focus on operational aspects to 

ensure safe and acceptable activity on the local transport networks. The operational 

measures are not limited to but may include management of pedestrian flows, parking and 

Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) reviews, street cleaning following events, a bus and coach 

strategy and coordination with TfL to manage activity at stations. Measures to help increase 

dwell time on-site are also recommended to mitigate the impact on local networks. Further 

detailed assessment will be necessary confirm the findings of the strategic assessment as part 

of any ultimate planning application.   

3.106 Arup’s full report, covering the original shortlist of options identified at the start of the OBC 

stage, is provided at Appendix D. 

Conclusions – Strategic Case, Part 2 

3.107 Based on analysis of the wider strategic backdrop for LCOSS and the potential for 

interventions that can provide solutions for the social, sporting and community requirements 

while balancing financial considerations, we have developed a series of options potentially 

available for the site. 

3.108 The initial shortlist of facilities identified at the SOC stage has been reviewed, to establish and 

test need/ demand, confirm physical fit on site (within the red line boundary), review the 

likely associated capital costs, and explore the likely market appetite from prospective 

partners. 

3.109 This has led to a series of refinements to the shortlist at the OBC stage, to best reflect the 

potential of alternative options to meet the Trust’s objectives and, crucially, be deliverable 

and financially sustainable. In light of these refinements, the shortlisted options considered in 

further detail in this OBC are therefore: 

• Option 1A: Do Nothing/ Business As Usual (BAU) 

• Option 1B: Do Minimum 

• Option 3A: Athletics & sports centre including pitch hub 

• Option 5: Athletics & indoor arena 

• Option 6: Athletics & professional sport stadium.  

3.110 These options respond to the strategic analysis presented above and to the consultation 

previously commissioned. They provide a range of challenges and opportunities, reflecting 

the issues inherent in this project and in the site’s designation as MOL, in particular. 

3.111 Given the nature of this appointment, this list of options is not intended to be exclusive or 

definitive, and subject to the Trust’s wishes as the project advances there is potential scope 

for alternative iterations, mixes of facilities and alternative site configurations. However, they 

provide a robust basis for testing the likely implications of development at the site. 

3.112 We would highlight, for example, that were Option 3A to come forward it may be possible to 

deliver the Sports Centre component in the location of the current changing block to avoid 

moving the athletics track, but this would ultimately be subject to a determination with key 

project stakeholders – in this instance most notably Imperial College. At this stage in the 

process we have however illustrated a single site configuration for each option for indicative 

layout and initial commercial analysis purposes. 

Page 97



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

46 

 

3.113 The athletics track provision is retained under all options, given the strategic importance of 

this provision as the only track in the Borough and as the home of Thames Valley Harriers.  

3.114 Option 1B is KDFC’s preferred solution insofar as it delivers their pitch scheme as previously 

shared with the Trust and which has planning position. A hybrid grass pitch is however not 

included in any of the other options as it is assumed that in order to maximise usage that STP 

provision is preferable, since a hybrid pitch cannot be heavily used and indeed will, largely, 

only be available to KDFC. KDFC will have the option to remain on the site under all the other 

options, albeit this would need to be: 

• On the pitch in the centre of the track under Option 1A, 3A, 5 or 6 (though this is not 

appropriate for higher divisions than currently) 

• On the pitch in the centre of the track or a 4G pitch (subject to formal league approval) 

under Option 3A or 5. 

3.115 Consultation has identified multiple credible potential investors/ developer partners/ end 

users to suggest that a major development can be delivered without requiring the Trust or 

Council to provide a grant. The specific appeal of the site and its location is such that the 

economics work for these prospective partners in a way that would not be elsewhere in a less 

significant and appealing market, for example: 

• Imperial College has a strategic requirement for new sports facilities to serve its central 

campus and appeal to current and prospective students that goes beyond the pure 

investment return associated with sports facilities 

• QPR have a specific strategic need for a new stadium in their current catchment area and 

as a major professional club require a new long-term home to enable them to be 

sustainable as a business in the long-term, beyond the headline returns achievable purely 

from the operation of a stadium 

• Multiple arena developers/ operators have significant appetite for a new venue in 

London, and in West London in particular. While arenas would typically require capital 

grant funding from the public sector, the particular economics of the London market (and 

the levels of corporate demand, sponsorship opportunities and latent promoter/ event 

need) are such that a new venue could potentially be deliverable without any public 

funding. 

3.116 Subject to the funding/ delivery mechanism, the options also have potential to generate an 

annual return for the Trust (and the Council) which, if realised, could be invested in other 

uses and programmes to secure wider community benefit. 

3.117 Section 4 (Economic Case) of this OBC advances to test the costs and benefits of the options 

detailed above. 

Page 98



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Strategic Outline Case  

 

47 

 

4. The Economic Case 

Critical Success Factors 

4.1 Based on the analysis completed at the SOC stage, the following Critical Success Factors 

(CSFs) were agreed between IPW… and the Trust’s representative: 

1. Preserve the environment/ minimise ecological impact 

2. Support public physical activity, recreation and leisure uses 

3. Deliver quality facilities for tenant users 

4. Must not impact critical day-to-day operations of Hospital and Prison 

5. Achieve a financial/ economic return for the Council and the Trust. 

4.2 These CSFs remain guiding principles for determining the option(s) most suited to the Trust’s 

aspirations for the site. 

4.3 In headline terms, the current sports facilities are unsustainable and not fit for purpose. In 

order to retain this sport and leisure resource, either investment in the site and/or value 

must be generated by the site, while preserving the primary use of the site ‘for the leisure 

and recreation needs of the metropolis’. This requires a careful balancing of, and likely 

compromises between, community/ social/ sports and leisure uses and what can be achieved 

in commercial terms. 

4.4 We have prepared detailed P&L projections for each option, in line with Treasury best 

practice, which are presented in this section of the OBC. However, we would highlight that 

for several of the options under consideration the prospective project partners have drivers 

beyond pure/immediate financial investment decisions which dictate their appetite for the 

site. For example, Imperial College has a strategic and competitive/ market positioning need 

for new sports facilities at the site and are interested to explore this development even 

acknowledging that a direct financial return would never truly be achievable.  

4.5 However, this exercise serves as initial due diligence for the Trust to show the projected 

operational sustainability of each option and the affordability of each proposal, to provide 

comfort as to whether the solutions are deliverable in the long-term or are accompanied by 

major risks that would hamper any benefits. 

Capital costs 

4.6 Provided as a separate, confidential, appendix. 

Operating projections 

4.7 Provided as a separate, confidential, appendix. 

Summary P&L projections 

4.8 Provided as a separate, confidential, appendix. 

Economic contribution and NPC/NPV findings 

4.9 Provided as a separate, confidential, appendix. 

  

Page 99



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Strategic Outline Case  

 

48 

 

Benefits appraisal 

4.10 Stakeholders from the Trust, Council officers (across a range of departments), and local 

Councillors were engaged in the consultation process to develop an informed (and project-

specific) tool to enable comparison between the shortlisted options.  

4.11 As part of this, key representatives of the Trust and Council were each provided with a 

Relative Importance Grid (RIG) developed by IPW… that built on the Critical Success Factors 

and listed a range of key considerations for the future of LCOSS, the site. Respondents were 

requested to rank the importance of each consideration relative to another. This approach 

facilitates a comparison of "apples and oranges" that highlights the most important factors 

and helps to set priorities where there are conflicting demands on what can be achieved. 

4.12 On receipt of the RIG responses, IPW… analysed and collated the results to determine a 

consolidated, moderated view on the strategic and financial issues viewed as most critical to 

the future solutions identified. This process enabled IPW… to gain key feedback from an 

informed audience, test issues associated with the development options, and to start to 

develop a matrix to compare the relative merits of each. 

4.13 We received nine completed RIGs from representatives of the Council and Trust. The 

outcomes of the feedback are summarised overleaf in Table 4.11, highlighting the project 

criteria/ outcomes most frequently highlighted as of priority importance by respondents - 

and therefore signifying the most important criteria for a future project to deliver on. Further 

analysis is provided in Appendix E. 

4.14 Table 4.11 also shows (by way of a sliding scale from red to green) the anticipated potential 

of each option to achieve planning consent and, separately, a headline view as to the 

indicative order of cost for transport interventions required in order to make each option 

feasible operationally/ commercially. These are included for indicative purposes for the 

Trust’s reference as important considerations, but this has not impacted any of the scores 

awarded at this stage. 

Page 100



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Strategic Outline Case  

 

49 

 

Table 4.11  Relative Importance Grid outcomes/ criteria prioritisation 

Criteria 
Average score/ item (i.e. 

times highlighted) 
Scoring rank 

Deliver economic impact/ regeneration impact 10.6 1 

Maximise annual revenue stream  10.2 2 

Attract new users/ increase local activity and health 9.9 3= 

Allow the Hospital and Prison to continue to operate as currently 9.9 3= 

Leave scope for the Hospital to further refine/ enhance its offer 9.8 5 

Facilitate/ encourage continued use of the Scrubs as leisure resource 8.4 6 

Provide facilities that complement the Hospital 8.2 7 

Maximise one-off capital sum 7.3 8 

Deliver enhanced, publicly-accessible sports facilities 7.2 9 

Deliver design that responds to the environment 6.7 10 

Limit negative impact on Scrubs ecology 6.4 11 

Deliver quality facilities for Thames Valley Harriers 6.3 12= 

Attract additional tenant user groups 6.3 12= 

Deliver quality facilities for Kensington Dragons 5.8 14 

Minimise vehicular/ servicing traffic to site and surroundings 3.8 15 

Minimise public footfall/ traffic to site and surroundings 3 16 

NB Those items highlighted most often by respondents (i.e. deemed as more important than other criteria) are deemed most important 

P
age 101



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

50 

 

4.15 On the basis of the evaluation, the five most important criteria for project stakeholders are: 

1. Deliver economic impact/ regeneration impact 

2. Maximise annual revenue stream  

3. =Attract new users/ increase local activity and health 

3. =Allow the Hospital and Prison to continue to operate as currently 

5. Leave scope for the Hospital to further refine/ enhance its offer. 

4.16 These rankings, and the priority of each criterion relative to others, have been used to inform 

the development of the options appraisal matrix. While some of the criteria were, on further 

review, consolidated where very similar/ related or removed from consideration due to the 

very low priority placed on them, in essence: 

• the criteria deemed most important are given the highest weighting 

• all other criteria are weighted relative to the most important criterion. 

4.17 Table 4.12 overleaf presents the evaluation of the options analysed in this OBC, with 

indicative scores for each option and a subsequent ranking. We would highlight that this 

ranking is not definitive (particularly given the current stage in the process) and does not 

preclude alternative development proposals from coming forward.  

Page 102



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

51 

 

Table 4.12  Linford Christie Outdoor Sports Stadium redevelopment – Options appraisal matrix 

Anticipated planning complexity/risk rating       

             

Indicative complexity of transport solutions/ interventions       

 

 

Weighting 

Option 1A Option 1B Option 3A Option 5 Option 6 

 Do Minimum/ Business 
As Usual 

Do Minimum 
Athletics & sports 

centre incl. pitch hub 
Athletics plus indoor 

arena 
Athletics plus Professional 

sport stadium 

Criteria 
Raw 
score 

Weighted Raw score Weighted Raw score Weighted Raw score Weighted Raw score Weighted 

Financial and economic     2   #N/A   1   #N/A   #N/A 

Maximise annual revenue stream  20 0 0 1 4 2 8 5 20 4 16 

Deliver economic impact/ regeneration impact 20 1 4 1 4 2 8 5 20 4 16 

Sub Total   1 4 2 8 4 16 10 40 8 32 

                        

Non-Financial                       

Minimise vehicular/ servicing traffic to site and surroundings 5 5 5 5 5 3 3 1 1 2 2 

Limit negative impact on Scrubs ecology 5 5 5 5 5 4 4 1 1 2 2 

Deliver enhanced, publicly-accessible sports facilities 8 1 1.6 2 3.2 4 6.4 2 3.2 1 1.6 

Facilitate/ encourage continued use of the Scrubs as leisure resource 10 1 2 2 4 3 6 2 4 2 4 

Attract new users/ increase local activity and health 15 2 6 3 9 4 12 2 6 2 6 

Deliver quality facilities for Thames Valley Harriers 5 2 2 2 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 

Deliver quality facilities for Kensington Dragons 2 2 0.8 5 2 3 1.2 2 0.8 2 0.8 

Allow the Hospital and Prison to continue to operate as currently 10 5 10 5 10 3 6 2 4 2 4 

Sub Total   26 32.40 29 40.20 29 43.60 17 25.00 18 25.40 

                      

TOTAL 100 27 36.4 31 48.2 33 59.6 27 65 26 57.4 

PERCENTAGE OF MAXIMUM SCORE    36.4%   48.2%   59.6%   65.0%   57.4% 

RANK    5   4   2   1   3 

 

 

P
age 103



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

52 

 

The preferred option 

4.18 Given the nature of the Trust’s varying objectives and requirements, and the high likelihood 

that compromises will be required to balance these issues, we do not believe that a single 

preferred option can be identified at this stage in the process. Instead, the Trust will, we 

recommend, need to market the opportunity and encourage partners to come forward with 

proposals that have potential to maximise benefit while, where possible, limiting the negative 

implications of development. Table 4.13 summarises, at a high level, the indicative outcomes 

of the options appraisal matrix. 

Table 4.13  Summary outcomes – options appraisal matrix 

Criteria Option 1A Option 1B Option 3A Option 5 Option 6 

Financial and economic 4.0 8.0 16.0 40.0 32.0 

Non-Financial 32.4 40.2 43.6 25.0 25.4 

Overall 36.4 48.2 59.6 65.0 57.4 

Overall percentage of maximum score 36% 48% 60% 65% 57% 

Rank 5 4 2 1 3 

 

4.19 The scoring presented in Tables 4.12 and 4.13 above illustrates that the BAU option is the 

least positive of the options. It also particularly highlights that the Imperial College sports, 

professional sports stadium and arena development options (3A, 5 & 6) have varying 

strengths and shortcomings/ challenges. 

4.20 The three development schemes are considered most likely to give the overall best 

outcomes, against the evaluation criteria developed during this process, and are closely 

grouped. This is however indicative and subject to further testing from the Trust – we would 

expect that the Trust will not be so prescriptive as to determine a single option but instead 

will consider alternative proposals brought forward by prospective partners through a 

competitive process (see Section 7). 

4.21 We would however highlight that Option 6 and, in particular, Option 5 are considered very 

challenging in deliverability terms due to the planning restrictions and potential transport 

implications associated with these developments. 

Sensitivity analysis 

4.22 Provided as a separate, confidential, appendix. 

Conclusions – The Economic Case 

4.23 The economic dimension of the OBC as set out in this section has identified the proposals 

that are considered likely to deliver best overall value for the Trust, including wider social and 

environmental effects as well as commercial/ economic considerations, using cost benefit 

analysis (CBA).  

4.24 We do not anticipate that the Trust will be assuming any financial/ operating downside risk 

under any option other than the BAU and Do Minimum interventions. There may instead 

however be scope to receive capital or ongoing fixed revenue contributions and annual 

overage payments linked to the developer/ partner for a given option exceeding their base 

Page 104



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

53 

 

projections (subject to negotiation through any procurement process). This money could then 

be invested in securing significant benefits linked to the Trust’s objectives. 

 

Page 105



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

54 

 

5. The Commercial Case 

COVID-19 

5.1 As this work has been developed during the COVID-19 pandemic, we have sought to be 

cognisant of the impacts that this may have on the options and delivery models under 

consideration.  

5.2 At the time of writing (August 2020) some sports and leisure facilities (including a number of 

Council facilities in the Borough) have reopened albeit with different protocols in place. It 

might be expected that some of the social distancing measures currently governing 

engagement in sport and leisure may be relaxed as the presence of the virus is minimised, or 

a vaccine developed, whereas some of the sanitising/ cleaning regimes and the prevalence of 

contactless interactions are likely to remain.  

5.3 Outdoor activities are also less impacted by the public health concerns and risk of 

transmission. The majority of amateur sporting competition (and league structures, including 

KDFC’s division) are planning to return for their new seasons shortly, albeit with new 

protocols in place such as, in many cases, not using team changing facilities pre/ post activity. 

5.4 On balance, once a ‘new normal’ is established (within 2-3 years) we expect that activity 

levels and engagement in organised sport and leisure will return to previous levels, with the 

residual impact of COVID-19 affecting how visitors engage with the experience rather than 

overall long-term numbers. 

5.5 We have previously highlighted that there are some additional risks created by the COVID-19 

situation, including the commercial environment for and appetite of sports and 

entertainment organisations who are prospective partners for a development project. These 

issues should be closely monitored by the Trust, and alternative strategies developed where 

necessary. Given the likely planning challenges and the associated development timeframe, it 

is likely that a ‘new normal’ will be established by the time any larger new facilities are 

operational. 

Procurement 

5.6 Bevan Brittan has advised that the Trust does not have a separate legal personality from the 

Council (i.e. it is not a separate corporate vehicle). This does not necessarily mean that the 

Trust is subject to EU procurement law. That analysis instead depends on whether the Trust is 

considered to be a contracting authority as a “body governed by public law” as defined in the 

PCR. We do however expect to follow a PCR/ OJEU process in any procurement however, 

whether it is formally led by the Trust or by the Council as the sole corporate trustee. 

5.7 As the scheme develops and advances, the Trust’s ability to manage any procurement/ 

delivery will have to be considered, given that it does not have staff to administer these 

services. Any commercial property delivery mechanism may necessitate an alternative Trust 

relationship with the site.  

5.8 The scheme provides an opportunity to deliver a range of solutions to maximise the benefit 

to the Trust. The analysis completed in the course of this OBC provides a strong basis for 

manifesting the Trust’s objectives in a competitive evaluation process. 

Page 106



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

55 

 

5.9 Individual developers and operators will have their own solutions and will offer a range of 

benefits to the stakeholders.  The scale of these benefits is shown in Section 4. The best 

approach to maximise the benefits is to run a procurement exercise focused on the Trust’s 

outcomes and objectives. There is the potential for sizeable community benefits be they 

directly developed or provided indirectly through financial resources from the developer and 

operator partners. 

5.10 While further work will be required to determine the parameters of any procurement 

competition, and the evaluation framework, the benefits that should be evaluated in any 

competitive process are likely to indicatively include: 

Social and community benefits 

1. Provision of an athletics track and field, accessible to the public and for the use of 

Thames Valley Harriers 

2. Safeguarding ongoing access to facilities for existing user groups 

3. Respect and preserve the Scrubs and its public users 

4. Provide new changing facilities for teams using the Scrubs sports pitches 

5. Provide additional opportunities for community use and engagement 

6. Not disturb the operation of Hammersmith Hospital and the Pony Club 

Financial/ commercial benefits 

7. Ensure the Trust’s long-term financial sustainability so that it can continue to preserve 

and maintain the Scrubs 

8. Potential to generate income in the long-term, so that any changes are financially 

sustainable 

9. Secure additional contributions to achieve wider benefits beyond the Scrubs and across/ 

beyond the Borough. 

5.11 The benefits will need to be carefully balanced by the Trust to optimise the balance between 

social and commercial outcomes while aligning with its overall charitable objectives. This is 

achievable through a procurement evaluation process that weights the required benefits 

subject to their importance, to ensure that they appropriately feed into the determination of 

the best overall solution. 

5.12 The potential developers could be a consortium of developers, building contractors and 

operators but will most likely be led by long-term operating partners for the scheme be that 

standalone leisure facilities, a professional sporting club, an arena or a combination of more 

than one element.   

5.13 The procurement process will need to ensure it is fair, transparent and in accordance with 

regulatory requirements. The legal advisors can comment on the extent to which the Trust 

need to follow public procurement guidance. However, even if non-public procurement is 

progressed, all of the rigour and benefits of public procurement can be followed to provide 

the best outcome for all involved. Ultimately the Trust would procure a development partner 

to provide community benefits and a financial payment to support the further delivery of 

community benefits and the objectives of the Trust.   

Page 107



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

56 

 

5.14 We believe the best route will be for a competitive dialogue process where the Trust and its 

advisors engage in a dialogue with the potential partners so as to maximise the community 

benefits and financial payments that would flow from the proposed scheme.   

5.15 Whilst it is potentially possible to seek a relatively simple development competition seeking 

to dispose of a long leasehold sale of the land, we believe greater engagement with the 

development partners will both maximise the outcomes for the Trust and increase the 

likelihood of a successful development coming forward.   

5.16 The competitive dialogue process would be based upon:   

• a call for partners to provide a development scheme maximising community benefit in 

accordance with the Trust’s objectives 

• the partners would be expected to provide a financial payment (be it capital or, 

preferably, revenue) which would then be used for further community benefits in the 

immediate surrounding area or within the boundaries of the Trust’s objectives 

• the partners would take the development and delivery risk for the proposed 

development, undertaking the design, planning, construction, funding and operational 

risk for the scheme 

• it is anticipated that different forms of development will come forward, but these will be 

assessed against the community benefit and direct financial benefits achieved 

• the anticipated uses are as per this OBC including new leisure provision, a professional 

sports stadium, and a major arena, but this is not an exclusive list and further options 

could be brought forward 

• we would anticipate a process over six to nine months to select a partner following which 

full contracts would be concluded 

• it is anticipated that there will be a conditional agreement signed with the partner 

subject to achieving the specific development and the community and financial benefits 

that would flow 

• there is the potential for the public sector to provide debt financing for the scheme at a 

commercial margin which will maximise the attractiveness of the project for all parties 

concerned and have the potential to maximise the community and financial benefits to 

the Trust.   

5.17 A critical aspect of the scheme will be the range of proposals that will have varying risk 

profiles with varying benefits/ financial proposals.  Ultimately the Trust will select a partner to 

provide the greatest overall benefits with the best mitigation for the risks that are likely to be 

incurred.   

5.18 There is the opportunity for sizeable community benefit that would fully meet the Trust’s 

objectives both locally and regionally.   

  

Page 108



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

57 

 

5.19 The competitive dialogue process is well-used and an experienced route for these types of 

projects and these types of schemes with potential mixed outcomes.  The potential bidding 

parties will in most cases be used to this process and will be able to respond to the dynamics 

of provision of community benefit and financial rewards whilst taking the ultimate 

development risk on creating the relevant schemes.   

5.20 At the time of writing, we have not received formal confirmation from the Trust’s legal 

advisors as to the Trust’s procurement status. However, as the Trust has no officers directly 

employed, we recommend that it should consider delegating to key Council officers to allow 

for all activities of the Trust to be successfully managed. The Council has also historically 

highlighted that the Trust could also consider paying for a specific officer to act as the Trust 

Manager.  

5.21 A recent review has also clarified the different roles and responsibilities between the Trust 

and the Council, alongside the cost of operating LCOSS and administrative support to the 

Trust. This has highlighted to the Council is that it does not recover all its costs in relation to 

officer time and as such the Council plans to review the costs of the support it provides and 

how this can be recovered from the Trust. 

5.22 In light of these considerations, together with a lack of Council resource to directly manage a 

procurement process, it is recommended that the Trust/ Council separately appoints an 

experienced, external, third party operator to manage a competitive process.  

5.23 Based on feedback from prospective partners, there is a clear appetite to commence a 

competitive process as early as possible. In order to maximise interest from the market, it is 

important that any competitive process is designed and implemented in such a way that 

partners are confident in the speed and fairness of a competition. 

Conclusions – The Commercial Case 

5.24 The initial project management structures for the development of any scheme must 

recognise that the Trust itself has no direct staff and that in effect the Council provides the 

resources to engage and deliver any of the tasks of the Trust. It is assumed that the Council 

will provide the resources to engage and deliver any of the tasks of the Trust under a scheme 

of delegation from the Trust Committee. As has been undertaken in producing the OBC it is 

advised that Trust/ Council should employ experienced advisors on the procurement and the 

development options being sought.  

5.25 This advice would be supported by specialist technical input on planning, design, costs and 

legal issues (either through Bevan Brittan as the Trust’s appointed legal advisors or another 

practice, if required). In effect, the Trust has already appointed a team to undertake these 

tasks and these can be continued through the procurement and contracting stage.   

5.26 We believe the best route will be for a competitive dialogue process where the Trust and its 

advisors engage in a dialogue with the potential partners so as to maximise the community 

benefits and financial payments that would flow from the proposed scheme.   

5.27 Whilst it is potentially possible to seek a relatively simple development competition seeking 

to dispose of a long leasehold sale of the land, we believe greater engagement with the 

Page 109



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

58 

 

development partners will both maximise the outcomes for the Trust and increase the 

likelihood of a successful development coming forward.   

5.28 Once the procurement process has selected a preferred development and operating partner 

it will be for that partner to drive forward the design and planning permissions to deliver the 

facilities. The Trust will need a level of support to ensure that its interests are being protected 

but most of the risk and costs associated with the design and planning process would, we 

anticipate, be undertaken by the development partner.   

5.29 The ultimate management solution for the facilities will be specific to the development 

solution procured. However, under Options 3, 5 and 6 it is assumed that operations and risk 

are taken by a partner organisation and therefore cease to be the responsibility of the Trust. 

5.30 Based on feedback from prospective partners, there is a clear appetite to commence a 

competitive process as early as possible. In order to maximise interest from the market, it is 

important that any competitive process is designed and implemented in such a way that 

partners are confident in the speed and fairness of a competition. 

Page 110



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

59 

 

6. The Financial Case 

6.1 The Financial Case section is provided as a separate, confidential, appendix. 

 

Page 111



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

60 

 

7. The Management Case 

Project management arrangements 

7.1 The Trust has no officers directly employed, and as such we recommend that it should 

consider delegating to key Council officers to allow for all activities of the Trust to be 

successfully managed in advancing potential solutions for the LCOSS site. 

7.2 The initial project management structures for the development of any scheme must 

recognise that the Trust itself has no direct staff and that in effect the Council provides the 

resources to engage and deliver any of the tasks of the Trust.  

7.3 As has been undertaken in producing the OBC it is advised that Trust/ Council should employ 

experienced advisors to advise on the procurement and the development options being 

sought.  

7.4 This advice would be supported by specialist technical input on planning, design, costs and 

legal issues (either through Bevan Brittan as the Trust’s appointed legal advisors or another 

practice, if required). In effect, the Trust/ Council has already appointed a team to undertake 

these tasks and these can be continued through the procurement and contracting stage.  

Prospects for joint working 

7.5 There are a range of joint working opportunities available for the Trust and its partners, with 

the specifics subject to the ultimate option that is pursued.  

7.6 This could include, for example: 

• generating specific funds to support the Trust’s wider objectives through education and 

other programmes across the ‘metropolis’ 

• Thames Valley Harriers and/ or KDFC partnering with/ supporting developers to 

(potentially part-fund) facilities and drive usage in line with their aspirations 

• strategic partnerships between a professional tenant sports club and Thames Valley 

Harriers and/ or KDFC to share coaching insights and best practice 

• reciprocal use agreements of the assorted facilities between tenants/ users 

• exploring partnerships with other stakeholders elsewhere in the Borough (clubs and 

facilities) to maximise the overall social value achievable from interventions at LCOSS 

• provision of event tickets/ facility access targeted at hard to reach groups and other 

charitable initiatives, for example. 

7.7 Under all of the core development options considered in this OBC we would highlight scope 

for community sports groups to align with larger commercial organisations to deliver a 

rounded solution. 

Operation of the site/ built facilities (on completion) 

7.8 The operating solution for the site should ultimately be determined subject to the 

development option that comes forward. The prospective development partners engaged in 

this process have indicated a potential willingness (and capability) to explore the 

management of the wider site (within the red line).  

Page 112



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

61 

 

7.9 The headline solutions could include, we anticipate: 

1. All facilities at the site are managed by a single operator; 

2. The facilities are sub-divided into multiple areas and managed under three separate 

contracts covering, for example and as appropriate: 

− Clubs, community and school use 

− University (competitive and casual) use 

− Major event/ Professional sports use. 

7.10 Under the BAU/ Do Nothing and Do Minimum schemes the current management model 

(idVerde-managed booking system, Council operation of the facilities) could potentially 

continue or scope to outsource the management role to a third party leisure operator – such 

as GLL as the current operator of other facilities in the Borough – could be considered. Given 

the financial challenges typically associated with making athletics facilities operationally 

sustainable this is likely to only be possible on a management contract basis whereby the 

Trust/ Council pays an operator to manage the facilities on their behalf, with little prospect 

on an operator taking a lease or assuming significant operating risk. 

7.11 Were the Imperial College scheme (Option 3A) to advance they would be expected to 

manage and programme the whole LCOSS site as a sports hub/ campus, with the facilities 

made available to club and community users at agreed times and rates. 

7.12 In the case of a major venue-led development (Options 5 & 6) we would imagine that the 

major facilities will be managed by an experienced and expert arena operator (Option 5) or 

by the professional club (or appointed external operator) (Option 6). They could opt to 

extend their operating remit to cover the community sports facilities, with the potential to 

benefit from some of the on-site/ other operational synergies. 

7.13 Should any developer prefer not to operate the community sports facilities it will be critical 

that they establish a fund to support any ongoing operational subsidy and/ or investment in 

refreshing the facilities. We would expect the Trust to seek a solution whereby the developer 

assumes full responsibility for funding and operating the sports facilities – preferably through 

their own contract or, if not, then an approved annual fund (of an agreed sum) through which 

the Council and Trust could separately procure a third party sports facility operator. 

7.14 The ultimate operating solution for the built facilities at the site will be contingent on the 

development option that comes forward through (we anticipate) a commercial procurement 

process (see below). Within this, it is important that the Trust and Council are able to be 

assured of the continued, and quality, operation of the athletics and sports facilities on the 

site – though we expect that any risk will be transferred to a project partner/ developer 

under all scenarios. 

  

Page 113



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

62 

 

7.15 Once the facilities have been developed, the operation will, we anticipate, be through the 

operating partner – be that Imperial College, the professional sports club or the arena 

operator. The Trust and the Council will need a small amount of support on an annual 

ongoing basis again to ensure its interests (particularly financial and community) are being 

adhered to. In effect, this is a contract management arrangement and could be funded 

through the anticipated financial rewards to the Trust.   

Conclusions – Management Case 

7.16 Once the procurement process has selected a preferred development and operating partner 

it will be for that partner to drive forward the design and planning permissions to deliver the 

facilities. The Trust will need a level of support to ensure that its interests are being protected 

but most of the risk and costs associated with the design and planning process would, we 

anticipate, be undertaken by the development partner.   

7.17 The ultimate management solution for the facilities will be specific to the development 

solution procured. However, under Options 3, 5 and 6 it is assumed that operations and risk 

are taken by a partner organisation and therefore cease to be the responsibility of the Trust 

or the Council. 

 

Page 114



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

63 

 

8. Summary 

Overview 

8.1 The LCOSS is an important strategic asset for Hammersmith & Fulham, and a key part of the 

Trust’s charitable remit. The current facilities are tired and are not sustainable financially in 

their current form (even before the financial and facility closure challenges created by COVID 

19) – requiring as they do a significant annual subsidy from the Trust (and the Council), plus 

additional capital investment. 

8.2 Without the short-term revenues created by the lease of part of the Scrubs to KAA, the Trust 

will return to being in an annual shortfall with expenditure exceeding income. With the 

ongoing impact of austerity cuts, before the financial challenges created by COVID-19, the 

Council must understandably focus on the sustainable management of its finances. On this 

basis, and despite the sporting benefit that the current uses bring even with ageing facilities, 

we do not believe that the Council has an appetite to invest major capital or continued 

revenue to support facilities at the LCOSS site that do not generate a direct economic return. 

8.3 There is a clear strategic mandate, and significant public support, for making a major 

intervention at the site that can deliver strategic, economic and financial benefit for the Trust 

with the potential to fund other interventions consistent with its objectives. This OBC has 

considered a number of potential options, though there is scope for alternative 

amalgamations and configurations of facilities to be created. 

8.4 Since the Trust is not anticipating an application for government funding, the specific 

requirements of a Treasury-compliant OBC are not directly applicable. However, we have 

used this structure as the basis for preparing the analysis in this paper to highlight the key 

strategic, economic, commercial, financial and management implications as the Trust 

considers the optimum long-term solution for the site to deliver on their aspirations. 

8.5 The analysis completed in the course of this OBC has highlighted the challenges inherent in 

balancing the need to generate the (capital and revenue) investment necessary to deliver 

quality, long-term sports uses at LCOSS with a wish to minimise development at the site. In 

essence, the Trust must consider a spectrum/ continuum from zero to maximum investment 

that can be leveraged (financial benefit) against an associated compromise of preserving the 

Scrubs as it is currently.  

8.6 The Trust could continue to operate as it is currently and, should Council funding fall away as 

it cannot continue to be sustained, use fundraising efforts in addition to its commercial 

activities in order to maintain the status quo or invest in enhancements. However, this is not 

considered to be sustainable in the long-term, nor to have the potential to significantly 

improve the quality of provision available. 

8.7 In essence, the provision and maintenance of an environment that is conducive to sports and 

leisure activity, including the ongoing maintenance of the Scrubs itself, is not anticipated to 

be achievable without encouraging outside investment in uses that may ultimately reduce the 

total amount of publicly-available sports and leisure space at the site. 

Page 115



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

64 

 

8.8 The Trust currently anticipates that the private sector will bring the necessary funding to 

deliver a project (at minimal/ no risk to the partners unless in exceptional circumstances with 

appropriate potential returns) and achieve financial improvement at the site in the form of 

removing the current subsidy and/or delivering an annual payment. 

Considering the development options 

8.9 This OBC has revisited the shortlist of options presented at the SOC stage in light of further 

analysis and information. This resulted in development of the shortlist to more appropriately 

meet that specific requirements of the Trust, the site and the market. 

8.10 In light of these refinements, the shortlisted options evaluated in this OBC were therefore: 

• Option 1A: Do Nothing/ Business As Usual (BAU) 

• Option 1B: Do Minimum 

• Option 3A: Athletics & sports centre including pitch hub 

• Option 5: Athletics & indoor arena 

• Option 6: Athletics & professional sport stadium.  

8.11 The BAU option is considered unsustainable and the projections prepared have identified 

potential that the overall operating position will only worsen over time, further increasing the 

subsidy requirement on the Trust (and/ or the Council). 

8.12 The Do Minimum option would deliver improvements at the site, specifically around 

enhancing the football facilities and facilitating the potential for KFDC to achieve promotion 

further up the pyramid (subject to on field performance) and driving higher projected 

revenues from the improved STP provision. However, it is projected to still require an 

operational subsidy on completion and, although KDFC is proposing to invest a sizeable sum 

(relative to their revenues/ operations) there is still a significant capital requirement for the 

Trust/ Council to meet. 

3.118 Consultation has identified multiple credible potential investors/ developer partners/ end 

users to suggest that a major development can be delivered without requiring the Trust or 

Council to provide a grant. The specific appeal of the site and its location is such that the 

economics work for these prospective partners in a way that would not be elsewhere in a less 

significant and appealing market, for example: 

• Imperial College has a strategic requirement for new sports facilities to serve its central 

campus and appeal to current and prospective students that goes beyond the pure 

investment return associated with sports facilities 

• QPR have a specific strategic need for a new stadium in their current catchment area and 

as a major professional club require a new long-term home to enable them to be 

sustainable as a business in the long-term, beyond the headline returns achievable purely 

from the operation of a stadium 

  

Page 116



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

65 

 

• Multiple arena developers/ operators have significant appetite for a new venue in 

London, and in West London in particular. While arenas would typically require capital 

grant funding from the public sector, the particular economics of the London market (and 

the levels of corporate demand, sponsorship opportunities and latent promoter/ event 

need) are such that a new venue could potentially be deliverable without any public 

funding. 

8.13 Options 3A, 5 and 6 are all projected to have a more significant impact and be more 

financially sustainable/ generate potential revenue for the Trust. However all of these options 

necessitate the development of new buildings on the site, which runs contrary to the current 

MOL designation and as such will require a clear planning case based on Very Special 

Circumstances (VSC) that might be supported on this site. 

8.14 Option 3A would deliver enhanced sports facilities through a deal with Imperial College. 

While the facilities would primarily be for the use of its students, Imperial College intends to 

also make the facilities available for other club use (for Thames Valley Harriers and KDFC, for 

example) and for public use/ hire. While the facilities are expected to only achieve a relatively 

small operating surplus (before lifecycle), Imperial has other strategic reasons to pursue and 

develop this option, in consolidating its sports provision closer to its campus hub.  

8.15 Options 5 (major indoor arena) and 6 (professional sports stadium) have the potential to 

generate higher levels of revenue and greater returns for the Trust, which in turn can be 

invested in securing significant community benefit in line with the Trust’s charitable 

objectives. Both options secure a long-term, improved athletics solution but we anticipate 

that the Trust may also seek to invest any receipts on also supporting its objectives beyond 

the red line boundary of the site. Option 5 is projected to have the highest economic impact 

of any of the options. 

8.16 The analysis undertaken has particularly highlighted that there are multiple potential 

development uses that have scope to meet planning requirements (though noting that any 

development on MOL is likely to be highly challenging) and generate significant returns that 

can safeguard the retention of some sporting facilities on the site and also be used beyond 

LCOSS to drive additional benefit for the Borough. 

8.17 While the commercial/ financial implications of any deal for the Trust would need to be 

weighed against the social, community and sporting factors that can be influenced with 

additional revenue, our analysis suggests that there is significant scope to achieve significant 

returns which could be re-invested elsewhere, were the Trust so minded. 

8.18 We would highlight however that there are very significant planning and transport challenges 

associated with developing Option 5 (in particular) and Option 6. 

Procuring a partner 

8.19 The initial project management structures for the development of any scheme must 

recognise that the Trust itself has no direct staff and that in effect the Council provides the 

resources to engage and deliver any of the tasks of the Trust. As has been undertaken in 

producing the OBC it is advised that Trust/ Council should employ experienced advisors on 

the procurement and the development options being sought.  

Page 117



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

66 

 

8.20 This advice would be supported by specialist technical input on planning, design, costs and 

legal issues (either through Bevan Brittan as the Trust’s appointed legal advisors or another 

practice, if required). In effect, the Trust/ Council has already appointed a team to undertake 

these tasks and these can be continued through the procurement and contracting stage.   

8.21 We believe the best route will be for a competitive procurement process (competitive 

dialogue under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR), a similar process under the 

Concession Contracts Regulation 2016, or light regime PCR) where the Trust and its advisors 

engage in a dialogue/ negotiation with the potential partners so as to maximise the 

community benefits and financial payments that would flow from the proposed scheme.   

8.22 Whilst it is potentially possible to seek a relatively simple development competition seeking 

to dispose of a long leasehold sale of the land, we believe greater engagement with the 

development partners will both maximise the outcomes for the Trust and increase the 

likelihood of a successful development coming forward.   

8.23 Once the procurement process has selected a preferred development and operating partner 

it will be for that partner to drive forward the design and planning permissions to deliver the 

facilities. The Trust/ Council will need a level of support to ensure that its interests are being 

protected but most of the risk and costs associated with the design and planning process 

would, we anticipate, be undertaken by the development partner.   

8.24 The ultimate management solution for the facilities will be specific to the development 

solution procured. However, under Options 3, 5 and 6 it is assumed that operations and risk 

are taken by a partner organisation and therefore cease to be the responsibility of the Trust 

or the Council. 

8.25 Based on feedback from prospective partners, there is a clear appetite to commence a 

competitive process as early as possible. In order to maximise interest from the market, it is 

important that any competitive process is designed and implemented in such a way that 

partners are confident in the speed and fairness of a competition. 

Securing project benefits 

8.26 Any solution procured should seek to maximise the benefits for the Trust – with potential 

financial benefits converted into interventions that benefit the public, in line with its 

charitable status. 

8.27 Per the terms of the WSA, the Trust’s objectives relate to delivering “exercise and 

recreation… [for] the inhabitants of the metropolis” through the Scrubs. 

8.28 Bevan Brittan has advised that the “inhabitants of the metropolis” relates to the inhabitants 

of Inner London generally rather than a specific part of London (e.g. Hammersmith & 

Fulham). The Metropolitan Board of Works (the main body responsible for the government of 

the “metropolis” at the time of the WSA) was disbanded in 1889 and replaced with the 

London County Council (which covered a similar area), which then became the Greater 

London Council in 1965 and covered “Greater London” as the name suggests.   

8.29 We understand that responsibility for the Wormwood Scrubs passed to the Council around 

1972. It was at this time that control of various functions was vested with the Borough 

Page 118



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

67 

 

Councils including parks and countryside with decisions on control based purely on locality, 

explaining why the Council would have inherited responsibility for the Scrubs.  

8.30 On the basis of analysis set out above, it is reasonable to assume that the inhabitants of the 

metropolis are the inhabitants of “Inner London” at the very least rather than just those in 

the Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham. On this basis, it means that when taking decisions in 

the interests of the beneficiaries, the Council is not restricted to the interests of the residents 

of Hammersmith & Fulham Borough, but of all/any individuals from Inner London who may 

have access to the Scrubs.   

8.31 While we would expect the Trust to first consider the interests of the beneficiaries based in 

the communities adjacent to the Scrubs (as these are the individuals who are more likely to 

use the Scrubs) the remit extends beyond this locale and as such any solution should consider 

the needs of both the immediate surroundings and of the wider catchment.  

8.32 This should also extend to capturing any benefits associated with the development, including 

the potential to realise wider improvements to the leisure and recreation offer. 

8.33 A clear procurement process will require the development of robust evaluation criteria and 

weightings to ensure that the Trust achieves its objectives. These criteria will require further 

development, but we would expect them to align closely with the Trust’s overall objective of 

providing for the physical exercise and recreation of London. 

Social and community benefits 

1. Provision of an athletics track and field, accessible to the public and for the use of 

Thames Valley Harriers 

2. Safeguarding ongoing access to facilities for existing user groups 

3. Respect and preserve the Scrubs and its public users 

4. Provide new changing facilities for teams using the Scrubs sports pitches 

5. Provide additional opportunities for community use and engagement 

6. Not disturb the operation of Hammersmith Hospital and the Pony Club 

Financial/ commercial benefits 

7. Ensure the Trust’s long-term financial sustainability so that it can continue to preserve 

and maintain the Scrubs 

8. Potential to generate income in the long-term, so that any changes are financially 

sustainable 

9. Secure additional contributions to achieve wider benefits beyond the Scrubs and across/ 

beyond the Borough. 

Next steps 

8.34 The analysis that we have completed has illustrated the significant complexity associated with 

the development decision and the likely compromises that the Trust will have to consider in 

seeking to secure a sustainable outcome for LCOSS and the Trust (and by extension the 

Council) that facilitates sporting and recreational use of Wormwood Scrubs. Assuming that 

the OBC is approved, the project will move into Phase 3 – Procurement. 

Page 119



Linford Christie Stadium development Business Case 
Outline Business Case  

 

68 

 

8.35 Given the range of considerations, benefits and compromises available under the alternative 

options, we believe that the Trust should seek to deliver a competitive procurement process 

to secure a partner for the development of the site, rather than specifying a single particular 

outcome. The latter approach would, we anticipate, limit flexibility and creativity and, in all 

likelihood, the quality and competitiveness of the outcomes generated.  

8.36 Within this process, prospective partners would be encouraged to come forward with their 

own proposals (be they in line with the options considered in greatest detail in this report) for 

the site, that deliver on the community, sporting, social and financial requirements of the 

Trust. 

8.37 The OBC process has identified significant demand from venue developers/ operators, sports 

clubs and other current and prospective future users of the site. On this basis, we are 

confident that were a development opportunity to be marketed there would be very strong 

interest from a range of potential partners with the financial wherewithal to bring forward a 

scheme.  

8.38 In order to alleviate the financial burden on the Trust and the Council, and given the likely 

lead-in period associated with developing the ultimate scheme, securing planning consent 

and building the facilities themselves, we recommend moving swiftly to the procurement 

phase. Despite the current economic challenges, strong levels of demand have been 

expressed in the course of this OBC from multiple credible developers/ operators – and a 

clear appetite to move forward swiftly. 

8.39 We anticipate that any procurement competition would follow a PCR (or if applicable the 

Concession Contracts Regulations 2016) competitive procurement process to achieve the 

necessary levels of rigour required by the Trust. In order to deliver this process, we expect 

that the Trust will require external support to manage the competition in line with 

procurement best practice.  

Page 120


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting(s)
	Minutes
	14th July WSCT Minutes
	Minutes


	4 Manager's Report
	5 Linford Christie Outdoor Stadium - Outline Business Case
	Outline Business Case - Executive Summary
	Appendix 1 - Outline Business Case


